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EDITORIAL DESK 

Endeavour is initiative by the 
World Academy of Informatics 
and Management Sciences 
(WAIMS) and it shall be published 
annually. This edition is fully 

dedicated to and in in the golden memory of KOFI 
A. ANNAN of Ghana, the seventh Secretary-
General of the United Nations, served from 1997 to 
2006 and was the first to emerge from the ranks 
of United Nations staff. ENDEAVOR is fully 
dedicated to emerging market and their endeavor 
as contribution in Account & Finance Domain. It 
will record the articles, information, news, 
research report of companies, opportunity for 
Investment in account & finance Product. I 
personally like to thanks to Editorial Team 
Members for their tremendous efforts to make this 
concepts into product. 

WAIMS Fraternity shall be Grateful to all 
concern  

Thanks and regards  

Tripti R 

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF DESK   

"We are not only all 
responsible for each 
other's security", Annan 
said in his speech. "We 
are also, in some 
measure, responsible for 
each other's welfare. 
Global solidarity is both 
necessary and possible. 

It is necessary because without a measure of 
solidarity no society can be truly stable, and no 
one's prosperity truly secure". Annan was also 
known for his opposition to the 2003 invasion of 
Iraq and to Iran's nuclear program. He told the 
BBC in September 2004 that the Iraq war did not 
conform to the U.N. Charter and was illegal. 
Annan retired on December 31, 2006. Several 
months prior, he gave a farewell speech to world 
leaders at U.N. Headquarters in New York, 
outlining major problems with an unjust world 
economy and widespread contempt for human 
rights. In February 2012, Annan was appointed 
as the U.N. Arab League envoy to Syria in an 
attempt to end the civil war taking place there. He 
developed a six-point plan for peace. He resigned 
from the position, citing intransigence of both the 

Syrian government and the rebels, as well as the 
Security Council's failure to create a peaceful 
resolution. 
"As an envoy, I can't want peace more than the 
protagonists, more than the Security Council or the 
international community, for that matter", Annan said 
in a resignation speech on August 2, 2012. 
"I had expected to go into Ghanaian politics", Annan 
once told Saga magazine, "retire to a farm at 60 and 
die in my bed at 80. It did not happen so. It's one of 
the things God does." 

Kofi A. Annan is one of the world's most celebrated 
diplomats and a charismatic symbol of the UN. He 
will be remembered as the man who pushed for 
reform to rebuild the United Nations and make it 
more effective. He brought the United Nations to the 
21st century, leading concerted efforts against 
poverty, diseases, as well as peacekeeping efforts. 
Annan embodied the ideals of global development 
community and was constantly seeking greater 
stability and prosperity for the world and the best of 
humanity. The world has lost a charismatic man, 
dedicated to making the world a better place 
for all! 

Prof. (Dr.) Ripu Ranjan Sinha 
E-Mail: drsinhacs@gmail.com 
Phone:  +919602570498 
 

EDITOR DESK   

Annan's career with the 
United Nations began in 
1962, when he got a job 
working as a budget officer 
for the World Health 
Organization, a U.N. 
agency. Annan has been an 
international civil servant 

ever since, with the exception of a short break from 
1974 to 1976, when he worked as the Director of 
Tourism in Ghana. For a nine-year period from 
1987 to 1996, Annan was appointed to serve as an 
Assistant Secretary-General in three consecutive 
positions: Human Resources, Management and 
Security Coordinator; Program Planning, Budget 
and Finance, and Controller; and Peacekeeping 
Operations. While he served in that last capacity, 
the Rwandan genocide took place. Canadian ex-
General Roméo Dallaire, who has been the force 
commander of the United Nations Assistance 
Mission for Rwanda, accused Annan of being overly 
passive in his responses to the 1994 genocide. Some 
10 years after the genocide, in which more than 
800,000 people were killed, Annan admitted that he 
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"could and should have done more to sound the 
alarm and rally support", according to a March 
2004 BBC article. 

Annan served as Under-Secretary-General from 
March 1994 to October 1995. He resumed the 
position in 1996 after a five-month appointment 
to serve as a Special Representative of the 
Secretary-General to the former Yugoslavia. The 
United Nations Security Council recommended 
Annan to replace the previous Secretary-General, 
Dr. Boutros Boutros-Ghali of Egypt, in later 
1996. The General Assembly voted in his favor, 
and he began his first term as Secretary-General 
on January 1, 1997.Among Annan's most well-
known accomplishments were his issuance of a 
five-point Call to Action in April 2001 to address 
the HIV/AIDS pandemic and his proposal to 
create a Global AIDS and Health Fund. He and 
the United Nations were jointly awarded the 
Nobel Peace Prize in December of 2001 "for their 
work for a better organized and more peaceful 
world". Annan was also known for his opposition 
to the 2003 invasion of Iraq and to Iran's nuclear 
program. He told the BBC in September 2004 
that the Iraq war did not conform to the U.N. 
Charter and was illegal. Annan retired on 
December 31, 2006. Several months prior, he 
gave a farewell speech to world leaders at U.N. 
Headquarters in New York, outlining major 
problems with an unjust world economy and 
widespread contempt for human rights. 

"We are not only all responsible for each other's 
security", Annan said in his speech. "We are also, 
in some measure, responsible for each other's 
welfare. Global solidarity is both necessary and 
possible. It is necessary because without a 
measure of solidarity no society can be truly 
stable, and no one's prosperity truly secure". 

Following his retirement, Annan returned to 
Ghana. He became involved with a number of 
organizations with a global focus. He was chosen 
to lead the formation of the Alliance for a Green 
Revolution in Africa, became a member of the 
Global Elders and was appointed President of the 
Global Humanitarian Forum in Geneva. In 2009, 
Annan joined a Columbia University program at 
the university’s School of International and 
Public Affairs. 

In February 2012, Annan was appointed as the 
U.N. Arab League envoy to Syria in an attempt to 
end the civil war taking place there. He developed 
a six-point plan for peace. He resigned from the 

position, citing intransigence of both the Syrian 
government and the rebels, as well as the Security 
Council's failure to create a peaceful resolution. "As 
an envoy, I can't want peace more than the 
protagonists, more than the Security Council or the 
international community, for that matter", Annan 
said in a resignation speech on August 2, 2012. 

"I had expected to go into Ghanaian politics", Annan 
once told Saga magazine, "retire to a farm at 60 and 
die in my bed at 80. It did not happen so. It's one of 
the things God does." 

Annan passed away after a short illness in a 
hospital in Bern, Switzerland on August 18, 2018. 
His wife Nane and children Ama, Kojo and Nina 
were by his side. "Kofi Annan was a global 
statesman and a deeply committed internationalist 
who fought throughout his life for a fairer and more 
peaceful world. During his distinguished career and 
leadership of the United Nations he was an ardent 
champion of peace, sustainable development, 
human rights and the rule of law", the Kofi Annan 
Foundation and Annan family said in a statement. 

Kofi A. Annan is one of the world's most celebrated 
diplomats and a charismatic symbol of the UN. He 
will be remembered as the man who pushed for 
reform to rebuild the United Nations and make it 
more effective. He brought the United Nations to the 
21st century, leading concerted efforts against 
poverty, diseases, as well as peacekeeping efforts. 
Annan embodied the ideals of global development 
community and was constantly seeking greater 
stability and prosperity for the world and the best of 
humanity. The world has lost a charismatic man, 
dedicated to making the world a better place for all! 

Orshi Terhemba Ephraim AAT, ACILRM, ACA  
E-Mail:  godphraim12@yahoo.com 
Phone:   +2348063569341  

+2348094860494 

MANAGEING DESK   

KOFI A. ANNAN of Ghana, the seventh Secretary-
General of the United Nations, served from 1997 to 
2006 and was the first to emerge from the ranks of 
United Nations staff.  One of Annan’s main priorities 
as Secretary-General was a comprehensive 
programme of reform aimed at revitalizing the 
United Nations and making the international system 
more effective. Annan’s initiative as Secretary-
General of UN strengthened the UN peacekeeping in 
many ways that enabled the United Nations to cope 
with a rapid rise in the number of operations and 
personnel. It is in history that his “Global Compact” 
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Initiative Programme, launched in 1999, has 
become the world’s largest effort to promote 
corporate social responsibility. Annan undertook 
wide-ranging diplomatic initiative. In 1998, he 
helps to ease the transition to civilian rule in 
Nigeria. Also that year, he visited Iraq in an effort 
to resolve an impasse between that country and 
the Security Council over compliance with 
resolutions involving weapons inspections and 
other matters. Also in 2006, he mediated a 
settlement of the dispute between Cameroon and 
Nigeria over the Bakassi Peninsula through 
implementation of the judgment of the 
International Court of Justice.  His efforts to 
strengthen the organization’s management, 
coherence and accountability involved major 
investments in training and technology, the 
introduction of a new whistleblower policy and 
financial disclosure requirements, and steps 
aimed at improving coordination at the country 
level. 

ENDEAVOR 2019, (The First Edition) is a 
multi-color glossy magazine containing 
WAIMS Academic Press Initiated E-Magazine 
in the golden memory of KOFI A. ANNAN of 
Ghana, the seventh Secretary-General of the 
United Nations, served from 1997 to 2006 
and was the first to emerge from the ranks of 
United Nations. ENDEAVOR is fully dedicated to 
emerging market and their endeavor as 
contribution in Account and Finance Domain. 
ENDEAVOR contains record of articles, 
information, news, research report of companies, 
and opportunity for investment in account and 
finance products. It also, contains interviews, 
event profiles, synopsis of all talks, and some 
special articles on relevant topics of interest by 
guest authors.  Your comments on the various 
articles, news, report and other items published in 
this edition are welcome. Please write to:
 editor@waims.co.in         or 
godphraim12@yahoo.com 

I am pleased to announce the first 
edition of Endeavor Magazine that 
marks beginning of our new drive to 
improve the world a better place to 
live through sustainable 

development situation in current scenario. Our first 
edition is dedicated to the legendary international 
leader of the world “Mr. Kofi Annan” (1938 – 
2018), was a Nobel Peace Prize laureate, 
Secretary-General of the United Nations between 
1997 and 2006, and the founding chair of the Kofi 

Annan Foundation, which seeks to mobilize 

political will to overcome threats to peace, 
development and human rights. Foundation 
established by him serves the humanity and 
establish peace across the globe, and to mobilize 
influential leadership of the world for eradication of 
poverty, armed conflicts and poor governance from 
the globe.  It gives us immense joy and satisfaction to 
finally introduce our Endeavor in bringing such a 
wonderful magazine to promote the Human values 
and establish peace across the globe by innovation 
and use of technology. Just like the gods and the 
auras churned the ocean of milk to extract the nectar, 
we have tried to churn out creativity from this mess of 
science. A lot of effort has gone into the making of 
this issue. We hope you enjoy reading the magazine. 
The best thing about this issue is that it represents 
the creative side of WAIMS Editorial board to a fair 
degree-something that we think we all need to 
reconnect with. 

This issue apart from cover story includes articles, 
interviews, reports and news on the financial issues 
including latest trends of accounting systems in 
corporates sectors, Entrepreneurship, Challenges of 
Technology for corporates are the key articles of the 
issue. 

We hope you enjoy reading this issue as much as we 
have enjoyed making it. 

Any suggestions or criticism on the magazine would 
be most welcome. I once again applaud my editorial 
team for the efforts taken to initiate this noble 
magazine and help the humanity for attaining 
sustainable holistic development.  

Ashish Chandra Swami 
Email: ashishchandraswami@gmail.com 
Mobile: +9- 982-925-1110 
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COVER STORY  
TRIBUTE TO WORLD’S GREAT LEADER KOFFI A. ANNAN  
Tripti Ranjan  
WAIMS Academic Press

Kofi Atta Annan (8 April 1938 – 18 August 2018) was a 
Ghanaian diplomat who served as the seventh Secretary-
General of the United Nations, from January 1997 to December 
2006. Annan and the UN were the co-recipients of the 2001 
Nobel Peace Prize. He was the founder and chairman of the 
Kofi Annan Foundation, as well as chairman of The Elders, an 
international organization founded by Nelson Mandela. Annan 
went on to study economics at Macalester College, 
international relations from the Graduate Institute Geneva and 
management at MIT. Annan joined the UN in 1962, working for 
the World Health Organization's Geneva office. He went on to 
work in several capacities at the UN Headquarters including 
serving as the Under-Secretary-General for peacekeeping 
between March 1992 and December 1996.  

He was appointed as the Secretary-General on 13 December 1996 by the Security Council, and later confirmed by the General 
Assembly, making him the first office holder to be elected from the UN staff itself. He was re-elected for a second term in 2001, 
and was succeeded as Secretary-General by Ban Ki-moon on 1 January 2007. As the Secretary-General, Annan reformed the UN 
bureaucracy; worked to combat HIV, especially in Africa; and launched the UN Global Compact. He was criticized for not 
expanding the Security Council and faced calls for resignation after an investigation into the Oil-for-Food Programme, but was 
largely exonerated of personal corruption. After the end of his term as UN Secretary-General, he founded the Kofi Annan 
Foundation in 2007 to work on international development. In 2012, Annan was the UN–Arab League Joint Special Representative 
for Syria, to help find a resolution to the ongoing conflict there. Annan quit after becoming frustrated with the UN's lack of 
progress with regard to conflict resolution. In September 2016, Annan was later appointed to lead a UN commission to 
investigate the Rohingya crisis.  
EARLY YEARS AND EDUCATION 
Kofi Annan was born in the Kofandros section of Kumasi in 
the Gold Coast (now Ghana) on 8 April 1938. His twin 
sister Efua Atta, who died in 1991, shared the middle name 
Atta, which in the Akan language means 'twin'. Annan and 
his sister were born into one of the country's Ashanti and 
Fante aristocratic families; both of their grandfathers and 
their uncle were tribal chiefs. In the Akan names tradition, 
some children are named according to the day of the week 
on which they were born, sometimes in relation to how 
many children precede them. Kofi in Akan is the name that 
corresponds with Friday. Annan said that his surname 
rhymes with "cannon" in English. From 1954 to 1957, 
Annan attended the elite Mfantsipim school, a Methodist 
boarding school in Cape Coast founded in the 1870s. Annan 
said that the school taught him "that suffering anywhere 
concerns people everywhere". In 1957, the year Annan 
graduated from Mfantsipim, the Gold Coast gained 
independence from the UK and began using the name 
"Ghana". In 1958, Annan began studying economics at the 
Kumasi College of Science and Technology, now the 
Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology of 
Ghana.  
He received a Ford Foundation grant, enabling him to 

complete his undergraduate studies in economics at 
Macalester College in St. Paul, Minnesota, United States, in 
1961. Annan then completed a diplôme d'études approfondies 
DEA degree in International Relations at The Graduate 
Institute of International and Development Studies in Geneva, 
Switzerland, from 1961–62. After some years of work 
experience, he studied at the MIT Sloan School of 
Management (1971–72) in the Sloan Fellows program and 
earned a master's degree in management. Annan was fluent in 
English, French, Akan, and some Kru languages as well as 
other African languages.  
CAREER 
In 1962, Kofi A. Annan started working as a budget officer 
for the World Health Organization, an agency of the United 
Nations (UN). From 1974 to 1976, he worked as a manager of 
the state-owned Ghana Tourist Development Company in 
Accra. In 1980 he became the head of personnel for the office 
of the UN High Commission for Refugees (UNHCR) in 
Geneva. In 1983 he became the director of administrative 
management services of the UN Secretariat in New York. In 
1987, Annan was appointed as an Assistant Secretary-General 
for Human Resources Management and Security Coordinator 
for the UN system. In 1990, he became Assistant Secretary-

             www.waims.co.in                                                                                    ENDEAVOR 2019 | WAIMS ACADMIC PRESS                                                                                                                                                                                 
12 | P a g e  

 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Fante_people


WORLD ACADEMY OF INFORMATICS AND MANAGEMENT SCIENCES                                                              ISSN  : 2278-1315 
General for Program Planning, Budget and Finance, and 
Control. When Secretary-General Boutros Boutros-Ghali 
established the Department of Peacekeeping Operations 
(DPKO) in 1992, Annan was appointed to the new 
department as Deputy to then Under-Secretary-General 
Marrack Goulding. Annan was subsequently appointed in 
March 1993 as Under-Secretary-General of that department. 
On 29 August 1995, while Boutros-Ghali was unreachable 
on an airplane, Annan instructed United Nations officials to 
"relinquish for a limited period of time their authority to 
veto air strikes in Bosnia". This move allowed NATO forces 
to conduct Operation Deliberate Force and made him a 
favorite of the United States. According to Richard 
Holbrooke, Annan's "gutsy performance" convinced the 
United States that he would be a good replacement for 
Boutros-Ghali.  He was appointed a Special Representative 
of the Secretary-General to the former Yugoslavia, serving 
from November 1995 to March 1996.  
CRITICISM 
In 2003, retired Canadian General Romeo Dallaire, who was 
Force Commander of the United Nations Assistance Mission 
for Rwanda, claimed that Annan was overly passive in his 
response to the imminent genocide. In his book Shake 
Hands with the Devil: The Failure of Humanity in Rwanda 
(2003), Dallaire asserted that Annan held back UN troops 
from intervening to settle the conflict, and from providing 
more logistical and material support. Dallaire claimed that 
Annan failed to provide responses to his repeated faxes 
asking for access to a weapons depository; such weapons 
could have helped Dallaire defend the endangered Tutsis. In 
2004, ten years after the genocide in which an estimated 
800,000 people were killed, Annan said, "I could and should 
have done more to sound the alarm and rally support". In his 
book Interventions: A Life in War and Peace, Annan again 
argued that the United Nations Department of Peacekeeping 
Operations could have made better use of the media to raise 
awareness of the violence in Rwanda and put pressure on 
governments to provide the troops necessary for an 
intervention. Annan explained that the events in Somalia 
and the collapse of the UNOSOM II mission fostered a 
hesitation amongst UN Member states to approve robust 
peacekeeping operations. As a result, when the UNAMIR 
mission was approved just days after the battle, the resulting 
force lacked the troop levels, resources and mandate to 
operate effectively.  
SECRETARY-GENERAL OF THE UNITED NATIONS 
(1997–2006) APPOINTMENT 
In 1996, Secretary-General Boutros Boutros-Ghali ran 
unopposed for a second term. Although he won 14 of the 15 
votes on the Security Council, he was vetoed by the United 
States. After four deadlocked meetings of the Security 
Council, Boutros-Ghali suspended his candidacy, becoming 
the only Secretary-General ever to be denied a second term. 

Annan was the leading candidate to replace him, 

beating Amara Essy by one vote in the first round. However, 
France vetoed Annan four times before finally abstaining. The 
UN Security Council recommended Annan on 13 December 
1996. Confirmed four days later by the vote of the General 
Assembly, he started his first term as Secretary-General on 1 
January 1997. Due to Boutros-Ghali's overthrow, a second 
Annan term would give Africa the office of Secretary-General 
for three consecutive terms. In 2001, the Asia-Pacific Group 
agreed to support Annan for a second term in return for the 
African Group's support for an Asian Secretary-General in the 
2006 selection. The Security Council recommended Annan 
for a second term on 27 June 2001, and the General Assembly 
approved his reappointment on 29 June 2001. Soon after 
taking office in 1997, Annan released two reports on 
management reform. On 17 March 1997, the report 
Management and Organizational Measures (A/51/829) 
introduced new management mechanisms through the 
establishment of a cabinet-style body to assist him and be 
grouping the UN's activities in accordance with four core 
missions. A comprehensive reform agenda was issued on 14 
July 1997 entitled Renewing the United Nations: A 
Programme for Reform (A/51/950). Key proposals included 
the introduction of strategic management to strengthen unity 
of purpose, the establishment of the position of Deputy 
Secretary-General, a 10-percent reduction in posts, a reduction 
in administrative costs, the consolidation of the UN at the 
country level, and reaching out to civil society and the private 
sector as partners. Annan also proposed to hold a Millennium 
Summit in 2000. After years of research, Annan presented a 
progress report, In Larger Freedom, to the UN General 
Assembly, on 21 March 2005. Annan recommended Security 
Council expansion and a host of other UN reforms.  
On 31 January 2006, Annan outlined his vision for a 
comprehensive and extensive reform of the UN in a policy 
speech to the United Nations Association UK. The speech, 
delivered at Central Hall, Westminster, also marked the 60th 
Anniversary of the first meetings of the General Assembly 
and Security Council.  
On 7 March 2006, he presented to the General Assembly his 
proposals for a fundamental overhaul of the United Nations 
Secretariat. The reform report is entitled Investing in the 
United Nations, For a Stronger Organization Worldwide.  
On 30 March 2006, he presented to the General Assembly his 
analysis and recommendations for updating the entire work 
programme of the United Nations Secretariat. The reform 
report is entitled: Mandating and Delivering: Analysis and 
Recommendations to Facilitate the Review of Mandates.  
Regarding the UN Human Rights Council, Annan said 
"declining credibility" had "cast a shadow on the reputation of 
the United Nations system. Unless we re-make our human 
rights machinery, we may be unable to renew public 
confidence in the United Nations itself." However, he did 
believe that, despite its flaws, the council could do good.  
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In March 2000, Annan appointed the Panel on United 
Nations Peace Operations to assess the shortcomings of 
the then existing system and to make specific and realistic 
recommendations for change. The panel was composed of 
individuals experienced in conflict prevention, peacekeeping 
and peacebuilding. The report it produced, which became 
known as the Brahimi Report, after Chair of the Panel 
Lakhdar Brahimi, called for:  

1. Renewed political commitment on the part of 
Member States; 

2. Significant institutional change; 
3. Increased financial support. 

The Panel further noted that in order to be effective, UN 
peacekeeping operations must be properly resourced and 
equipped, and operate under clear, credible and achievable 
mandates. In a letter transmitting the report to the General 
Assembly and Security Council, Annan stated that the 
Panel's recommendations were "essential to make the United 
Nations truly credible as a force for peace". Later that same 
year, the Security Council adopted several provisions 
relating to peacekeeping following the report, in Resolution 
1327.  
MILLENNIUM DEVELOPMENT GOALS 
In 2000, Annan issued a report entitled "We the peoples: the 
role of the United Nations in the 21st century". The report 
called for member states to "put people at the centre of 
everything we do. No calling is more noble, and no 
responsibility greater, than that of enabling men, women and 
children, in cities and villages around the world, to make 
their lives better".  
In the final chapter of the report, Annan called to "free our 
fellow men and women from the abject and dehumanizing 
poverty in which more than 1 billion of them are currently 
confined". At the Millennium Summit in September 2000, 
national leaders adopted the Millennium Declaration, which 
was subsequently implemented by the United Nations 
Secretariat as the Millennium Development Goals in 2001.  
UNITED NATIONS INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
SERVICE (UNITES) 
Within the "We the Peoples" document, Annan suggested 
the establishment of a United Nations Information 
Technology Service (UNITeS), a consortium of high-tech 
volunteer corps, including NetCorps Canada and Net Corps 
America, which United Nations Volunteers would co-
ordinate. In the Report of the high-level panel of experts on 
information and communication technology (22 May 2000) 
suggesting a UN ICT Task Force, the panel welcomed the 
establishment of UNITeS, and made suggestions on its 
configuration and implementation strategy, including that 
ICT4D volunteering opportunities make mobilizing 
"national human resources" (local ICT experts) within 
developing countries a priority, for both men and women. 
The initiative was launched at the United Nations 

Volunteers and was active from February 2001 to 

February 2005. Initiative staff and volunteers participated in 
the World Summit on the Information Society (WSIS) in 
Geneva in December 2003.  
 
THE UNITED NATIONS GLOBAL COMPACT 
 
In an address to The World Economic Forum on 31 January 
1999, Secretary-General Annan argued that the "goals of the 
United Nations and those of business can, indeed, be mutually 
supportive" and proposed that the private sector and the 
United Nations initiate "a global compact of shared values and 
principles, which will give a human face to the global 
market". On 26 July 2000, the United Nations Global 
Compact was officially launched at UN headquarters in 
New York. It is a principle-based framework for businesses 
which aims to "Catalyse actions in support of broader UN 
goals, such as the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs)". 
The Compact established ten core principles in the areas of 
human rights, labour, the environment and anti-corruption, 
and under the Compact, companies commit to the ten 
principles and are brought together with UN agencies, labour 
groups and civil society to effectively implement them.  
ESTABLISHMENT OF THE GLOBAL FUND 
Towards the end of the 1990s, increased awareness of the 
destructive potential of epidemics such as HIV/AIDS pushed 
public health issues to the top of the global development 
agenda. In April 2001, Annan issued a five-point "Call to 
Action" to address the HIV/AIDS pandemic. Stating it was a 
"personal priority", Annan proposed the establishment of a 
Global AIDS and Health Fund, "dedicated to the battle against 
HIV/AIDS and other infectious diseases" to stimulate the 
increased international spending needed to help developing 
countries confront the HIV/AIDS crisis. In June of that year, 
the General Assembly of the United Nations committed to the 
creation of such a fund during a special session on AIDS, and 
the permanent secretariat of the Global Fund was 
subsequently established in January 2002.  
RESPONSIBILITY TO PROTECT 
Following the failure of Annan and the International 
Community to intervene in the genocide in Rwanda and in 
Srebrenica, Annan asked whether the international community 
had an obligation in such situations to intervene to protect 
civilian populations. In a speech to the General Assembly on 
20 September 1999 "to address the prospects for human 
security and intervention in the next century", Annan argued 
that individual sovereignty - the protections afforded by the 
Declaration of Human Rights and the Charter of the UN - was 
being strengthened, while the notion of state sovereignty was 
being redefined by globalization and international co-
operation. As a result, the UN and its member states had to 
consider a willingness to act to prevent conflict and civilian 
suffering, a dilemma between "two concepts of sovereignty" 
that Annan also presented in a preceding article in The 
Economist, on 16 September 1999.  
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In September 2001 the Canadian government established an 
ad-hoc committee to address this balance between state 
sovereignty and humanitarian intervention. The 
International Commission on Intervention and State 
Sovereignty published its final report in 2001, which 
focused on not on the right of states to intervene but a 
responsibility to protect populations at risk. The report 
moved beyond the question of military intervention, arguing 
that a range of diplomatic and humanitarian actions could 
also be utilized to protect civilian populations.  
In 2005, Annan included the doctrine of "Responsibility to 
Protect" in his report Larger Freedom. When that report was 
endorsed by the UN General Assembly, it amounted to the 
first formal endorsement by UN Member States of the 
doctrine of Responsibility to Protect.  
IRAQ 
In the years after 1998 when UNSCOM was expelled by the 
government of Saddam Hussein and during the Iraq 
disarmament crisis, in which the United States blamed 
UNSCOM and former IAEA Director Hans Blix for failing 
to properly disarm Iraq, former UNSCOM Chief Weapons 
Inspector Scott Ritter blamed Annan for being slow and 
ineffective in enforcing Security Council resolutions on Iraq 
and was overtly submissive to the demands of the Clinton 
administration for regime removal and inspection of sites, 
often Presidential palaces, that were not mandated in any 
resolution and were of questionable intelligence value, 
severely hampering UNSCOM's ability to co-operate with 
the Iraqi government and contributed to their expulsion from 
the country. Ritter also claimed that Annan regularly 
interfered with the work of the inspectors and diluted the 
chain of command by trying to micromanage all of the 
activities of UNSCOM, which caused intelligence 
processing (and the resulting inspections) to be backed up 
and caused confusion with the Iraqis as to who was in 
charge and as a result, they generally refused to take orders 
from Ritter or Rolf Ekéus without explicit approval from 
Annan, which could have taken days, if not weeks. He later 
believed that Annan was oblivious to the fact the Iraqis took 
advantage of this in order to delay inspections. He claimed 
that on one occasion, Annan refused to implement a no-
notice inspection of the SSO headquarters and instead tried 
to negotiate access, but the negotiation ended up taking 
nearly six weeks, giving the Iraqis more than enough time to 
clean out the site.  
During the build-up to the 2003 invasion of Iraq, Annan 
called on the United States and the United Kingdom not to 
invade without the support of the United Nations. In a 
September 2004 interview on the BBC, when questioned 
about the legal authority for the invasion, Annan said he 
believed it was not in conformity with the UN charter and 
was illegal.  
OTHER DIPLOMATIC ACTIVITIES 

In 1998, Annan was deeply involved in supporting the 
transition from military to civilian rule in Nigeria. The 
following year, he supported the efforts of East Timor to 
secure independence from Indonesia. In 2000, he was 
responsible for certifying Israel 's withdrawal from Lebanon, 
and in 2006, he led talks in New York between the presidents 
of Cameroon and Nigeria which led to a settlement of the 
dispute between the two countries over the Bakassi peninsula.  
Annan and Iranian President Mahmoud Ahmadinejad 
disagreed sharply on Iran's nuclear program, on an Iranian 
exhibition of cartoons mocking the Holocaust, and on the then 
upcoming International Conference to Review the Global 
Vision of the Holocaust, an Iranian Holocaust denial 
conference in 2006. During a visit to Iran instigated by 
continued Iranian uranium enrichment, Annan said "I think 
the tragedy of the Holocaust is an undeniable historical fact 
and we should really accept that fact and teach people what 
happened in World War II and ensure it is never repeated".  
Annan supported sending a UN peacekeeping mission to 
Darfur, Sudan. He worked with the government of Sudan to 
accept a transfer of power from the African Union 
peacekeeping mission to a UN one. Annan also worked with 
several Arab and Muslim countries on women's rights and 
other topics.  
Beginning in 1998, Annan convened an annual UN "Security 
Council Retreat" with the 15 States' representatives of the 
Council. It was held at the Rockefeller Brothers Fund (RBF) 
Conference Center at the Rockefeller family estate in 
Pocantico Hills, New York, and was sponsored by both the 
RBF and the UN. 
LUBBERS SEXUAL-HARASSMENT INVESTIGATION 
In June 2004, Annan was given a copy of the Office of 
Internal Oversight Services (OIOS) report on the complaint 
brought by four female workers against Ruud Lubbers, UN 
High Commissioner for Refugees, for sexual harassment, 
abuse of authority, and retaliation. The report also reviewed a 
long-serving staff member's allegations of sexual harassment 
and misconduct against Werner Blatter, Director of UNHCR 
Personnel. The investigation found Lubbers guilty of sexual 
harassment; no mention was made publicly of the other charge 
against a senior official, or two subsequent complaints filed 
later that year. In the course of the official investigation, 
Lubbers wrote a letter which some considered was a threat to 
the female worker who had brought the charges. On 15 July 
2004, Annan cleared Lubbers of the accusations, saying they 
were not substantial enough legally. The internal UN-OIOS 
report on Lubbers was leaked, and sections accompanied by 
an article by Kate Holt were published in a British newspaper. 
In February 2005, Lubbers resigned as head of the UN refugee 
agency, saying that he wanted to relieve political pressure on 
Annan.  
OIL-FOR-FOOD SCANDAL 
In December 2004, reports surfaced that the Secretary-
General's son Kojo Annan received payments from the Swiss 
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company Cotecna Inspection SA, which had won a lucrative 
contract under the UN Oil-for-Food Programme. Kofi 
Annan called for an investigation to look into the 
allegations. On 11 November 2005, The Sunday Times 
agreed to apologise and pay a substantial sum in damages to 
Kojo Annan, accepting that the allegations were untrue.  
Annan appointed the Independent Inquiry Committee, which 
was led by former US Federal Reserve Chairman Paul 
Volcker, then the Director of the United Nations Association 
of the US. In his first interview with the Inquiry Committee, 
Annan denied having had a meeting with Cotecna. Later in 
the inquiry, he recalled that he had met with Cotecna's Chief 
Executive Elie-Georges Massey twice. In a final report 
issued on 27 October, the committee found insufficient 
evidence to indict Kofi Annan on any illegal actions, but did 
find fault with Benon Seven, an Armenian-Cypriot national 
who had worked for the UN for about 40 years. Appointed 
by Annan to the Oil-For-Food role, Sevan repeatedly asked 
Iraqis for allocations of oil to the African Middle East 
Petroleum Company. Sevan's behavior was "ethically 
improper", Volcker said to reporters. Sevan repeatedly 
denied the charges and argued that he was being made a 
"scapegoat". The Volcker report was highly critical of the 
UN management structure and the Security Council 
oversight. It strongly recommended a new position be 
established of Chief Operating Officer (COO), to handle the 
fiscal and administrative responsibilities then under the 
Secretary-General's office. The report listed the companies, 
both Western and Middle Eastern, which had benefited 
illegally from the program. 
  
NOBEL PEACE PRIZE 
In 2001, its centennial year, the Nobel Committee decided 
that the Peace Prize was to be divided between the UN and 
Annan. They were awarded the Peace Prize "for their work 
for a better organized and more peaceful world", having 
revitalized the UN and for having given priority to human 
rights. The Nobel Committee also recognized his 
commitment to the struggle to containing the spread of HIV 
in Africa and his declared opposition to international 
terrorism. 
RELATIONS BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES AND 
THE UNITED NATIONS 
Annan defended his deputy Secretary-General Mark 
Malloch Brown, who openly criticized the United States in a 
speech on 6 June 2006: "[T]he prevailing practice of seeking 
to use the UN almost by stealth as a diplomatic tool while 
failing to stand up for it against its domestic critics is simply 
not sustainable. You will lose the UN one way or another. 
[That] the US is constructively engaged with the UN... is not 
well known or understood, in part because much of the 
public discourse that reaches the US heartland has been 
largely abandoned to its loudest detractors such as Rush 

Limbaugh and Fox News". Malloch later said his 

talk was a "sincere and constructive critique of U.S. policy 
toward the U.N. by a friend and admirer".  
The talk was unusual because it violated unofficial policy of 
not having top officials publicly criticize member nations. The 
interim U.S. ambassador John R. Bolton, appointed by 
President George W. Bush, was reported to have told Annan 
on the phone: "I've known you since 1989 and I'm telling you 
this is the worst mistake by a senior UN official that I have 
seen in that entire time". Observers from other nations 
supported Malloch's view that conservative politicians in the 
U.S. prevented many citizens from understanding the benefits 
of U.S. involvement in the UN.  
INSPIRING QUOTES OF KOFI ANNAN  
Here we look at what Kofi A. Annan had to say about the 
importance of education and youth leadership throughout his 
long career as a statesman.  
“Knowledge is power. Information is liberating. Education is 
the premise of progress, in every society, in every family“  
    WORLD BANK CONFERENCE IN 1997  
Literacy is a bridge from misery to hope. It is a tool for daily 
life in modern society. It is a bulwark against poverty, and a 
building block of development, an essential complement to 
investments in roads, dams, clinics and factories. Literacy is a 
platform for democratization, and a vehicle for the promotion 
of cultural and national identity. Especially for girls and 
women, it is an agent of family health and nutrition. For 
everyone, everywhere, literacy is, along with education in 
general, a basic human right.... Literacy is, finally, the road to 
human progress and the means through which every man, 
woman and child can realize his or her full potential. 

INTERNATIONAL LITERACY DAY 1997 
Education is a human right with immense power to transform. 
On its foundation rest the cornerstones of freedom, democracy 
and sustainable human development. 

WORLD’S CHILDREN, UNICEF REPORT IN 1999  
Education is, quite simply, peace-building by another name. It 
is the most effective form of defense spending there is. 

 LEARNING NEVER ENDS CONFERENCE IN 1999  
Once girls are in school, we must work to ensure that school 
prepares them for life, by developing curricula and materials, 
and by encouraging attitudes among teachers that emphasise 
the life skills these girls will need. And we must give them 
access to another skill they will need for life in the twenty-first 
century: the use of information technology, which has become 
an indispensable tool for learning, communicating and 
development. 
     WORLD EDUCATION FORUM IN 2000  
There is no trust more sacred than the one the world holds 
with children. 

 WORLD’S CHILDREN, UNICEF REPORT IN 2000  
Study after study has taught us that there is no tool for 
development more effective than the education of girls... If we 
are to succeed in our efforts to build a more healthy, peaceful 
and equitable world, the classrooms of the world have to be 
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full of girls as well as boys. Every year of schooling 
completed by them will be a step towards eradicating 
poverty and disease. 

GLOBAL EDUCATION CAMPAIGN EVENT IN 2003 
It is often said that education empowers girls by building up 
their confidence and enabling them to make informed 
decisions about their lives. For those of us who attend 
benefits such as these, that statement may seem to be about 
university degrees, income, or career fulfillment. But for 
most of the world's girls, it is about something much more 
fundamental. It is about escaping the trap of child labour, or 
the perils of going into the labour of childbirth while still a 
child yourself; about managing pregnancies so that they do 
not threaten your health, your livelihood or even your life; 
about ensuring that your children, in their turn, are 
guaranteed their right to education. 

WOMEN’S HEALTH COALITION IN 2004 
Young people – with their dynamism, their energy and their 
inherent understanding of our interconnected world – have 
much to teach us. Increased educational attainment, 
advances in technology and the spread of information have 
made this generation the best educated, most connected and 
most informed in history. 

ON INTERNATIONAL YOUTH DAY IN 2013  
I talk to a lot of young people - their attitude, determination 
to make a difference, innovative spirit and desire to change 
things give me hope. 
               WE DAY VANCOUVER IN 2014 
 Despite significant progress in recent years millions of 
African children have never set foot in a classroom or 
owned a book of their own in their lives. When people are 
able to access education, they can break free of the cycle of 
poverty and contribute to building a fairer and more 
peaceful society. 

 30th ANNIVERSARY OF BOOKS FOR AFRICA IN 
2018 

YOUTH CHAMPIONS AND KOFI ANNAN 
SUPPORTIVE ROLE 
“The desire to participate is a defining characteristic of the 
young people I encounter”. Kofi Annan, 2013. Here we will 
look at five ways Annan’s words inspired young champions 
to take on the biggest challenges that we all face today. 
HE REMINDED THE YOUTH THAT CLIMATE 
CHANGE WILL BE THE DEFINING CHALLENGE 
FACED BY THE NEW GENERATION. 
Kofi Annan was strongly committed to the fight against 
climate change. He highlighted the importance of disputing 
those "climate-change sceptics who deny the facts". In 2015, 
when asked about his belief in the power and action of 
young people, he invited them to "make climate change their 
issue", for they can ultimately put pressure on governments 
and companies to adopt more environmentally-friendly 
policies and strategies. 

HE TAUGHT THE YOUNG PEOPLE THAT FEMINISM 
DOES NOT UNDERSTAND GENDER, AGE OR RACE. 
Annan was also one of the first voices to support the call for 
gender equality, which he understood as "more than a goal in 
itself". When giving a speech at the Beijing International 
Conference on Women and Desertification in 2006, he 
indicated that gender equality was a "precondition for meeting 
the challenge of reducing poverty, promoting sustainable 
development and building good governance". A year earlier, 
at the opening of the UN Commission on the Status of 
Women, he said he could not think of a more efficient way to 
bring development than by empowering women. 
HE ASKED YOUTH TO RESPECT ALL FAITHS. 
In 2010, the British Museum in London hosted Annan’s 
lecture: "World Civilizations: Bridging the World’s Divides". 
There, he defended values such as compassion, solidarity and 
respect for each other as common among all our great 
religions, and reminded us that problems that derive from 
religious extremism are never due to faith alone. He indicated 
that these great, enduring and universal principles are also 
enshrined in the Charter of the United Nations and the 
Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and asked for 
incorporating them into our daily lives to "bridge divides and 
make people feel more secure and confident of the future". 
HE FOUGHT FOR THE EMPOWERMENT OF YOUTH. 
Paradoxically, much of Annan’s work with The Elders – an 
independent group of global leaders working together for 
peace and human rights – focused on listening to and speaking 
with young people. He believed that youth are the best 
educated, most connected and most informed generation, and 
that they should be given a platform to express their ideas and 
propose solutions to major public issues. His commitment to 
the empowerment of youth was also reflected in his role as a 
counsellor at six different One Young World Summits. In the 
2014 Summit in Dublin, themed peace and reconciliation, 
Annan stated that sharing ideas with young people was always 
a rewarding experience for him. He firmly believed that 
young people must be empowered as agents and not simply as 
targets for peace and reconciliation efforts. 
HE SHOWED YOUNG PEOPLE THE IMPORTANCE OF 
THE UNITED NATIONS. 
Throughout his life, Kofi Annan was committed to the idea of 
global governance. He believed we share the same difficulties 
and challenges, and that cooperation and collaboration 
between nations is key for the ultimate success of humanity. 
This was best reflected in his message for the New 
Millennium on 31 December 1999: 
"More than ever before in human history, we share a common 
destiny. We can master it only if we face it together. And that, 
my friends, is why we have the United Nations". These words 
are as true today as they were at the end of the twentieth 
century, and so are all of Annan’s teachings. Let us never 
forget them. 
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KOFI ANNAN'S CONTRIBUTION TO THE BUSINESS 
& HUMAN RIGHTS MOVEMENT 
Author: Georg Kell, (Founding Director of UN Global 
Compact) Forbes, Published on: 23 August 2018 "In 
Memory Of Kofi Annan: Father of the Modern Corporate 
Sustainability Movement", A great son of Africa and a true 
global leader has passed away. Kofi Annan, United Nations 
Secretary General from 1997 to 2006 and co-recipient, with 
the UN, of the Nobel Peace Prize in 2001, is being mourned 
and remembered with great affection all over the world... 
In the sunny afternoon of January 29, 1999, at the World 
Economic Forum in Davos, Switzerland, Kofi Annan spoke 
to hundreds of business executives: “I propose that you, the 
business leaders…and we the United Nations initiate a 
Global Compact of shared values and principles, which will 
give a human face to the global market”. Every word of this 
speech sank into the minds of those present. And with this 
“speech act”, Kofi Annan planted the seeds for the modern 
corporate sustainability movement. The call was heard all 
over the world...Numerous business leaders, such as Sir 
Mark Moody Stuart, stepped forward and dedicated years to 
translate Kofi Annan’s call into the world’s largest corporate 
sustainability initiative, the United Nations Global Compact. 
Kofi Annan’s call to action is as relevant today as it was two 
decades ago: “The spread of markets outpaces the ability of 
societies and their political systems to adjust to them, let 
alone to guide the course they take. History teaches us that 
such an imbalance between the economic, social and 
political realm can never be sustained for very long. The 
global economy will be fragile and vulnerable to the 
backlash from all the “isms” of our time: protectionism, 
populism, nationalism, ethnic chauvinism, fanaticism and 
terrorism”. Thousands of companies around the world who 
have embraced the ten universal principles of the UN Global 
Compact in the areas of human rights, labor, the 
environment and anti-corruption have the opportunity to 
carry Kofi Annan’s legacy forward now.... 
He then joined them; against the advice of some of his aides, 
to launch the UN-backed Principles for Responsible 
Investing (PRI) at the New York Stock Exchange in April 
2006. And with the appointment of John Ruggie, Kofi 
Annan paved the way for the UN Guiding Principles on 
Human Rights, now the gold standard in this critical area. 
“GLOBAL SOLUTIONS WILL BE DEFINED BY 
YOUTH”. KOFI ANNAN 
Is it just us, or does the world feel a bit scarier lately? 
Eastern Europe rumbles like a warming volcano as the 
Ukraine and Russia trade gunfire and western nations rattle 
sabres. Israel and Palestinian militants are once again 
clashing in Gaza. In Syria, three-million people have fled to 
escape civil war; the largest migration since World War II. 
In Africa, terrorist, bandits and herdsmen are unseating 
many to flee their communities, given key example of 

Nigeria. And climate change increasingly threatens everyone, 
everywhere.  
The world needs experienced leaders; grizzled global 
firefighters with the wisdom to staunch the flames and guide 
us through turbulent times. One is Kofi A. Annan, former 
Secretary-General of the United Nations. Backstage at We 
Day Vancouver, we had a chance to sit down with Annan, and 
heard his thoughts on how these global issues might be 
addressed. But while we are looking to Annan for wisdom, 
Annan is banking on the world's youth.  
"I talk to a lot of young people; their attitude, determination to 
make a difference, innovative spirit and desire to change 
things give me hope", he told 18,000 youth at We Day to wild 
applause.  
In his four decades with the United Nations, including ten 
years as Secretary-General from 1997 to 2006, Annan saw it 
all; an unparalleled perspective on global events and 
challenges. He persuaded world leaders to seek peace over 
national self-interest and initiated the Millennium 
Development Goals, the Global AIDS Fund and International 
Criminal Court. 
Now Annan is looking to young people as another source of 
guidance, connecting with them via Twitter and Google 
Hangouts to seek their ideas about social change; an area in 
which, he says, his generation fell short.  
"You are inheriting the world from a generation of political 
leaders; my generation, who have actually failed to address 
the global imbalances that are the cause of so many of our 
failures today", he told youth participants in one online 
dialogue.  
Historically, young people are not always happy with the 
world they inherit. Social change has always been led by 
youth: protesting the Vietnam War, standing up to the tanks in 
Tiananmen Square, rallying during the Arab Spring and 
Occupying Wall Street. It will undoubtedly be young people 
who will push issues like climate change, which Annan 
considers "the biggest challenge facing us and the future 
generation," to the forefront of the political agenda.  
Annan was taking steps to get youth involved in climate 
change and other world issues, and giving them a forum to 
voice their opinions.  
Last year (2017), he hosted the Kofi Annan Dialogues: Live! 
and spoke with youth online from around the world on topics 
like youth unemployment rates, democratic responsibility and 
technology's role in education. His faith in these youth is 
matched by their faith in themselves. An online poll surveyed 
youth and 93 per cent said they believe they have more power 
and potential to create change than previous generations 
(Annan understands first-hand this youthful idealism. At 16, 
he organized a hunger strike at his Methodist boarding school, 
leading the entire student body to demand better cafeteria 
food).  
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But since Annan's first brush with activism, the tools and 
methods of the trade have evolved; social values now seep 
into seemingly separate life goals for youth.  
Annan adds that social change isn't just about signing 
petitions or volunteering free time, but can now be 
integrated into work and home life. Youth can also influence 
change in the corporate world. By making conscious daily 
decisions about how they consume, young people can 
inspire a shift in lifestyle and spending habits that supports 
socially conscious companies. Recognizing the need for 
businesses to create positive social impact from within, 
Annan says youth also have a role here; as employees and 
budding entrepreneurs. 
Studies show Millennials (born between 1980 and 2000) are 
primed to do good and do it well, even at work. A 
Millennial Branding study found that 72 per cent want to 
have a job that makes an impact. In her 2010 study, Meet the 
Millennials, author Leigh Buchanon found almost 70 per 
cent of youth cite giving back and being civically engaged 
as high priorities for their personal achievement. 
Annan feels confident leaving the world's problems with the 
next cohort, who will organize as a collective force, engage 
as global citizens and make conscious choices as consumers. 
"It's your world now," Annan advised, coming to the close 
of his We Day speech. "Conversations I've had with you 
make me trust and believe that you can make this world a 
better place. So go out and do it". 
Brothers Craig and Marc Kielburger founded a platform for 
social change that includes the international charity, Free 
The Children, the social enterprise, Me to We, and the youth 
empowerment movement, We Day. 
FAREWELL ADDRESSES 
On 19 September 2006, Annan gave a farewell address to 
world leaders gathered at the UN headquarters in New York, 
in anticipation of his retirement on 31 December. In the 
speech he outlined three major problems of "an unjust world 
economy, world disorder, and widespread contempt for 
human rights and the rule of law", which he believed "have 
not resolved, but sharpened" during his time as Secretary-
General. He also pointed to violence in Africa which is 
clearly the new dawn in today’s Africa and the Arab–Israeli 
conflict as two major issues warranting attention.  
On 11 December 2006, in his final speech as Secretary-
General, delivered at the Harry S. Truman Presidential 
Library in Independence, Missouri, Annan recalled 
Truman's leadership in the founding of the United Nations. 
He called for the United States to return to President 
Truman's multilateralist foreign policies, and to follow 
Truman's credo that "the responsibility of the great states is 
to serve and not dominate the peoples of the world". He also 
said that the United States must maintain its commitment to 
human rights, "including in the struggle against terrorism". 
POST-UN CAREER 

After his service as UN Secretary-General, Annan took up 
residence in Geneva and worked in a leading capacity on 
various international humanitarian endeavors.  
KOFI ANNAN FOUNDATION 
In 2007, Annan established the Kofi Annan Foundation, an 
independent, not-for-profit organization that works to promote 
better global governance and strengthen the capacities of 
people and countries to achieve a fairer, more peaceful world. 
The organisation was founded on the principles that fair and 
peaceful societies rest on three pillars: Peace and Security, 
Sustainable Development, and Human Rights and the Rule of 
Law, and they have made it their mission to mobilise the 
leadership and the political resolve needed to tackle threats to 
these three pillars ranging from violent conflict to flawed 
elections and climate change, with the aim of achieving a 
fairer, more peaceful world. The Foundation provides the 
analytical, communication and co-ordination capacities 
needed to ensure that these objectives are achieved. Annan's 
contribution to peace worldwide is delivered through 
mediation, political mentoring, advocacy and advice. Through 
his engagement, Annan aimed to strengthen local and 
international conflict resolution capabilities. The Foundation 
provides the analytical and logistical support to facilitate this 
in co-operation with relevant local, regional and international 
actors. The Foundation works mainly through private 
diplomacy, where Annan provided informal counsel and 
participated in discreet diplomatic initiatives to avert or 
resolve crises by applying his experience and inspirational 
leadership. He was often asked to intercede in crises, 
sometimes as an impartial independent mediator, sometimes 
as a special envoy of the international community. In recent 
years he had provided such counsel to Burkina Faso, Kenya, 
Myanmar, Senegal, Iraq and Colombia.  
 
KENYA NATIONAL DIALOGUE AND 
RECONCILIATION PROCESS (KNDR) 
Following the outbreak of violence during the 2007 
Presidential elections in Kenya, the African Union established 
a Panel of Eminent African Personalities to assist in finding a 
peaceful solution to the crisis.  
The panel, headed by Annan, managed to convince the two 
principal parties to the conflict, President Mwai Kibaki's Party 
of National Unity (PNU) and Raila Odinga’s Orange 
Democratic Movement (ODM), to participate in the Kenya 
National Dialogue and Reconciliation Process (KNDR). Over 
the course of 41 days of negotiations, several agreements 
regarding taking actions to stop the violence and remedying 
its consequences were signed. On 28 February, President 
Mwai Kibaki and Raila Odinga signed a coalition government 
agreement.  
JOINT SPECIAL ENVOY FOR SYRIA 
On 23 February 2012, Annan was appointed as the UN-Arab 
League envoy to Syria, in an attempt to end the civil war 
taking place. He developed a six-point plan for peace:  
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Commit to work with the Envoy in an inclusive Syrian-led 
political process to address the legitimate aspirations and 
concerns of the Syrian people, and, to this end, commit to 
appoint an empowered interlocutor when invited to do so by 
the Envoy; 
Commit to stop the fighting and achieve urgently an 
effective United Nations supervised cessation of armed 
violence in all its forms by all parties to protect civilians and 
stabilise the country.  
To this end, the Syrian government should immediately 
cease troop movements towards, and end the use of heavy 
weapons in, population centres, and begin pullback of 
military concentrations in and around population centres. 
As these actions are being taken on the ground, the Syrian 
government should work with the Envoy to bring about a 
sustained cessation of armed violence in all its forms by all 
parties with an effective United Nations supervision 
mechanism. 
Similar commitments would be sought by the Envoy from 
the opposition and all relevant elements to stop the fighting 
and work with him to bring about a sustained cessation of 
armed violence in all its forms by all parties with an 
effective United Nations supervision mechanism; 
Ensure timely provision of humanitarian assistance to all 
areas affected by the fighting, and to this end, as immediate 
steps, to accept and implement a daily two-hour 
humanitarian pause and to co-ordinate exact time and 
modalities of the daily pause through an efficient 
mechanism, including at local level; 
Intensify the pace and scale of release of arbitrarily detained 
persons, including especially vulnerable categories of 
persons, and persons involved in peaceful political activities, 
provide without delay through appropriate channels a list of 
all places in which such persons are being detained, 
immediately begin organizing access to such locations and 
through appropriate channels respond promptly to all written 
requests for information, access or release regarding such 
persons; 
Ensure freedom of movement throughout the country for 
journalists and a non-discriminatory visa policy for them; 
Respect freedom of association and the right to demonstrate 
peacefully as legally guaranteed. 
On 2 August, he resigned as UN and Arab League joint 
special envoy to Syria, citing the intransigence of both the 
Assad government and the rebels, as well as the stalemate 
on the Security Council as preventing any peaceful 
resolution of the situation. Annan also stated that the lack of 
international unity and ineffective diplomacy among the 
world leaders had made the peaceful resolution in Syria an 
impossible task.  
GLOBAL COMMISSION ON ELECTIONS, 
DEMOCRACY AND SECURITY 
Annan served as the Chair of the Global Commission on 

Elections, Democracy and Security. The 

Commission was launched in May 2011 as a joint initiative of 
the Kofi Annan Foundation and the International Institute for 
Democracy and Electoral Assistance. It comprised 12 eminent 
individuals from around the world, including Ernesto Zedillo, 
Martti Ahtisaari, Madeleine Albright and Amartya Sen, and 
aimed to highlight the importance of the integrity of elections 
to achieving a more secure, prosperous and stable world. The 
Commission released its final report: Democracy, a Strategy 
to Improve the Integrity of Elections Worldwide, in 
September 2012.  
RAKHINE COMMISSION (MYANMAR) 
In September 2016, Annan was asked to lead the Advisory 
Commission on Rakhine State (in Myanmar) - an 
impoverished region beset by ethnic conflict and extreme 
sectarian violence, particularly by Myanmar's Buddhist 
majority against the Rohingya Muslim minority, further 
targeted by government forces. The commission, widely 
known simply as the "Annan Commission", was opposed by 
many Myanmar Buddhists as unwelcome interference in their 
relations with the Rohingya. When the Annan commission 
released its final report, the week of 24 August 2017, with 
recommendations unpopular with all sides, violence exploded 
in the Rohingya Conflict – the largest and bloodiest 
humanitarian disaster in the region in decades – driving most 
of the Rohingya from Myanmar. Annan attempted to engage 
the United Nations to resolve the matter, but failed. Annan 
died a week before the first anniversary of the report, shortly 
after an announcement by a replacement commission that it 
would not "point fingers" at the guilty parties – leading to 
widespread concern that the new commission was just a sham 
to protect culpable Myanmar government officials and 
citizens from accountability.  
In 2018, before Annan's death, Myanmar's civilian 
government, under the direction of State Councilor Aung San 
Suu Kyi, made a gesture of acceptance of the Annan 
commission's recommendations by convening another board - 
the Advisory Board for the Committee for Implementation of 
the Recommendations on Rakhine State - ostensibly to 
implement the Annan commission's proposed reforms, but 
never actually implemented them. Some of the international 
representatives resigned - notably the panel's Secretary, 
Thailand's former foreign minister Surakiart Sathirathai, and 
former U.S. ambassador to the U.N. Bill Richardson - 
decrying the "implementation" committee as ineffective, or a 
"whitewash".  
HIS OTHER ACTIVITIES ARE:CORPORATE BOARDS  
In March 2011, Annan became a member of the Advisory 
Board for Investcorp Bank B. S. C. Europe, an international 
private equity firm and sovereign wealth fund owned by the 
United Arab Emirates. He held the position until 2018. Annan 
became member of the Global Advisory Board of Macro 
Advisory Partners LLP, Risk and strategic consulting firm 
based in London and New York, for business, finance and 
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government decision-makers, with some operations related 
to Investcorp.  
NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS  
In addition to the above, Annan also became involved with 
several organizations with both global and African focuses, 
including the following:  

• United Nations Foundation, member of the board 
of directors (2008–2018)  

• University of Ghana, chancellor (2008–2018)  
• School of International and Public Affairs of 

Columbia University, global fellow (2009–2018)  
• The Committee on Global Thought at Columbia 

University, fellow 
• Lee Kuan Yew School of Public Policy at the 

National University of Singapore (NUS), Li Ka 
Shing Professor (2009–2018)  

• Global Centre for Pluralism, member of the board 
of directors (2010–2018)  

• Mo Ibrahim Prize for Achievement in African 
Leadership, chairman of the prize committee 
(2007–2018)  

• Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa (AGRA), 
chairman (2007–2018)  

• Global Humanitarian Forum, founder and president 
(2007–2018)  

• Global Commission on Drug Policy, founding 
commissioner. The commission had declared in a 
2011 report that the war on drugs was a failure. 
Annan believed that, since drug use represents a 
health risk, it should be regulated, comparing it to 
the regulation of tobacco which reduced smoking 
in many countries.  

Annan served as Chair of The Elders, a group of 
independent global leaders who work together on peace and 
human rights issues. In November 2008, Annan and fellow 
Elders Jimmy Carter and Graca Machel attempted to travel 
to Zimbabwe to make a first-hand assessment of the 
humanitarian situation in the country. Refused entry, the 
Elders instead carried out their assessment from 
Johannesburg, where they met Zimbabwe- and South 
Africa-based leaders from politics, business, international 
organisations, and civil society. In May 2011, following 
months of political violence in Côte d'Ivoire, Annan 
travelled to the country with Elders Desmond Tutu and 
Mary Robinson to encourage national reconciliation. On 16 
October 2014, Annan attended the One Young World 
Summit in Dublin. During a session with fellow Elder Mary 
Robinson, Annan encouraged 1,300 young leaders from 191 
countries to lead on intergenerational issues such as climate 
change and the need for action to take place now, not 
tomorrow.  
"We don't have to wait to act. The action must be now. You 
will come across people who think we should start 

tomorrow. Even for those who believe action should begin 
tomorrow, remind them tomorrow begins now, tomorrow 
begins today, so let's all move forward".  
Annan chaired the Africa Progress Panel (APP), a group of 
ten distinguished individuals who advocate at the highest 
levels for equitable and sustainable development in Africa. As 
Chair, he facilitates coalition building to leverage and broker 
knowledge, in addition to convening decision-makers to 
influence policy and create lasting change in Africa. Every 
year, the Panel releases a report, the Africa Progress Report, 
which outlines an issue of immediate importance to the 
continent and suggests a set of associated policies. In 2014, 
the Africa Progress Report highlighted the potential of 
African fisheries, agriculture, and forests to drive economic 
development. The 2015 report explores the role of climate 
change and the potential of renewable energy investments in 
determining Africa's economic future.  
MEMOIR 
On 4 September 2012, Annan with Nader Mousavizadeh 
wrote a memoir, Interventions: A Life in War and Peace. 
Published by Penguin Press, the book has been described as a 
"personal biography of global statecraft".  
Personal Life 
In 1965, Kofi Annan married Titi Alakija, a Nigerian woman 
from an aristocratic family. Several years later they had a 
daughter, Ama, and later a son, Kojo. The couple separated in 
the late 1970s, and divorced in 1983. In 1984, Annan married 
Nane Annan , a Swedish lawyer at the UN and a maternal 
half-niece of diplomat Raoul Wallenberg. She has a daughter, 
Nina, from a previous marriage.  
DEATH AND STATE FUNERAL 
Annan died on the morning of 18 August 2018 in Bern, 
Switzerland, at the age of 80 after a short illness. António 
Guterres, the current UN Secretary-General, said that "Kofi 
Annan was a champion for peace and a guiding force for 
good". The body of Kofi Annan was returned to his native 
Ghana from Geneva in a brief and solemn ceremony at the 
Kotoka International Airport in Accra, on 10 September 2018. 
His coffin, draped in the blue UN flag, was accompanied by 
his widow Nane Annan, his children and senior diplomats 
from the international organisation.  
On 13 September 2018, a state funeral was held for Annan in 
Ghana at the Accra International Conference Centre. The 
ceremony was attended by several political leaders from 
across Africa as well as Ghanaian traditional rulers, European 
royalty and dignitaries from the international community, 
including the U.N. Secretary-General Antonio Guterres. Prior 
to the funeral service, his body was laid in state in the foyer of 
the same venue, from 11-12 September, 2018. A private burial 
followed the funeral service at the new Military Cemetery at 
Burma Camp, with full military honours - the sounding of the 
Last Post by army buglers and a 17-gun salute 
 
WAIMS TRIBUTE TO KOFI A. ANNAN 
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EMERGING TECHNOLOGIES  
AN OVERSIGHT TOOL FOR AUDIT COMMITTEE 
Center for Audit Quality (CAQ) 

Abstract 
Emerging technologies, such as artificial intelligence (AI), 
robotic process automation (RPA), drones, and blockchain, 
are changing how business gets done. Although emerging 
technologies present opportunities to increase efficiency and 
the quality of financial reporting, these opportunities are not 
risk-free. In response to the changing business ecosystem, 
the Center for Audit Quality (CAQ) has developed tools to 
help audit committees execute their oversight 
responsibilities for financial reporting impacted by 
emerging technologies. As explored in greater detail in the 
paper, the framework has five key components; Control 
Environment, Risk Assessment, Control Activities, 
Information and Communication and Monitoring. In 
addition to this five-part framework, the tool highlights two 
technologies; artificial intelligence and robotic process 
automation which, unlike the current state of blockchain 
technology, are more widely used in the marketplace. The 
tool includes questions within each of the five components 
that audit committees may ask management and auditors to 
help inform their oversight of financial reporting. Hence, an 
understanding of these emerging technologies and 
awareness of the opportunities and risks they present is 
essential for audit committees to discharge their oversight 
responsibilities. 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
Emerging technologies, such as artificial intelligence (AI), 
robotic process automation (RPA), drones, and blockchain, 
are changing how business gets done. One study estimates 
that almost half of all finance tasks in corporate finance 
departments will be automated by 2021, up from 34 percent 
today. Although emerging technologies present 
opportunities to increase efficiency and the quality of 
financial reporting, these opportunities are not risk-free. To 

the extent these technologies impact financial reporting, audit 
committees play an important oversight role in how 
companies manage the related financial reporting risk. Audit 
committees should engage with management to determine 
whether endeavors in emerging technologies are aligned with 
the company’s emerging technology strategy regarding 
financial reporting. The Center for Audit Quality (CAQ) has 
developed this tool to help audit committees execute their 
oversight responsibilities for financial reporting impacted by 
emerging technologies. Leveraging the work of the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO), this tool provides a framework for 
conducting effective oversight of a company’s use of 
emerging technologies in the financial reporting process. As 
explored in greater detail below, this framework has five key 
components: 

i. Control Environment 
ii. Risk Assessment 

iii. Control Activities 
iv. Information and Communication 
v. Monitoring 

In addition to this five-part framework, the tool highlights two 
technologies; artificial intelligence and robotic process 
automation which, unlike the current state of blockchain 
technology, are more widely used in the marketplace. Finally, 
the tool includes questions within each of the five components 
that audit committees may ask management and auditors to 
help inform their oversight of financial reporting. 
 
OVERSIGHT FRAMEWORK FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES 
 
Audit committees, working collaboratively with the entire 
board and management, play a key role in monitoring the 
system of internal control, taking into account emerging 
technologies. That is true whether the emerging technology 
project results in: 

i. A change in the company’s products and services, 
ii. A change in internal enterprise resource planning 

(ERP) systems, or 
iii. The use of outside providers of technology and 

technology services. 
Audit committees of the board of directors have an oversight 
responsibility related to the company’s financial reporting 
process. As a result, management and directors have a vital 
interest in whether the quality of the company’s books and 
records and related internal accounting controls enable them 
to address their responsibilities adequately. This would 
include having an interest in understanding the potential risks 
to financial reporting objectives that may be associated with 
emerging technologies. 
The following five-part framework, which leverages COSO’s 
Internal Control – Integrated Framework, may help audit 
committees advance their oversight of and involvement with 
emerging technologies used in financial reporting. Under each 
component of the framework are questions audit committees 
can ask management to fulfill their oversight responsibilities. 
The questions are not intended to be exhaustive. 
 
COMPANY’S EMERGING TECHNOLOGY STRATEGY 
The control environment is the set of standards, structures, 
and processes that provide the foundation for carrying out 
internal control across the organization. Emerging 
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technologies not only present opportunities to increase 
efficiency but also the quality of financial reporting. Audit 
committees play a vital oversight role in helping to establish 
the right control environment for the adoption of risk 
management practices by management related to emerging 
technologies that impact financial reporting. In carrying out 
their responsibility, audit committees should be aware of the 
company’s emerging technology strategy regarding financial 
reporting. It also is important that the audit committee be 
knowledgeable about the specific technology being 
contemplated, so that it can oversee its alignment with the 
company’s strategy as well as its impact on the business and 
financial reporting. 
In overseeing the strategy, audit committees can help 
monitor: 

i. Whether internal and external resources with the 
right expertise have been devoted to such projects; 

ii. That technological performance and accurate 
reporting is evaluated in a systematic way; and 

iii. That a commitment to integrity, ethical values, and 
compliance is reinforced at all levels of the 
company, including within components of the 
organization dedicated to emerging technologies. 
 

IMPACT ON FINANCIAL REPORTING: ARTIFICIAL 
INTELLIGENCE (AI) 
The terms AI, machine learning, and deep learning are often 
used interchangeably, although there are distinctions among 
them.AI is the ability of a machine to perform cognitive 
tasks that are typically associated with human minds (e.g., 
problem solving, learning, perceiving, and reasoning). 
 
Machine learning is one approach to achieve AI. As 
humans gain more life experiences, they typically learn 
more and develop greater insights. Machine learning 
technology enables a computer to learn from experiences in 
a similar manner. This means that computers do not have to 
be continually programmed with fixed rules. As trends 
change, computers can automatically learn the changing 
landscape and adjust their decision making. All AI and 
machine learning are captured in a model. Deep learning 
uses more complex models that can further capture detailed 
nuances from the learning experience. While individual 
building blocks for AI (e.g., data, algorithms, computing 
storage, processing power) have been present for a long 
time, recent advances and convergence of these building 
blocks have propelled AI to reality. Typical use cases for 
implementing AI involve business problems that can be 
solved by the following processes: 
Classification: involves training a machine to recognize 
patterns in data and then categorize new data as belonging to 
a set of categories.  
Take the following example: Reconciliations — 
Organizations have reconciliations between internal systems 
as well as with external systems. Once reconciling items are 
resolved, a history of actions taken also is recorded. AI 
systems can learn patterns based on historical actions and 
recommend actions to be taken for an unreconciled item. 
Clustering: involves training a machine to create a set of 
categories for which individual data instances have a set of 
common or similar characteristics. 

Take the following example: Fraud detection — The 
insurance industry uses machine learning to identify clusters 
of fraud in historical claims and compare to new claims to 
determine if they may be fraudulent. 
Regression: involves training a machine to estimate the next 
numeric value in a sequence. This type of problem solving is 
sometimes called prediction, particularly when it is applied to 
time series data. 
Take the following example: 
Forecasting — Companies forecast revenues and expenses 
based on historical indicators that may be indicative of future 
patterns. The forecasts can be used for budgeting or to 
develop forward-looking statements 
. 
OVERSIGHT IN ACTION: 
 
What are the objectives associated with the use of the 
emerging technology? 
 

 Will the technology contribute to a business growth 
target, provide a competitive benefit, address an 
existing process risk, or reduce costs? 

 Does the use of the emerging technology indicate a 
change in the company’s business model or strategic 
outlook in ways that create new financial reporting 
risks? 

How does the emerging technology project integrate with 
management’s existing digital and analytics plans? 

 As one example, for an AI project, is the solution 
intended to work as an assisted AI (i.e., AI that 
improves what the business is already doing), 
augmented AI (i.e., AI that enables the business to do 
things it cannot), or autonomous AI (i.e., AI that acts 
on its own)? 

Does use of the emerging technology raise tax, legal, 
regulatory, or financial reporting questions that require 
external advice? 
 
 What has the company done to train and maintain its 
internal resources and technological competencies related 
to emerging technologies? 
 
IMPACT ON FINANCIAL REPORTING: 
ROBOTIC PROCESS AUTOMATION 
RPA is driven by computer-coded, rules-based software 
robots (bots) that model and automate business processes. 
RPA follows predetermined protocols with precision, 
allowing for increased accuracy and cost efficiencies. Unlike 
AI, RPA does not learn or make judgments. 
RPA operates in the user interface layer where it automates 
processes without being embedded in the ERP software. This 
makes RPAs easier and less expensive to implement 
compared with other automation technologies.  
Based on these characteristics, bots are well-suited to provide 
ongoing cost savings and consistency. Another valuable 
benefit of RPA is the ability to migrate information across 
systems. For example, a bot might take information from an 
email, move it to a business production system, and then 
move it into an ERP or even a consolidation system. These 
“swivel chair” tasks historically required shared service 
resources or other personnel to move information manually 
across systems. 
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Other RPA examples include automating a workflow (e.g., 
open, read, and create emails), automating rule-based 
calculations (e.g., calculation of the depreciation charge on 
property, plant, and equipment), and recording the journal 
entry to the general ledger each month. 
Certain business functions may be better suited for 
automation than others. An RPA strategy could be applied 
to business functions with the following characteristics: 

 A need for a high degree of precision, accuracy, 
and consistency 

 Repetitive, manual transaction processing 
 Information being housed in multiple systems 
 Dependency on manually intensive yet simple tasks 

such as data entry, data manipulation, and report 
generation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

©2013, Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission COSO). Used by permission 
MANAGEMENT’S RISK IDENTIFICATION AND 
ASSESSMENT PROCESS 
Risk assessment involves a dynamic and ongoing process 
for identifying and assessing risks in order to achieve 
financial reporting objectives. Audit committees might 
consider whether management has assessed the risks 
associated with changes to company processes as a result of 
emerging technology projects and whether controls are in 
place to identify new risks as they arise. Audit committees 
may think about whether they have adequate access to 
technology expertise (which could be external). 
Audit committees also may consider what procedures are in 
place to help ensure that risk assessment of how technology 
impacts financial reporting is an ongoing exercise and does 
not become stale as technology evolves. 
 
OVERSIGHT IN ACTION 
What risks associated with the use of the emerging 
technology have management considered? 
 

 How has management identified and addressed 
fraud risks associated with emerging technology 
environments? 

 Has management considered additional 
transparency-related risks (e.g., risks related to the 
identification of related parties and illegal acts). If 
so, what are the plans to address these risks? 

 Were any new compliance or regulatory risks 
introduced by using the emerging technology? 

Has management considered the adequacy of the current 
risk assessment process relative to the risks introduced 
by the emerging technology? 
 

How has management evaluated the sufficiency of existing 
policies and procedures related to the safeguarding of 
assets when implementing the emerging technology? 
 
Has management identified intermediaries or third parties 
integral to the emerging technology functionality? If so, 
are current third-party risk management practices 
sufficient to adequately address the emerging technology? 
 
In Director FAQ: Board Oversight of Emerging 
Technologies, the National Association of Corporate 
Directors (NACD) recommends the following practices to 
support board oversight of emerging technologies: 

 Consider recruiting technology experts to fill open 
board seats. 

 Invest in technology-focused director education. 
 Consider establishing a board-level technology 

committee or setting up a technology advisory board. 
 Integrate the topic of technology disruption into 

discussions about strategy and risk. 
 

UNDERSTAND THE CONTROL ACTIVITIES: 
IDENTIFIED RISKS 
Control activities are the specific actions established to ensure 
that the risk of failing to meet an objective is mitigated to an 
appropriate level. Audit committees may seek to understand 
from management that control activities address: 

 How systems that rely on emerging technologies are 
ready to respond to financial reporting needs prior to 
deployment; 

 If the technology is functioning as intended and the 
output is reliable; 

 How emerging technologies will be tested and 
integrated with other systems; 

 How information technology (IT) considerations 
regarding unauthorized access, user provisioning, 
and segregation of duties are controlled; and 

 How important assets (including customer data and 
intellectual property assets) are safeguarded. 

If the emerging technology involves intermediaries or third 
parties, audit committees may want to understand how 
management has satisfied themselves that such organizations 
also operate in a well-controlled manner and do not pose a 
threat to timely and accurate financial reporting. 
 
OVERSIGHT IN ACTION:  
How has management assessed the current control 
environment to determine whether new controls are 
needed in response to the additional risks introduced by 
the emerging technology? 
Are controls in place to address the risk that the 
technology is not operating as intended (i.e., to assess the 
reliability of the outputs from the technology)? 
For an AI project, how is the introduction of bias in the 
data and algorithm used by the model prevented? 
 
What controls are in place to help ensure that those 
charged with oversight would be informed if a cyber-
security breach occurred? 
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How have contingency plans been assessed or updated to 
help ensure continuity of business and management of 
risks? 
 
ESTABLISH INFORMATION & COMMUNICATION 
PROTOCOLS 
Information and communication are crucial to the dynamic 
process of managing risks and achieving financial reporting 
objectives. Managers need current, complete, and accurate 
information to conduct their activities. Audit committees 
must have confidence that controls are in place to make sure 
that all information needed for financial reporting purposes 
is captured, used, and retained in a timely and accurate 
manner. When new systems or processes are being 
developed by using a form of emerging technology, the 
impact on existing processes and systems, including 
integration risks, also should be considered. 
Audit committees should have communication protocols for 
obtaining the information they need to effectively carry out 
their responsibilities, which may require the managers of 
large technology projects to present their progress on a 
periodic basis. 
 
OVERSIGHT IN ACTION:  
How will key financial reporting needs be considered to 
minimize potential disruptions when implementing the 
emerging technology? 
How will the technology integrate with the current IT 
systems? Are there any integration risks that need to be 
addressed? 
 How has management evaluated existing IT practices to 
help ensure they address data management and 
governance for the emerging technology? 
Do existing communication lines (internal and external) 
need to be evaluated to help ensure continued 
compliance with financial statement disclosure 
requirements? 
 
MONITOR EMERGING TECHNOLOGY ACTIVITIES 
Monitoring represents an ongoing process to ensure that 
policies, procedures, and controls are present and 
functioning effectively. Both management and the board 
will have ways to assess whether controls are operating 
effectively, and technology considerations should be part of 
those monitoring efforts. Audit committees may consider 
leveraging the internal audit function to probe whether 
emerging technology programs are operating with an 
appropriate level of rigor and control so that financial 
reporting objectives are met.  
 
If deficiencies are identified, the audit committee plays an 
important role in making sure appropriate corrective action 
is taken in a timely manner. Finally, understanding the 
external auditors’ perspective and how they approach 
financial reporting risks associated with emerging 
technologies likely would be a part of the audit committee 
agenda. 
 
OVERSIGHT IN ACTION:  
 
What monitoring activities have management put in 

place to validate the operational consistency of the 
emerging technology? 
Is the frequency of existing monitoring and reporting to 
the audit committee sufficient in light of the pervasiveness 
of the emerging technology and its impact on financial 
reporting? 
What monitoring has been established by management to 
consider the emerging technology risks related to 
recording, processing, summarizing, and reporting on 
financial information – including management’s 
discussion and analysis – and  financial statement 
disclosures? 
 In the event of a failure or deficiency related to 
management’s obligations, what processes and controls 
are in place to help ensure that appropriate levels of 
management and the audit committee are involved in the 
review of the related disclosures, if applicable? 
IMPACT TO THE AUDIT: QUESTIONS FOR AUDITORS 
To inform their oversight activities related to management, 
audit committees should have discussions with their auditors 
about emerging technologies used in financial reporting. The 
following questions may help audit committees engage with 
auditors on this topic: 
 
Does the audit engagement team include individuals with 
the right expertise to assess and address risks related to 
the emerging technology? Is there a need to involve 
additional specialists? If so, will they be from within the 
audit firm or external resources? 
What is the audit firm’s experience with the emerging 
technology? 
How has the impact of the emerging technology been 
considered during the auditor’s risk assessment process? 
Does the emerging technology have a significant impact on 
the planned audit scope? 
Has the audit team identified any additional risks that 
management has not sufficiently explored? 
 
CONCLUSION 
While emerging technologies often may be considered the 
domain of engineers and entrepreneurs, audit committees need 
to be engaged in their company’s discussion related to these 
technologies when they could have a potential impact on 
financial reporting. An understanding of these emerging 
technologies and awareness of the opportunities and risks they 
present is essential for audit committees to discharge their 
oversight responsibilities. 
 
REFERENCE: 
Survey URL: 
http://thecaq.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_d44SPcpTIEUs0aV 
See: NACD, Director FAQ on Board Oversight of 
Emerging Technologies (NACD, August 2018). Used with 
permission from NACD. 
 
ABOUT THE CENTER FOR AUDIT QUALITY (CAQ) 
 
The CAQ is an autonomous public policy organization 
dedicated to enhancing investor confidence and public trust in 
the global capital markets. The CAQ fosters high-quality 
performance by public company auditors; convenes and 
collaborates with other stakeholders to advance the discussion 
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of critical issues that require action and intervention; and 
advocates policies and standards that promote public 
company auditors’ objectivity, effectiveness, and 
responsiveness to dynamic market conditions. Based in 
Washington, DC, the CAQ is affiliated with the American 
Institute of CPAs. 

 
 
CREATING A VISION FOR THE FUTURE 
FINANCE FUNCTION & RESEARCH  
Peter Simons, Dr Martin Farrar 
Chartered Global Management Accountants (CGMA) 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
You can’t see the future, but with the right insight you can 
prepare for it. We have created this briefing paper as part of 
a year-long, worldwide project to understand the future form 
and direction of the finance function. Change is the new 
norm in many organizations – particularly within the finance 
function. The changing mandate needs finance functions to 
move from being reporting factories to providing 
experiences that wrap around the reports they produce. Yet, 
because of current rapid evolution, there isn’t a composite 
picture of the finance function of the future. It is this vision 
that we, at the Association of International Certified 
Professional Accountants (AICPA), aim to create. With 
650,000 members and students in 179 countries, we are 
uniquely well-positioned to work with global stakeholders to 
investigate, analyses and document how the finance function 
is changing.  

Using interviews, roundtables and surveys, this 
comprehensive global research project brings together 
different organizational views – to deliver insight into the 
process of change and to synthesize a picture of the finance 
function of the future. The finance function’s questioning 
role involves constant horizon-scanning and alerting the 
business to strategic opportunities or threats 
 
Our research aims to answer the following questions for 
you: 

1. How will the future be different for your 
organization? 

2. What are the drivers of change for your 
organization? 

3. What are the implications for finance? 
4. How should finance prepare for the changes? 

 
To do this, we conducted more than 300 interviews and 50 
roundtable discussions on the future of finance and identified 
several common trends emerging across a range of topics.  

These trends provided our research team with a series of 
insights into the finance function of the future and the chain of 
four papers that explore the key themes from our research. 
These themes are: 
 

1. The changing role and mandate of finance, 
2. Changing technology and finance, 
3. The changing shape of the finance function, 
4. Changing competencies and mindsets.  

 
Succeeding topics will discuss in details about the four themes 
for a better understanding. 
 
CHANGING TECHNOLOGY AND FINANCE 
Dr Martin Farrar 
Association of International Certified Professional 
Accountants (AICPA) 
 
ABSTRACT 
This briefing paper will:  

 Set out the current technological tools you need to be 
aware of that are disrupting the finance function, 

 Focus on the impact that these tools, individually and 
in combination, are having on the finance function, 

 Explore how technological automation is shifting the 
skills requirement of the finance professional, 

 Profile the types of organizations that, typically, are 
early adopters of technology, 

 Reintroduce the CGMA (Chartered Global 
Management Accountants) horizon scanner, a tool 
you can use to predict when new disrupting 
technologies will impact your organization and its 
finance function. 
 

MONEY AND KEEPING PACE WITH TECHNOLOGY 
  
“The things we talk about when we set our strategic objectives 
for the year are money and how do we keep pace with 
technology?” 
This is the stark reality for one US retailer – and it’s a 
common theme shared by many other interviewees. It’s true 
that advancements in technology are allowing us to do much 
more than we’ve been able to in the past. However, too many 
organizations are struggling with the pace of change, 
constantly having to react rather than lead with technological 
innovation. This is especially true within the finance function. 
In our interviews, technology is seen as the key driver of 
change in the finance function. This ‘disrupter’ presents both 
an opportunity and a risk. It is transforming what we, as 
finance professionals, do and revolutionizing how the finance 
function of the future will be deployed. 
Up front, it is important to understand that technology is not a 
driver of change in a vacuum. The rapid technology 
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innovation is itself driven by people. In this context, we are 
defining people as a combination of changing demography, 
which is increasingly tech savvy, and the rise of greater 
consumer empowerment. There are also two systemic 
change drivers that are playing out in the supply chain 
environment, in reaction to all the technological innovation. 
These are globalization and geopolitics. All the change 
drivers discussed in our interviews are not considered to be 
acting independently of each other. They are intertwined 
across a spider’s web, with technology at its centre as the 
most important disrupter impacting the finance function 
currently. As the finance function moves from working in 
isolation to working with others in an organization, so the 
people driver of change will have a greater impact. 
 
Artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning are not new 
concepts. In fact, artificial intelligence has been around as 
an academic discipline since the 1950’s. Today, 
technological innovation is fundamentally changing the 
tasks and role of the finance function. What’s also different 
is that we are on the cusp of something new, where 
computer performance, through machine learning and 
algorithms, could outpace human performance. 
 
Opportunities in this new future will require human 
adaptability, through learning faster and governing more 
smartly when working with technology. However, at this 
point in time, our interview research indicates that the 
adoption of new technology is not evenly distributed across 
all organizations, sectors and industries. In an interview with 
a Big Four accounting firm representative, they paraphrased 
words attributed to science fiction writer William Gibson: 
“The future ‘of finance’ is already here – it’s just not very 
evenly distributed”. This shouldn’t be surprising. It reflects 
different organizations’ journeys, in multiple ecosystems, to 
their goal of creating the most efficient and effective 
business model that delivers value to their stakeholders. 
What’s clear is that one organization’s current technology 
adoption is another organization’s technological past. Yet, 
as organizations are neither talking with each other nor 
sharing their experiences widely, there is no composite 
picture or vision of the technological finance function of the 
future for practitioners to use as a benchmark. 
 
As part of our ongoing research into the future of finance, 
we aim to emphasize a harmonious approach and best 
practice so that practitioners, organizations and finance 
functions evolve to reap the benefits from disruptive 
technologies. This will be embodied in the changing skills 
and knowledge areas within our CGMA resources. 
 
FINANCE FUNCTION TECHNOLOGY DISRUPTION 
A 2016 Deloitte report into Finance in a digital world, based 
on interview research, focused on technology disruptions 
that finance functions were experiencing. The report listed 
seven technologies that modern finance functions must have 
on their radar. Deloitte categorizes these tools as either ‘core 
modernization’ or ‘exponentials’. Core modernization tools 
are ones that focus specifically on updating financial 
systems and existing capability, whereas exponential tools 
concentrate on delivering new capabilities to the finance 

function. 

Core modernization = mainstream 
Cloud 
Process robotics 
Visualization 
Exponentials = early adopters 
Advanced analytics 
Cognitive computing 
In-memory computing 
Blockchain 
Used in combination, Deloitte suggests the seven technologies 
are assisting organizations in improving performance and 
helping the finance function serve its customers more 
effectively. Underlying these tools, although not explicitly 
highlighted by Deloitte, is the Internet of Things, which is 
brought about by cheap and ubiquitous sensors embedded in 
everyday objects. These sensors are then enabled to send and 
receive data, via networked connections, that continually fuel 
both the modernization and exponential tools with real-time 
information. 
Our interview research reveals that the core modernization 
tools are becoming mainstream features of many 
organizations’ finance functions. The exponential 
technologies are emerging with innovator and early adopter 
organizations, but have yet to break into the mainstream. 
 
FINANCE CORE MODERNIZATION TOOLS: 
 
CLOUD 
This is the provision of shared computing services over the 
Internet, whether networks, storage or applications. ‘A cloud 
is a colony of millions of computers that are braided together 
seamlessly to act as a single large computer’. Cloud solutions 
offer flexibility because organizations don’t have to invest in 
IT architecture or costly updates and maintenance. 
 
The music people listen to and the films people watch now 
live in clouds, which they rent rather than own. Cloud 
technologies are giving rise to the sharing economy, embodied 
in companies such as Spotify, Uber and AirBnB. 
These companies aren’t built on traditional physical products; 
Uber doesn’t own any taxis and AirBnB doesn’t own any 
bedrooms. Consequently, when valuing their assets, the 
finance professional increasingly needs to focus on intangibles 
that aren’t recorded on the balance sheet. 
 
PROCESS ROBOTICS 
 
Automating processes and repetitive manual tasks, through 
technological solutions, reduces costs and improves 
efficiency. More importantly, by automating tasks such as 
data entry and report generation, it frees resource within the 
finance function to focus on real business value. 
 
Within the finance function, repetitive manual tasks between 
systems are termed by some as ‘swivel chair processes’. 
Normally this involves a complicated technical work-around, 
where an accountant manually enters data into one system, 
before then inputting the same data into another system. 
Without the swivel chair, the turning from one system to 
another would greatly impede the transfer of data. Process 
robotics already has the capacity for automating the 
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combining data from different systems; swivel chair 
processing is heading toward extinction. 
 
VISUALIZATION 
This is about using technology to turn increasing amounts of 
raw data into accessible insight for an organization. Turning 
traditional spreadsheet metrics into pictures and 
infographics make important organizational stories easier to 
understand for the laymen who sit outside of the finance 
function. These tools can also help speed up processes when 
using data and exploring for prototyping and scenario 
planning. 
 
FINANCE EXPONENTIALS TOOLS: 
 
ADVANCED ANALYTICS 
Nichols has argued that technological advances and 
increasing amounts of data and information have not 
produced a new age of enlightenment. In fact, he articulates 
that the limitless supply of information is making us more 
dumb. Here’s where advanced analytical tools can help – by 
automating the examination of data to discover patterns, 
which the financial professional can turn into insight. Thiel 
highlights this collaborative working. 
 
Computers can find patterns that elude humans, but they 
don’t know how to compare patterns from different sources 
or how to interpret complex behaviors. Actionable insights 
can only come from a human analyst (or the kind of 
generalized artificial intelligence that exists only in science 
fiction). 
 
In tandem with the finance professional, these advanced 
analytic tools can greatly improve the effectiveness of 
planning and forecasting, leading to deeper business insight 
and better predictive modeling. As the finance function 
further embraces these tools and the algorithms that 
underpin them, it will blur the boundaries between the world 
of the data scientist and the management accountant. 
The problem of big data volumes is also a recurring 
challenge in our interviews. With too much data, 
organizations are struggling to gain real insight and spot 
new business opportunities. One interviewee confessed: 
“We have really powerful tools, lots of data, but we don’t 
use either well”. 
COGNITIVE COMPUTING 
This is an umbrella term that encompasses areas such as 
artificial intelligence, speech recognition and machine 
learning. The elements work together to provide automated 
insights into the increasing amounts of data we have access 
to. It is thanks to natural language processing innovations 
that we’re able to generate real-time management reports in 
a personalized language that our organizations are used to. 
Today we chuckle when we ask Amazon’s Echo, Apple’s 
Siri or Microsoft’s Cortana to tell us a joke or recite some 
poetry and wait for their clunky response. In March 2016, 
Microsoft launched a chat-bot called Tay. The chat-bot was 
designed, using machine learning, to evolve and interact 
with humans through the medium of Twitter. Within 24 
hours of launch, Tay’s Twitter account was suspended by 
Microsoft. Why? Because a group of Twitter users began 

tweeting Tay with politically incorrect phrases. As 

Tay learned from the Twitter community, and used newly 
acquired language skills, it became what The Telegraph 
described as, ‘a fascist, misogynistic, racist, pornographic 
entity’. A fascinating lesson about the power of AI 
technology. 
AI (Artificial Intelligence) has already entered the mainstream 
as a speech recognition technology. In a post-PC world, where 
most people are connected to the Internet via handheld 
devices, the usefulness of speech recognition will continue to 
evolve. Within a few years this could see the death of 
keyboards, as the finance professional talks to, questions and 
teaches their AI applications directly. 
 
IN-MEMORY COMPUTING. 
This is the move away from working with data stored in 
complicated relational databases, to technical architecture 
storage solutions, where information sits in dedicated Random 
Access Memory (RAM) servers. Data transfer rates within 
RAM is thousands of times faster than on disc. 
It leads to the ability to handle and interrogate massive live 
data sets quickly and more efficiently. The future is the real-
time detection of patterns and instant analysis of data that will 
enable faster decisions. As the price of memory decreases, the 
adoption of in-memory computing will increase across 
organizations. 
 BLOCKCHAIN 
Simplified, a blockchain is a digital platform that stores 
records of value transactions through a distributed, peer-
topeer network. The records on a blockchain are immutable, 
which means the ledger is verifiable and auditable. The 
bitcoin currency is the most cited example of a blockchain in 
action, but the future could bring smart, programmable 
contracts, revolutionize how music is shared and eliminate the 
need for third parties in peer-to-peer transfers of value. 
In the last year, blockchain has scaled the Gartner Hype Cycle 
‘peak of inflated expectation’, and is on the cusp of entering 
the ‘trough of disillusionment’. Gartner predicts that 
blockchain technologies will achieve mainstream adoption 
within five to 10 years. EVRY, a Norwegian information 
technology company, is heralding the technology as the fifth 
disruptive computing paradigm. 
Finally, the Harvard Business Review talks of blockchain 
being a foundational technology: ‘it has the potential to create 
new foundations for our economic and social systems’. The 
buzz around blockchain technologies is reflected in our 
interviews. Interviewees have shared examples of how banks, 
regulators and governments are experimenting with tools, 
based upon blockchains, to change fundamentally banking 
and the corporate tax landscape. These visionaries are 
working towards a future where organizations are recording to 
their balance sheets in real time through transparent 
blockchains.  
Regulators and governmental tax administrations will then 
have open access to organizational financial transactions, and 
be able to calculate and deduct tax automatically in real time. 
The prospect of regulators and shareholders gaining direct 
access into organizations’ future financial blockchain ledgers 
also has major implications for corporate reporting. 
Direct access in real time to an organization’s databases by 
regulators and stakeholders could make the activity of 
compiling corporate reporting redundant. A key takeaway 
from our interview research is that this is a crucial technology 
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to watch. In fact, in October 2017 the Association 
announced a new collaboration with the Wall Street 
Blockchain Alliance (WSBA). Together, this partnership 
will explore and define the impact of blockchain technology 
for the accounting profession. 
 
IMPACT OF TECHNOLOGY ON THE FINANCE 
FUNCTION 
The use of technology in the finance function is creating a 
model of intelligence augmentation, where technology 
augments human intelligence. In the finance function of the 
future, the technical capabilities of robotics and algorithms 
combines with the creativity and empathy of the human 
accountants. Technology is augmenting finance 
professionals’ capabilities to make them faster, more 
efficient and more productive. It’s no longer human versus 
machine, because new technologies can learn from the 
accountant and be customized to fit the specific needs of 
your finance function. In what has been termed the ‘Fourth 
Industrial Revolution’, or ‘Industry 4.0’, where cyber and 
physical systems fuse, the role of the finance professional 
remains important. 
For those involved in manufacturing industries, the 
intelligence augmentation model will be nothing new. 
You’ll have witnessed the adoption of computer and robotic 
automation to the production assembly line, and how it has 
changed workers’ relationships with technology.  Baldwin 
underlines the impact of Computer-Integrated 
Manufacturing (CIM): It has already produced a tectonic 
shift in manufacturing in high-wage nations – moving 
manufacturing from a situation where machines helped 
workers make things, to a situation where workers help 
machines make things. 
This will lead to a point in the future where computer 
performance outpaces human performance. When this 
happens with technologies employed within the finance 
function, so the finance professionals’ relationship and focus 
will change. They will then be judged on how well they 
work with, and complement, robotic process automation 
(RPA) and algorithms. 
 
AUTOMATION 
Technology automation within the finance function is 
already witnessing the end of certain tasks. Take the writing 
of monthly management information as an example. 
Computer software packages are now available that can 
produce management information at the press of a button, in 
real time, with personalized language and terminology that 
suits your organization. The role of the finance professional, 
therefore, shifts from one of knowledge collection and 
creation, to the interpretation of meaning and curating the 
information outputs produced by the software solution. In 
this situation, the use of Twyman’s law must be liberally 
used: ‘Any figure that looks interesting or different is 
usually wrong’. Technological applications are amazing at 
providing solutions and assigning a number, but these are 
abstractions. Real value is only achieved once the 
abstractions have context and human story re-attached to 
them by the finance professional. In a world that is rarely 
black and white or rational, the accountant can work with 
ambiguity and facilitate organizational debate when faced 

with key decision-making situations. 

 
For the finance professional, the automation of repetitive tasks 
will free up their time to concentrate on creating and 
preserving business value. This shift in skills sets from 
‘knowledge’ to ‘meaning’ is self-evident in a 2017 McKinsey 
report into automation. McKinsey’s research examined groups 
of occupational activities and ranked them according to their 
susceptibility to automation. Work activities at risk of 
automation include data collection, data processing and 
predictable physical work. Less automatable activities include 
managing others, applying expertise, stakeholder interactions 
and unpredictable physical work. McKinsey’s forecast is that: 
‘while few occupations are fully automatable, 60 percent of 
all occupations have at least 30 percent technically 
automatable activities’. 
 
When McKinsey’s estimations of automation are overlaid 
with the basic finance activities explored in our first emerging 
themes briefing paper, it becomes clear that activities carried 
out in isolation in the finance function are at risk. 
 
Figure 1: The potential for automation of the basic finance 
activities 

 
 
It reveals that the opportunity for the finance professional lies 
at the management end, rather than the accounting side of the 
basic function activities. This heralds a move away from the 
more automatable activities of assembling data to provide 
information and turning data analysis into insight, to areas that 
current technology is unable to automate. These include 
advising through stakeholder interaction and applying 
expertise to help with impactful decision-making. 
 
In one interview with a multinational bank, the employee 
explained, “transactional processes and tasks are being 
automated and the savings redeployed into getting people to 
do other things that improve their productivity.” For this 
organization, the freed resource is being reassigned to finance 
business partnering. 
 
Dr Kevin Kelly, founding executive editor of Wired 
magazine, and the futurist advisor on the 2002 Spielberg 
science fiction film, Minority Report, explains that 
technological advancements will take away the activities that 
resemble drudgery; the ones nobody really wants to do. 
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Robots will do jobs we have been doing, and do them much 
better. They will do jobs we can’t do at all. They will do 
jobs we never imagined even needed to be done. And they 
will help us discover new jobs for ourselves, new tasks that 
expand who we are. They will let us focus on becoming 
more human than we were. 
 
MODERNIZATION AND EXPONENTIAL TOOL 
PATTERNS 
Our interviews have revealed patterns of how these tools are 
being used in combination by organizations to improve their 
basic finance activities. Organizations that are already using 
cloud and process robotics with their finance functions find 
that the combination leads to unmanageable amounts of 
data. Big data is nothing new, however, and can provide 
new sources of insight that might be applied in performance 
management. 
But organizations have found themselves drowning in 
what’s termed a ‘data lake’. At its most basic, a data lake is 
a description of any large raw data pool. This includes 
structured, semi-structured and unstructured data that is 
stored in one place until required. 
To enable mining of their new data lakes for maximum 
insight, organizations we spoke with are having to invest in 
exponential tools. They are investing in advanced analytics 
and in-memory computing to assemble information more 
quickly, while simultaneously using cognitive computing 
solutions to query the data lake, to provide automated 
insight. 
It is only through a combination of core modernization and 
exponential tools that finance functions are beginning to 
change their organizational landscape. Influential and 
impactful reporting is then achieved by combining the 
technology with the technical expertise of the finance 
professional. A 2016 World Economic Forum / Accenture 
white paper forecasts that ‘these types of technologies will 
reduce the costs of the finance function by 40 percent’. 
 
TECHNOLOGY ADOPTION 
Our research is uncovering patterns in the area of 
technology adoption. It’s allowing us to understand which 
types of organizations are already experiencing and 
embracing the finance function of the future, and what’s 
motivating their technological adoption: 
 
1. INNOVATORS AND LAGGARDS 
The data reveals that the innovators and early adopters 
implementing disruptive technologies into their finance 
functions tend to be either: 

a. Multinational or transnational organizations, 
b. National organizations (normally in competition 

with multinational or transnational organizations 
c. Specific sectors such as: 

i. Financial services 
ii. Telecommunications 

iii. Private 
iv. FinTech (financial technology); or 

d. Start-ups run by young entrepreneurs. 
 
These types of organizations typically represent the first 16 
percent of a technology adoption bell curve. Roger’s 

adoption bell curve (Figure 2) was first published 

in 1962 as part of his research into the ‘Diffusion of 
Innovations’ theory. He proposed that the adopters of 
innovation could be categorized into five group 
characteristics: innovators, early adopters, early majority, late 
majority and laggards. 

 
Figure 2: Roger’s adoption bell curve 
Of course, there are risks in being the first to implement 
technology, just as there are risks associated with turning up 
to the party too late and being left behind. It’s an age-old 
dilemma, as Haskel and Westlake remind us, ‘People often 
observe that while the early bird catches the worm, it is the 
second mouse that gets the cheese’. And this must be 
contrasted against McAFee and Brynjolfsson’s early 1900’s 
electrification revolution example: We also know that not all 
factories were able to electrify intelligently. Some companies 
and their leaders saw the potential of unit drive and embraced 
it, while others debated the matter for decades. For all these 
reasons, it seems likely that the early-adopting factories 
contributed directly to the deaths of many old industrial trusts. 
Whether you are an innovator or part of the late majority, 
knowing where you sit on the adoption bell curve will inform 
your organization’s risk appetite around disruptive 
technologies. 
 
2. SOCIAL DEMAND IN SUPPLY CHAIN FACTOR 
A 2017 McKinsey paper on automation, employment and 
productivity highlights factors affecting the pace and extent of 
automation. The report sets out five factors that are 
influencing the extent and pace of automation around work 
activities for organizations. These are: 

a. Technical feasibility 
b. Cost of developing and deploying solutions 
c. Labor market dynamics 
d. Economic benefits 
e. Regulatory and social acceptance. 

Our research brings to light a sixth factor that’s influencing 
the pace of automation within organizations. The missing 
factor is that of social demand in the ecosystem. When others 
in an organization’s supply chain implement a disruptive 
technology, this speeds up adoption of similar technologies 
across the ecosystem. This missing component is linked to 
what Haskel and Westlake term ‘dynamic clusters’. Dynamic 
clusters are ‘places where innovative businesses and people 
are more likely to come together and share ideas’. 
In one interview with a representative from a FinTech 
company, a discussion on the topic of blockchain arose. The 
individual disclosed that their organization was investing in 
blockchain technology primarily because the rest of the sector 
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was doing the same. The organization did not yet fully 
understand the benefits that a blockchain solution could 
bring them. However, the fear of being left behind was 
driving their investment. 
Other interviews reveal that geography isn’t playing a part 
in the investment or deployment of technology. In fact, 
multinational organizations will take their preferred 
technologies and deploy them around the world wherever 
they have a footprint. Where transnational or national 
organizations compete with multinationals, they will try to 
match the technological investment and deployment 
exhibited by the competition. 
It is interesting to note McKinsey’s view on automotive 
technology adoption. From their review of previous 
technological adoptions, ‘the time from commercial 
availability to 90 percent adoption ranges from 
approximately eight to 28 years’. However, as our research 
suggests, social demand and activity by supply chain 
partners in the ecosystem is another important hygiene 
factor. This factor alone will continue to drive down the 
time gap between innovators, early adopters and laggards on 
the innovation adoption curve. 
 
3. Where’s your finance function on the technology 
adoption journey? 
Management accountants have a critical role to play in 
developing the digital strategy that will be essential to the 
ongoing success of their organization. The first step in the 
process is to fully understand where your finance function is 
in the technology adoption journey and what the most likely 
disrupting technologies are for your business. 
The data from our interviews is highlighting patterns of 
technology adoption. Similar industries’ and sectors’ 
adoption journeys are mirroring supply chain partner 
activity. By using the Gartner Hype Cycle and Innovation 
Adoption Curve, it is possible to predict when new 
disrupting technologies will impact a particular industry or 
sector. Once an organization has prioritized its potential 
technological disruptors, the CGMA (Chartered Global 
Management Accountants) horizon scanner is a tool that can 
help a business put these challenges into context. The tool 
can frame organizational conversations about the impact of 
future technology in the ecosystem, adding a time dimension 
and an integrated view. 
 
The CGMA (Chartered Global Management 
Accountants) horizon scanner 
 
The CGMA horizon scanner acts like a time based PESTEL 
analysis (political, economic, social, technological, 
environmental and legal) that considers impact over the 
short, medium and long term. For example: customers might 
be concerned about blockchain technology; regulators might 
already be embracing it; investors or stakeholders might 
need assurance that the business is prepared; and 
competitors might be responding faster. Its value lies in 
emphasizing the connectivity between customers, 
competitors, processes, technology, stakeholders, 
environment, suppliers and regulators. Kelly carried out his 
own horizon-scanning exercise of embedded artificial 
intelligence. This led him to conclude that AI will 

fundamentally change the nature of science. 

Really intelligent instruments will speed and alter our 
measurements; really huge sets of constant real-time data will 
speed and alter our model making; really smart documents 
will speed and alter our acceptance of when we “know” 
something. The scientific method is a way of knowing, but it 
has been based on how humans know. Once we add a new 
kind of intelligence into this method, science will have to 
know, and progress, according to the criteria of new minds. 
Kelly’s conclusions will apply equally to the way we practice 
the science of management accounting in the future. 
The future of finance: join us on our journey 
Our briefings on these emerging themes will enable us to 
discuss a new delivery model for modern finance, with certain 
key features. Ultimately, all organizations face the same 
obstacle of building capacity, competence and credibility 
within their future finance functions. 
The difference is that some organizations are innovators on 
the journey to the future, while others are lagging behind. 
With this research, we want to help more organizations lead 
from the front. 
 
The keys to transformation 
Based on our interviews, it appears that an organization’s top 
priorities to transform its finance function should be to: 

a. Make use of the latest technologies to release the full 
capacity of the finance function 

b. Widen the remit of finance to cover a broader range 
of management information, generating new insights 
and business solutions 

c. Provide and empower finance professionals with new 
competencies and growth mindsets to help your 
organizations create and preserve value. 

That’s what this project is all about.  
 
So, armed with this briefing, why not start a conversation on 
the future of finance in your organization? Read one or all of 
our briefing papers on emerging themes and share them within 
your network. 
 
You can then ask yourself: 

a. How do the emerging themes resonate in your 
organization? 

b. Where are you and your organization on the journey 
to realizing the finance function of the future? 

c. How, in the light of these themes, will you reconsider 
your strategies to meet the future finance function’s 
innovative mandate? 

 
FIVE THINGS YOU CAN DO IN LIGHT OF THIS 
BRIEFING 
1. Begin by reviewing your work activities against the 
McKinsey research rankings, according to which are highly 
and least susceptible to automation. It’ll also be valuable to 
start building people, leadership and empathy skills into your 
continuing professional development or education 
programmes. 
2. To gain critical insight, invest time in researching the 
technology solutions that your supply chainpartners and others 
in your industry ecosystem have implemented. You can use 
the CGMA horizon scanner tool to plan your finance function 
future technology journey. However, in doing this remember 
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that the future is not a fixed destination, and so your journey 
should always reflect multiple, evolving scenarios.  
3. Provide yourself with the opportunity to spend time 
understanding the world of algorithms and how they 
operate. For those with more of an interest, it’s likely you’ll 
benefit by learning some basic coding. 
4. Consider deepening your knowledge by reading up on 
blockchain technology. This will help you understand if or 
when blockchain technology is likely to impact your 
industry or sector. But in focusing on the impact of 
blockchain, don’t forget to also pay attention to future big 
picture trends. 
5. To help us develop a knowledge-sharing community, 
please do get in touch and share your experiences, 
observations and opinions with us. 
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ABSTRACT  
 
This briefing paper will: 

a. Explore how and why the shape is changing 
b. Explore how service areas within the finance 

function are evolving 
c. Explore the changing skills sets of finance 

professionals. 
 

The changing expectation of finance role 
 
“The expectations of the finance role have changed. Finance 
is now embedding itself across the business”. 
When an interviewee from the Indian banking sector shared 
this insight, it reflected the prevailing sentiment of 
respondents and demonstrated the radically changing nature 
of the finance function. Our research reveals that an 
expanding mandate for finance, digital technologies and 
new sources of data are combining to change the shape of 
the finance function. As expectations and skills evolve, that 
shape is migrating from a traditional hierarchical triangle 
(where broader populations of workers report directly 
upwards to a series of ever-narrower management bands) to 
a hexagonal structure (where expert teams collaborate as 
equals to achieve shared corporate objectives). 
The evolving shape has implications for finance 
professionals. It will impact: 
Career paths and succession planning upwards through the 
structure, as the lower tier career ladders erode 
The skills needed to remain relevant. These will change and 
go far beyond the traditional accountant’s skills set 
The conventional mindset where finance works in isolation. 
This will shift instead to a strategically- and commercially-
aware mindset. 
We will continue to monitor the evolving shape of the 
finance function as it informs the practical experience 
requirements for CGMA designation holders, lifelong 
learning and continuous professional development needs.  
 
HOW THE SHAPE OF THE FINANCE FUNCTION IS 
CHANGING 
In the digital age, our research shows that the finance 
function’s shape has evolved into a hexagonal structure. 
 
Figure 1: The shape of the finance function in the digital 
age 

 
 

 
Traditionally, the shape was a hierarchical triangle with a 
broad base and fewer roles at senior levels. Over the past two 
decades, the shape then evolved to a segregated triangle, 
which was driven by globalization and advances in 
information and communications technology. This change 
allowed routine processes to be migrated to shared service 
centres – the bottom section of the segregated triangle 
represents the finance function activity carried out within 
shared service centres. 
 
Figure 2: The evolution of the finance function shape 
 

 
 
The hexagonal shape of the digital age shows the impact of 
technological automation as it continues to erode the 
traditional triangular base (Figure 2). This erosion has 
implications for succession planning; those basic finance 
activities, which are now automated, had provided the 
traditional training ground for finance professionals. 
Many of the lower-level tasks involved in ‘assembling and 
extracting data and providing limited insight’ and ‘specialists 
generating further insights in their areas of specialism’ have 
been, and will continue to be, automated (Figure 3). 
Figure 3: The impact of technological change on the shape 
of the finance function 
 

 
 
Most of these tasks are likely to be clerical in nature, rather 
than tasks performed by professional accountants. 
Professional-level tasks will still exist in the management and 
continuous improvement of processes. Indeed, this 
understanding and the use of new technologies will be 
increasingly important in process improvement. 
 
Higher-value services, present within ‘specialists generating 
further insights in their areas of specialism’ (including 
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financial planning and analysis) are now offered from 
shared service centres or centres of excellence, causing the 
central bulge in the hexagonal shape. Here, finance 
professionals will increasingly work in multidisciplinary 
teams, assembled in skills combinations that support the 
business. The flat top to the structure shows a move to a 
collaborative finance leadership approach. 
 
In our interviews, we asked individuals to describe the 
number of hierarchical reporting levels within their finance 
functions. This research allowed us to create a composite 
picture of the reporting levels that sculpt the shape of the 
finance function within the digital age. We found it consists 
of four levels. From the top downwards these are: 
 
Level 1: Leading the finance team 
Level 2: Partnering for value to influence and shape how the 
organization creates and preserves value 
Level 3: Specialists generating further insights in their areas 
of specialism 
Level 4: Assembling and extracting data and providing 
limited insight. 
When overlaid with the Global Management Accounting 
Principles’ definition of management accounting, we can 
start to understand the different responsibilities of these 
levels. The principles define management accounting as ‘the 
sourcing, analysis, communication and use of decision 
relevant financial and non-financial information to generate 
and preserve value for organizations’.  
In this context, the responsibilities of each level are as 
follows: 
Level 1: To enable and shape the generation and 
preservation of value for organizations, 
Level 2: To communicate the insight and moral of the story, 
Level 3: To shape the story through the analysis and use of 
decision-relevant financial and non-financial information, 
Level 4: To source the information for the story. 
 
Why the shape of the finance function is changing 
 
Our interviews indicate there are three main reasons why the 
shape of the finance function is changing. These reasons are: 
the changing mandate for finance, technology, and finance 
function capability. 
 
1. THE CHANGING MANDATE FOR FINANCE 
 
The role of the finance function continues to shift in 
emphasis towards management rather than accounting. This 
emerging mandate is based on twin beliefs: firstly, that the 
finance function has a unique end-to-end view of an 
organization; and secondly, that the Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) has the business understanding to work alongside the 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) as a co-pilot – explaining the 
increasing focus on business partnering. This recognizes the 
important role of management accountants who, as 
guardians of the business model, apply the discipline of 
commercial finance to decision-making and value creation. 
 
The shape of the finance function, and those within it, are 
evolving to better enable ‘partnering for value to influence 

and shape how the organization creates and 

preserves value’. This role is increasingly central to the 
finance function – and explains why the hexagon bulges 
outwards at the Level 2 tier. 
 
2. TECHNOLOGY 
Organizations are using technologies to improve the 
efficiency of the finance function and build new capabilities 
for it. An example of this is how organizations are embracing 
technology to support the automation of management 
information processes, and provide reporting to the rest of the 
business on a self-service basis. In turn, this is contributing to 
the narrowing of ‘assembling and extracting data and 
providing limited insight’ (Level 4). 
 
However, it’s also heightening the need for skills and talent in 
two other levels: ‘specialists generating further insights in 
their areas of specialism’ (Level 3) and ‘partnering for value 
to influence and shape how the organization creates and 
preserves value’ (Level 2). 
 
a. New data sources and analysis methods 
 
The availability of a wide range of new data sources and the 
means to conduct advanced analytics are providing 
opportunities to better inform decision-making. By contrast, in 
the past, these decisions had to be based on personal 
judgment. Now, for example, predictive analytics improves 
forecasting and it is likely that analytics will extend the 
financial planning and analysis (FP&A) area of the finance 
function. This is pulling demand for talent into the higher 
echelons of Level 3 – ‘specialists generating further insights 
in their areas of specialism’. 
 
Our interviews revealed examples where digital centres of 
excellence are providing new insights into customers’ 
behavior and experiences, derived from data. These insights 
are enabling management teams to deal with important 
intangibles in a better, more informed way. 
 
b. Automation and cognitive computing 
 
A 2016 McKinsey report studied which functions could be 
automated by advancing technology. 
 
Figure 4: McKinsey’s report into the technical potential 
for automation in the US 
 

 
Estimates of extent to which different types of roles could be 
automated; Source: McKinsey 
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McKinsey’s research examined groups of occupational 
activities and ranked them according to their susceptibility 
to automation (Figure 4). Work activities at risk of 
automation include: data collection, data processing and 
predictable physical work. Less automatable activities 
include: managing others, applying expertise, stakeholder 
interactions and unpredictable physical work. 
What’s interesting about the McKinsey infographic is how it 
sits when overlaid across the digital age’s hexagonal shaped 
finance function (Figure 5), below. 
 
Figure 5: The potential for automation of the finance 
function in the digital age 
 

 
 
It confirms what our interviews are exploring – that 
advances in technology, and particularly in robotic process 
automation, are providing opportunities to automate many 
routine, clerical activities. Cognitive computing, such as 
artificial intelligence, machine learning and natural language 
programming, are also providing opportunities to automate 
advanced data analytics, report writing and even 
conversations. Higher up the hexagon, new technologies 
will augment what humans can do and support roles that 
require personal interaction and the ability to manage others 
– which are areas less likely to be automated. 
 
FINANCE FUNCTION CAPABILITY 
Historically, the finance function has had a mandate to focus 
on organizational efficiencies and reduce operational costs. 
In many organizations, this focus has heralded lean 
operational processes, and now there is no more fat to trim. 
Technology is also at a point where machines can be left to 
monitor process costing and highlight patterns of efficiency. 
This shift has refocused the finance function towards 
revenue and value creation which, in turn, has impacted the 
function’s shape. Level 2 – ‘partnering for value to 
influence and shape how the organization creates and 
preserves value’ – becomes the focal point for these 
activities, and is another reason for the bulge in the finance 
function shape at this point. There are also implications for 
the competencies required by finance professionals in Level 
2 and these are explored in our briefing paper, ‘Emerging 
theme 4: Changing competencies and mindsets’. 
Together, these developments are radically altering the 
delivery model for the finance function. As the delivery 
model evolves, its shape adapts into the emerging hexagonal 
structure present in our research. 

 

How service areas within the finance function are fusing and 
evolving  
“The future of finance is fusion rather than erosion.” 
 
This is the prediction of a banking sector interviewee. The 
changing mandate for the finance function and the impact of 
new technology puts more emphasis on finance as a discipline 
across the business, rather than as an overhead function. This 
fusion process, evident from our research, is bringing together 
different internal areas of the finance function, as well as 
fusing finance with the rest of the business. The following 
section reflects on the interview research, to explore the 
changing role of finance as a discipline in the business, based 
on the interviews we conducted. Here, we consider how the 
digital age is impacting on the different service areas within 
finance, and compare this with the traditional hierarchical or 
segregated structures (Figure 6). 
 
The left side of the table presents an overview of services 
provided within the finance function, and the right side 
indicates where they are migrating. 
 
Figure 6: Migration of hierarchical / segregated service 
areas in a digital age 
 

 
 

Management and 
transformation 

Leading the finance team 

Many finance 
transformation 
projects have 
stalled. Most 
accountants are 
so busy working 
with legacy 
systems they 
don’t have the 
capacity to take 
on a broader role. 
Some also lack 
the analytical and 
commercial skills 
needed. In 
addition, 
management 
accountants’ 
potential to 
contribute isn’t 
always 

A new shared vision for finance’s role 
provides a mandate for further change. 
Change will be constant, so an ability 
to adapt and manage change will foster 
the agility needed to survive and 
prosper. 
Change management and project 
management are already important 
disciplines in finance. 
Changes to structure, systems and 
skills must be aligned, and progress in 
transformation must be measured and 
managed. Change is the new normal 
for businesses. 
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recognized. 
Supporting 
decision making 
and performance 
management 

Partnering for value, to influence how 
the organization creates and preserves 
value 

The CFO usually 
works closely 
with the CEO to 
support him or 
her in running the 
organization. 
Many businesses 
develop and 
deploy finance 
professionals as 
business partners 
to cascade the 
CFO’s influence 
through the 
business. 

Business partnering services may be 
provided by: individuals deployed to 
work alongside business unit 
managers; a multi-disciplinary team in 
a centre of 
expertise; or a hybrid model, where 
some support is provided locally, but 
an expert team is deployed to tackle a 
problem or guide a major initiative. 

Management 
information, 
including FP&A 
and data analytics 

Specialists generating further insights 
in their areas of specialism 

Accountants tend 
to focus on 
financial analysis. 
Data usually 
‘belongs’ to 
whoever owns the 
process that 
generates that 
data. This means 
their analysis is 
not subject to the 
same rigor that 
the finance 
professional 
applies. 
There is a need 
for finance to act 
as a broker of 
information that 
can assemble and 
validate the 
analysis presented 
to decision-
makers. 

The production of routine management 
information is already being 
automated. 
Managers have dashboards on their 
desks so they can monitor current 
performance. 
Self-service tools allow interrogation, 
so managers can identify the root 
causes of performance. Problems or 
opportunities can be addressed 
promptly as they emerge. 
Advanced data visualization and 
analytics can provide insights to 
enable more accurate driver-based 
forecasting and predictive modeling. 
Finance professionals can increase 
their focus on providing ad hoc expert 
support for bigger decisions or 
strategic projects. 
They can question and investigate, to 
constantly improve the shared 
understanding of how the business 
generates value. 
They can also scan the horizon, and 
develop and help to formulate 
strategies, so the business can be agile 
in how it continually adapts its 
business model. 

Subject matter 
expertise 

Specialists generating further insights 
in their areas of specialism 

Expertise in 
accounting and 
financial matters 
has, for a long 
time, provided 
accountants with 
security of 
employment and 
good career 
prospects. 
This expertise can 
be leveraged and 
developed where 
teams work 
together. Teams 
allow 
specialization and 
collegiate 
working shares 
expertise. Lower 
value work can be 
delegated and 
supervised, 
providing 
learning 
opportunities for 
tomorrow’s 
experts. 

Concentrating subject matter expertise 
within teams can improve efficiency. 
Teams may work in shared service 
centres (SSCs) or in centres of 
excellence closer to the business. 
Experts from different disciplines (for 
example, logistics, data analytics or 
computing), can work together on the 
same team to better support the 
business. 
New technologies, especially the use 
of cognitive computing, already offer 
the potential to enable greater 
efficiency. 
In the near future, blockchain will 
bring greater transparency and enable 
sharing of trusted information. 

Accounting 
operations 

Assembling and extracting data and 
providing limited insight 

SSCs, whether in-
house (captive) or 
operated by a 
service provider 
(outsourced), 
have 
industrialized the 
management of 
accounting 
processes. 
Rules-based 
processes are 
delegated to 
improve 
efficiency. The 
expertise needed 
most in SSCs is 
process 
management and 
change 
management, 
especially 
managing teams 
and migrating 
processes to 
SSCs. 

SSCs are expanding laterally to handle 
processes end to end, across 
professional disciplines. 
They are also expanding vertically to 
offer higher value services, for 
example to FP&A, management 
reporting or business partnering. 
Robotic process automation is already 
here; embedded controls and cognitive 
computing are coming soon. 
Blockchain is not far off. Labor 
arbitrage has supported the business 
case for offshoring. Automation limits 
that benefit. The quality of service or 
level of expertise, and the value they 
can contribute has become more 
important than being low cost. 

Accounting and 
management 
information 
systems 

Integral rather than auxiliary 

Information 
systems are 

IT will be fully integrated. Cloud 
computing provides scalability. 
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shown as a box to 
the side that isn’t 
sufficiently 
integrated within 
the finance 
function. 
Although finance 
professionals still 
use terms such as 
ledger, journal or 
chart of accounts, 
accounting is 
already dependent 
on technology. 
However, 
assembling 
information from 
legacy systems 
and the 
widespread use of 
Excel keeps many 
expensive 
professionals 
busy. There are 
also risks of error 
due to human 
intervention. 

Blockchain could provide 
transparency. 
Accountants are still responsible for 
the integrity of the information 
produced. 
Greater expertise in data governance, 
data planning and data architecture is 
needed. 
New risks must be managed. These 
include back-up policies and 
contingency plans to mitigate the risk 
of downtime. Addressing cyber-
security risks is a growing concern. 
Understanding and managing what 
happens within information systems 
requires combined accounting and 
systems expertise, whether 
individually or, more likely, in multi-
disciplinary teams. 
The skills needed to use new 
technologies, such as when automating 
a process, will become as important as 
people management skills are today. 

In this evolved finance function of the future, we will see 
accounting operations, subject matter expertise, 
management information production and FP&A (now with 
data analytics) becoming more closely combined with 
decision support and performance management. This is a 
fusion of accounting expertise within the finance function, 
which will enable greater integration with the business and 
reflect the clear focus on decision support and performance 
management. 
The shape of the finance function will continue to evolve, 
with increasing emphasis on professional-level roles that 
offer these support and management skills. However, the 
level of specialist expertise that’s required will lead to the 
formation of multi-disciplinary teams, so that experts in data 
analytics, logistics and other increasingly important areas 
will become members of the finance team. Finance will no 
longer be just for pure accountants. 
 
THE FUTURE OF FINANCE: JOIN US ON OUR 
JOURNEY 
 
Our briefings on these emerging themes will enable us to 
discuss a new delivery model for modern finance, with 
certain key features. Ultimately, all organizations face the 
same obstacles of building capacity, competence and 
credibility within their future finance functions. 
The difference is that some organizations are innovators on 
the journey to the future, while others are lagging behind. 
With this research, we want to help more organizations to 
lead from the front. 
 
The keys to transformation 
 
Based on our interviews, it appears that an organization’s 

top priorities to transform its finance function should be to: 
a. Make use of the latest technologies to release the full 

capacity of the finance function 
b. Widen the remit of finance to cover a broader range 

of management information, generating new insights 
and business solutions 

c. Provide and empower finance professionals with new 
competencies and growth mindsets to help your 
organization create and preserve value. 

That’s what this project is all about. 
 
So, armed with this briefing, why not start a conversation on 
the future of finance in your organization? Read one or all of 
our briefing papers on emerging themes and share them within 
your network. 
 
 
YOU CAN THEN ASK YOURSELF: 
 
How do the emerging themes resonate in your 
organization? 
 
Where are you and your organization on the journey to 
realizing the finance function of the future? 
 
How, in the light of these themes, will you reconsider your 
strategies to meet the future finance function’s innovative 
mandate? 
 
FIVE THINGS YOU CAN DO IN LIGHT OF THIS 
BRIEFING 
 
1. Begin by identifying priorities for your finance function 
through using the table in the section titled ‘how service areas 
within the finance function are evolving’. 
2. Next, we recommend investing time to identify skills gaps 
in light of the evolving finance function shape, and 
developing plans to close them. 
3. From a personal standpoint, consider the direction in which 
you would like to develop your own career. You can then take 
action by reading up on disruptive technologies to understand 
how that may help or hinder your future direction. 
4. To achieve your goals, start developing your own 
continuing professional education plan to take your career in 
your chosen direction. It’s important to make sure this plan 
complements learning with experience and exposure in order 
to develop your skills and contacts. 
5. To help us develop a knowledge-sharing community, please 
do get in touch to share your experiences, observations and 
opinions with me. 
References: 
i. The expanding finance mandate is explored in ‘Emerging 
theme 1: The changing role and mandate of finance’. The 
impact of digital technologies is explored in ‘Emerging theme 
2: Changing technology and finance’. 
ii. CIMA. The Global Management Accounting Principles 
(December, 2015). 
iii. M Chui, J Manyika & M Miremadi. Where Machines  
could replace humans – and where they can’t (yet) (McKinsey 
Quarterly, July 2016). 
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CHANGING COMPETENCIES AND MINDSETS 
Dr Martin Farrar 
future.finance@aicpa-cima.com 
Associate Technical Director, Research and Development – 
Management Accounting 
Association of International Certified Professional 
Accountants (AICPA) 
 
ABSTRACT 
 
This briefing paper will: 

a. Explore how technological automation is shifting 
the competency skills set required by finance 
professionals,  

b. Introduce the concept of a growth mindset, and  
c. Demonstrate the increasing need for us all to learn 

and relearn continually, as new technologies 
replace our timeworn skills and knowledge. 

 
Finance and the Mindset 
 “Finance people need a mindset that enables them to adapt 
through continuous learning”. 
 
In one interview (quote above), a banking sector 
representative explained that, when hiring finance 
professionals, their organization looked for “broad 
capability and a mindset, rather than  
the ability to use certain tools and techniques”. 
 
They described this mindset as “being able to challenge the 
status quo, adapt, and make an impact when driving 
change”. Adopting it enables employees to be more resilient 
and gain a higher level of emotional intelligence. 
Until recently, we have assumed that competencies 
influence and enable performance. However, throughout our 
research, many interviewees made reference to ‘the mindset 
of the management accountant’ when presenting personal 
views of what makes a good finance professional. 
 
In this and other ways, our research is challenging current 
competency assumptions. While competencies are still very 
important for the finance professional, it’s a specific mindset 
that makes the greatest difference in the working 
environment. 
 

TECHNOLOGY AND INTELLIGENCE 
AUGMENTATION 
Looking to the future, technology is impacting both 
competencies and mindsets. The use of technology in the 
finance function is creating a model of ‘intelligence 
augmentation’, where technology augments human 
intelligence. In the finance function of the future, the technical 
capabilities of robotics and algorithms combine with the 
creativity and empathy of human accountants. 
Technology is augmenting finance professionals’ capabilities 
– making them faster, more efficient and more productive. It’s 
no longer human versus machine, because new technologies 
can learn from the accountant and be customized to fit the 
specific needs of your finance function. Thanks to technology, 
we now live in a world where answers are cheap, plentiful and 
instant. However, in this world, the finance professional’s 
ability to construct a good question becomes paramount. The 
curiosity of a good question is worth a million good answers. 
It has the ability to inspire and compel people to think and act. 
 
Dr Kevin Kelly, founding executive editor of ‘Wired’ 
Magazine, and the futurist advisor on the 2002 Spielberg 
science fiction film ‘Minority Report’, defines a good 
question as: 

 A good question is not concerned with a correct 
answer. 

 A good question cannot be answered immediately. 
 A good question challenges existing answers. 
 A good question is one to which you want the 

answer, but had no inkling of your interest before it 
was asked. 

 A good question creates new territory of thinking. 
 A good question reframes its own answers. 
 A good question is the seed of innovation in science, 

technology, art, politics and business. 
 A good question is a probe, a what-if scenario. 
 A good question skirts on the edge of what’s known 

and not known, neither silly nor obvious. 
 A good question cannot be predicted. 
 A good question will be the sign of an educated 

mind. 
 Good question is one that generates other good 

questions. 
 A good question may be the last job a machine will 

learn to do. 
 A good question is what humans are for. 

 
We all need to build time for fluid contemplation and the 
construction of the good question into our working lives, 
instead of rushing for the instant answer. A desire to reduce 
complexity is motivating interviewees to make further 
investment in technological solutions. 
 
In organizations where mergers and acquisitions have recently 
taken place, the drive is to harmonize a number of different 
systems across many sites. In other organizations, the 
motivation is to ensure information systems talk to each other 
through automation, so that resource can be freed up.  
 
The freed finance resource can then move away from 
transactional processing (technical and business analytical 
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skills) into the role of finance partner (people and leadership 
skills), to focus on the values and synergies of business 
goals. 
 
Haskel and Westlake talk about the importance of ‘systemic 
innovators’, which allow organizational information flows, 
and facilitate ‘serendipitous interactions’ across a business: 
Such innovators are not inventors of single, isolated 
inventions. Rather, their role is to coordinate the synergies 
that successfully bring such an innovation to market. 
 
Are these innovators the finance partners of the future? With 
their end-to-end view of a business, in future will they be 
found developing and deploying solutions for an 
organization? With all these scenarios, the key skills base of 
finance professionals is moving into the expert, problem-
solving arena, and adopting competencies involved in 
influencing and change management. 
The automation paradox 
When thinking about the impact that process robotics will 
have on the finance function, the ‘automation paradox’ 
needs to be considered. As systems become more 
automated, humans lose some of their skills within the 
system. This results in more automation. However, when 
faced with an unusual situation that requires a switch to 
manual control, an organization may no longer have the 
skills to deal with atypical conditions. An example from the 
world of the stock markets and trading floors is the use of 
computers and algorithms to increase the speed of decision-
making. With automated decision-making between firms, 
malfunctioning algorithms have created trading flash 
crashes. The automation paradox is therefore something to 
be aware of when considering competencies and mindsets of 
the future. 
 
FROM KNOWLEDGE COLLECTION TO 
INTERPRETATION 
 
The role of the finance professional is shifting from one of 
knowledge collection and creation, to instead interpreting 
meaning and curating the information outputs produced by 
software solutions. As the finance function emerges from 
working in isolation to collaborating with others in the 
organization, this shift will intensify as the required skills 
change. For the finance professional, the changing role and 
mandate of finance, the impact of technology and the 
changing shape of the finance function each have 
implications for their required skills, competencies and 
mindsets going forward. 
 
An example of this can be seen in the changing nature of 
the broad roles within finance, explored in our 
‘Emerging theme: 
 
1: The changing role and mandate of finance’. Here, the 
broad roles of the finance function are moving from left to 
right, beneath the umbrella terms of ‘reporting’, 
‘questioning’, ‘developing solutions’ and ‘deploying 
solutions’. 
 
 

Figure 1: Competencies and skills under pinning the 
Broad finance roles 
 

 
     

This journey will also impact the skills required of the finance 
professional, moving them from technical and analytical, to 
problem-solving and change management skills (Figure 1). 
 
MINDSETS AND LEARNING 
 
There exists an entire neuroscience research community that’s 
focused on mindsets. This community is studying how brains 
learn, and trying to understand the possible levels of future 
intelligence malleability. Results in this field have revealed 
that the adoption of certain mindsets can drive greater 
motivation and achievement. 
 
The work of Dr Carol Dweck has defined two mindsets – a 
fixed mindset and a growth mindset. A fixed mindset is one 
where intelligence is considered static and ‘qualities are 
carved in stone’, which ‘creates an urgency to prove yourself 
over and over’. A person with a fixed mindset is likely to 
avoid challenges, give up easily when faced with obstacles 
and ignore useful feedback. 
A growth mindset, on the other hand, is where ‘intelligence 
can be developed and leads to a desire to learn’. It is about ‘a 
zest for teaching and learning, an openness to giving and 
receiving feedback, and an ability to confront and surmount 
obstacles’. As technology increasingly disrupts the world in 
which we work, the ability to continually learn, unlearn and 
relearn, while operating at speed and scale, is a key challenge 
for the finance professional. Author Matthew Syed explains: 
In a complex world, the only way to learn is from our 
mistakes, failures and errors – in science, in business, in 
technology, in politics. It’s a process that applies to the 
evolution of our species, the dynamism of our economies and 
the growth that we either enjoy or thwart in our own lives. 
A growth mindset is also linked to our own curiosity and our 
ability to continue to question long-held assumptions. Thiel, 
in Zero to One, talks about the case for secrets in a world 
where we believe all the great questions have been solved. For 
the finance professional, these ‘secrets’ are the creation and 
preservation of organizational value. Thiel explains: The 
actual truth is that there are many more secrets left to find, but 
they will yield only to relentless searches. There is more to do 
in science, medicine, engineering, and in technology of all 
kinds… But we will never learn any of these secrets unless we 
demand to know them and force ourselves to look 
.  
LEARN, UNLEARN AND RELEARN 
Technological advancements are constantly changing the 
skills and knowledge that organizations value. The skills and 
knowledge valued today have a rapidly decreasing shelf life. 
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Most are likely to be obsolete within a couple of years – to 
be replaced by ones that we currently do not see or that 
simply don’t exist yet. This has implications for how the 
finance professional learns and develops new skills. We will 
need to become adaptive learners, requiring more frequent 
skills and knowledge upgrades. Our organizational value 
moves from ‘expertise’ to one of ‘agility’ and continuous 
reinvention. 
 
The constant need to fail fast and relearn in a complex 
world, and the frequent upgrade of our skills, plays to the 
strength of the lifelong learning philosophy of the finance 
professional. It highlights the ever-growing importance of 
continuing professional development and education on the 
quest to finding out what we don’t know. 
 
The need for growth mindsets and continued learning was 
strongly articulated in our interviews. An interviewee from 
an international bank told us: “Finance people need a 
mindset that enables them to adapt through continuous 
learning. They need to learn, unlearn and relearn in a 
continuous loop”. Another individual in the aerospace and 
automotive sector talked about the finance function having 
“a business enablement mindset”. Here, their primary role is 
a solutions focus, while ensuring compliance is not 
compromised. Finally, in a conversation with a banking 
representative, the finance function mindset was labeled, 
“techno-functional and techno-commercial”. 
 
Here, they used a creative and questioning style to 
understand disruption, in order to help the organization 
continually adapt. Some of the multinational organizations 
we spoke with have implemented rotation programmes for 
finance staff. This allows the finance professional to learn 
and gain skills in different areas of the organization or on 
projects that sit outside their accounting roles. It widens 
their end-to-end business knowledge and gives them the 
flexibility to work across the organization, embedding 
specialist wisdom. One participant described the finance 
professional’s role as “a transformation agent, to steer the 
organization through the risks of a digital revolution”. In 
this organization, the role has become focused on improving 
shareholder value by building organizational resilience and 
agility. 
 
In one interview, an employee at a US multinational 
technology company described the finance function as “the 
playground of problems”. They explained that it was best to 
spend time playing with an issue or problem, so as to better 
understand it. Here the openness to experiment through the 
curious eyes of a child challenges our pre-learned 
assumptions and skills to find the most innovative solutions. 
Changing competencies and automation 
 
The CGMA (Chartered Global Management Accountants) 
competency framework (Figure 2) is based on what 
organizations expect finance professionals to do. Finance 
professionals are expected to perform accounting and 
finance activities within the context of the organizations in 
which they operate. They are expected to influence the 
decisions, actions and behaviors of their colleagues within 

their organizations and outside it, and to provide 

leadership at all levels. To do this, they need accounting and 
finance skills, business acumen, people skills and leadership 
skills. 
The framework is underpinned by the need for objectivity, 
integrity and ethical behavior, and includes a commitment to 
continually acquire new skills and knowledge.  
 
Figure 2: The 2015 CGMA Competency Framework 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1. Technical skills: guardians of the automated finance 
process and accounting algorithm 

The movement from ‘knowledge’ to ‘meaning’ makes the 
competencies within the technical skills area highly 
susceptible to automation. A 2017 McKinsey report into 
where machines could replace humans demonstrates the shift. 
Their research examined groups of occupational activities and 
ranked them according to their susceptibility to automation. 
Work activities at risk of automation include data collection, 
data processing and predictable physical work. Less 
automatable activities include managing others, applying 
expertise, stakeholder interactions and unpredictable physical 
work. McKinsey’s forecast is: ‘while few occupations are 
fully automatable, 60 per cent of all occupations have at least 
30 per cent technically automatable activities’. 
 
Figure 3: McKinsey’s report into the technical potential 
for automation in the US 
 

 
Estimates of extent to which different types of roles could be 
automated; Source: McKinsey 
 

CGMA®  Competency Framework 
 

Ethics, integrity and professionalism 
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For finance professionals, some of their core accounting and 
finance skills are at risk of becoming automated (Figure 3) 
into algorithms and software systems. This means that, 
rather than being focused at foundational and intermediate 
proficiency levels, finance professionals of the future will 
need to concentrate on applying higher-level expertise. They 
will become the guardians or policemen for the automated 
finance process and accounting algorithm. 
 
2. BUSINESS SKILLS: KNOWLEDGE OF DATA 
SOURCES, ANALYTICAL SKILLS AND JUDGMENT 
Here, business acumen skills are less susceptible to 
technological automation. The future focus needs to centre 
on a good knowledge of data sources, analytical skills and 
judgment. This includes commercial curiosity and an 
ongoing drive to better understand and learn more about the 
organization and its ecosystem. 
 
3. PEOPLE SKILLS: BUILDING EMPATHY AND 
INTERACTIONS WITH STAKEHOLDERS 
 
Management accountants are often deployed to work 
alongside business unit managers in business value 
partnering roles, to bring professional rigor to performance 
management. Recent CGMA research found that the 
objectivity they bring and the questions they ask can prompt 
those collaborative conversations needed to generate 
insights and improve performance. However, this 
collaboration requires business understanding and 
influencing skills. The future focus needs to be on building 
empathy and interactions with stakeholders, as these are less 
susceptible to automation and will drive valuable business 
insight. 
 
4. Leadership skills: team building, mentoring, driving 
performance and change management 

Leadership skills – which centre on team building, coaching 
and mentoring, driving performance, change management, 
and the ability to motivate and inspire – are the least 
susceptible to automation. This is borne out in the 
McKinsey research, where ‘managing others’ has a mere 
nine per cent chance of becoming an automatable activity. 
 
What’s clear is that finance professionals’ core 
competencies will need to adapt as the intelligence 
augmentation model embeds into the finance function. 
There also needs to be a shift in mindset. We must all have 
the curiosity to find out what we don’t know, be able 
continually to ask the right kind of questions, and actively 
challenge our own opinions, as we proceed to the future. 
 
THE FUTURE OF FINANCE: JOIN US ON OUR 
JOURNEY 
 
Our briefings on these emerging themes will enable us to 
discuss a new delivery model for modern finance, with 
certain key features. Ultimately, all organizations face the 
same obstacles of building capacity, competence and 
credibility within their future finance functions. 
The difference is that some organizations are innovators on 

the journey to the future, while others are lagging 

behind. With this research, we want to help more 
organizations to lead from the front. 
 
The keys to transformation 
 
Based on our interviews, it appears that an organization’s top 
priorities to transform its finance function should be to: 

a. Make use of the latest technologies to release the full 
capacity of the finance function, 

b. Widen the remit of finance to cover a broader range 
of management information, generating new insights 
and business solutions, 

c. Provide and empower finance professionals with new 
competencies and growth mindsets to help your 
organization create and preserve value. 

That’s what this project is all about. 
 
So, armed with this briefing, why not start a conversation on 
the future of finance in your organization? Read one or all of 
our briefing papers on emerging themes and share them within 
your network. 
 
You can then ask yourself: 
 
How do the emerging themes resonate in your organization? 
Where are you and your organization on the journey to 
realizing the finance function of the future? 
 
How, in the light of these themes, will you reconsider your 
strategies to meet the future finance function’s innovative 
mandate? 
 
Five things you can do in light of this briefing 
 
1. Allow yourself to build time into your working life for 
contemplation and the construction of good questions. A good 
question has the ability to inspire people to think and act. 
When paired with technology, it can lead to disruptive 
innovation for your organization. 
 
2. Consider enhancing your skills around empathy, and social 
and emotional intelligence. These skills are currently 
underused and difficult to replicate in machine learning 
technologies. What’s more, they’re increasingly becoming the 
core skills of the finance professional. 
In order to advise and influence decision makers and achieve 
impact, it’s important to develop your collaboration and 
partnering skills. 
 
3. Encourage yourself to learn from and reward failure. 
Failure is a route to innovation and success, so it’s useful to 
develop a habit of observing your assumptions and reviewing 
them continually. In a world where technology is likely to 
replace us in the dull, repeatable, tactical tasks, we will be 
freed up to learn, innovate and play. 
 
4. Place priority on building your social networks. 
These networks can be as important as official hierarchies 
when influencing decision making, and they are also helpful 
in challenging long-held assumptions. 
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5. To help us develop a knowledge-sharing community, 
please do get in touch to share your experiences, 
observations and opinions with us. 
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INTERNAIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARD FOR SMALL AND MEDIUM-SIZED 
ENTITIES (IFRS FOR SMES) 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
IFRS for SMEs is a modification and simplification of full 
IFRS aimed at meeting the needs of private company financial 
reporting users and easing the financial reporting burden on 
private companies through a cost-benefits approach. IFRS for 
SMEs is a self-contained global accounting and financial 
reporting standard applicable to the general purpose financial 
reporting by, entities that in many countries are known as 
small and medium sized entities. 
 
The basic objectives of IFRS for SMEs are to ensure entities 
that are not of the size nor have resources to use full IFRS are 
not left out in the international financial reporting guideline. 
This is because SMEs form part of the business community 
and are very important to the economic development of a 
nation, therefore need a good international standard for 
reporting their activities. Stakeholders (government, investor 
etc.) also need appropriate information concerning their 
activities. 
 
As such, a significant need existed for an accounting and 
financial reporting standard for SMEs that would meet the 
needs of their financial statement users while balancing the 
costs and benefits from a preparer perspective. IFRS for 
SMES was designed to meet that need. 
 
The IFRS for SMEs 
 
The IASB (International Accounting Standard Board) 
develops and issues a separate Standard intended to  apply  to  
the  general purpose financial  statements  of,  and  other  
financial  reporting  by,  entities that in many countries are 
referred to by a  variety  of  terms, including small and 
medium-sized entities (SMEs), private entities and non-
publicly accountable entities. That Standard is the 
International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and 
Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs). The IFRS for SMEs 
is based on full IFRS with modifications to reflect the needs 
of users of SMEs’ financial statements and cost-benefit 
considerations. The term small and medium-sized entities as 
used by the IASB is defined as: Small and medium-sized 
entities are entities that: Do not have public accountability; 
and Publish general purpose financial statements for external 
users. Examples of external users include owners who are not 
involved in managing the business, existing and potential 
creditors, and credit rating agencies. 
Many jurisdictions around the world have developed their 
own definitions of SMEs for a broad range of purposes 
including prescribing financial reporting obligations. Often 
those national or regional definitions include quantified 
criteria based on revenue, assets, employees or other factors. 
Frequently, the term SMEs is used to mean or to include very 
small entities without regard to whether they publish general 
purpose financial statements for external users. 
SMEs often produce financial statements only for the use of 
owner-managers or only for the use of tax authorities or other 
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governmental authorities. Financial statements produced 
solely for those purposes are not necessarily general purpose 
financial statements. Tax laws are specific to each 
jurisdiction, and the objectives of general purpose financial 
reports differ from the objectives of reporting taxable profit. 
Thus, financial statements prepared in conformity with the 
IFRS for SMEs are unlikely  to comply fully with all of the 
measurements  required  by  a  jurisdiction’s  tax  laws and 
regulations. A jurisdiction may be able to lessen the ‘dual 
reporting burden’ on SMEs by structuring tax reports as 
reconciliations from the profit or   loss determined in 
accordance with the IFRS for SMEs and by other means.  
 
Authority of the IFRS for SMEs 
 
Decisions on which entities are required or permitted to use 
the IASB’s Standards rest with legislative and regulatory 
authorities and standard-setters in individual jurisdictions.  

 
This is true for full IFRS which are used by incorporated 
companies or organization and for the IFRS for SMEs. 
However, a clear definition of the class of entity for which the 
IFRS for SMEs is intended, as set out in Section One (1) of 
the full IFRS for SMEs downloadable at www.ifrs.org of the 
Standard and is essential so that: 
 
The IASB can decide on the accounting and disclosure 
requirements that are appropriate for that class of entity; and 
 
The legislative and regulatory authorities, standard-setters and 
reporting entities and their auditors will be informed of the 
intended scope of applicability of the IFRS for SMEs. 
A clear definition is also essential so that entities that are not 
small or medium-sized entities, and therefore are not eligible 
to use the IFRS for SMEs, do not assert that they are in 
compliance with it. 

MAINTENANCE OF THE IFRS FOR SMES 
The IASB expects to propose amendments to the IFRS for 
SMEs by publishing an omnibus Exposure Draft 
periodically, but not more frequently than approximately 
once every three years. In developing those Exposure 
Drafts, it expects to consider new and amended full IFRS 
Standards as well as specific issues that have been brought 
to its attention regarding application of the IFRS      for 
SMEs. On occasion, the IASB may identify an urgent matter 
for which amendment of the IFRS for SMEs may need to be 
considered outside the periodic review process. However, 
such occasions are expected to be rare. 
 
Until the IFRS for SMEs is amended, any changes that the 
IASB may make or propose with respect to full IFRS do not 
apply to the IFRS for SMEs. The IFRS for SMEs is a stand-
alone document. SMEs shall not anticipate  or  apply  
changes made in full IFRS before those changes are 
incorporated into the IFRS for SMEs unless, in the absence 
of specific guidance in the IFRS for SMEs, an SME chooses 
to apply guidance in full IFRS and those principles  do  not  
conflict  with  requirements in the hierarchy in paragraphs. 
 
The IASB expects that there will be a period of at least one 
year between when amendments to the IFRS for SMEs are 
issued and the effective date of those amendments. 
Summary Sections of the International Financial 
Reporting Standard (IFRS) for Small and Medium-sized 
Entities 
 
IFRS for SMEs is arrange in sections and below are the 
sections for clear understanding: 
SECTION 1: SMALL AND MEDIUM-SIZED ENTITIES 
The IFRS for SMEs is intended for use by small and 
medium-sized entities (SMEs). This section describes the 
characteristics of SMEs. 
SECTION 2 CONCEPTS AND PERVASIVE PRINCIPLES 
This section describes the objective of financial statements 
of small and medium-sized entities (SMEs) and the qualities 
that make the information in the financial statements of 
SMEs useful. It also sets out the concepts and basic 
principles underlying the financial statements of SMEs. 
 

SECTION 3 FINANCIAL STATEMENT 
PRESENTATION 
This section explains fair presentation of financial statements, 
what compliance with the IFRS for SMEs requires and what a 
complete set of financial statements is. 
SECTION 4 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
This section sets out the information that is to be presented in 
a statement of financial position and how to present it. The 
statement of financial position (sometimes called the balance 
sheet) presents an entity’s assets, liabilities and equity as of a 
specific date. Usually, the end of the reporting period. 
SECTION 5 STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME AND INCOME STATEMENT 
This section requires an entity to present its total 
comprehensive income for a period i.e. its financial 
performance for the period, in one or two financial statements. 
It sets out the information that is to be presented in those 
statements and how to present it. 
SECTION 6 STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
AND STATEMENT OF INCOME AND RETAINED 
EARNINGS 
This section sets out requirements for presenting the changes 
in an entity’s equity for a period, either in a statement of 
changes in equity or, if specified conditions are met and an 
entity chooses, in a statement of income and retained earnings. 
SECTION 7 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
This section sets out the information that is to be presented in 
a statement of cash flows and how to present it. The statement 
of cash flows provides information about the changes in cash 
and cash equivalents of an entity for a reporting period, 
showing separately changes from operating activities, 
investing activities and financing activities. 
SECTION 8 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
This section sets out the principles underlying information 
that is to be presented in the notes to the financial statements 
and how to present it.  Notes contain information in addition 
to that presented in the statement of financial position, the 
statement of comprehensive  income (if  presented), the 
income statement (if presented), the combined statement of 
income and retained earnings (if presented), the statement of 
changes in equity (if presented) and the statement of cash 
flows. Notes provide narrative descriptions or disaggregations 
of items presented in those statements and information about 
items that do not qualify for recognition in those statements. 
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In addition to the requirements of this section, nearly every 
other section of this Standard requires disclosures that are 
normally presented in the notes. 
SECTION 9 CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
This section defines the circumstances in which an entity 
applying this Standard presents consolidated financial 
statements and the procedures for preparing those statements 
in accordance with this Standard. It also includes guidance 
on separate financial statements and combined financial   
statements if they are prepared in accordance with this 
Standard. If a parent entity by itself does not have public 
accountability, it may present its separate financial 
statements in accordance with this Standard, even if it 
presents its consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with full IFRS or another set of generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP). 
SECTION 10 ACCOUNTING POLICIES, ESTIMATES 
AND ERRORS 
This section provides guidance for selecting and applying 
the accounting policies used in preparing financial 
statements. It also covers changes in accounting estimates 
and corrections of errors in prior period financial statements. 
SECTION 11 BASIC FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
Section 11 and Section 12 Other Financial Instrument Issues 
together deal with recognizing, derecognizing, measuring 
and disclosing financial instruments (financial assets and 
financial liabilities).  Section 11 applies to basic financial 
instruments and is relevant to all entities. Section 12 applies 
to other, more complex financial instruments and 
transactions. If an entity enters into only basic financial 
instrument transactions then Section 12 is not applicable. 
However, even entities with only basic financial instruments 
shall consider the scope of Section 12 to ensure they are 
exempt. 
SECTION 12 OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT 
ISSUES 
Section 11 Basic Financial Instruments and Section 12 
together deal with recognizing, derecognizing, measuring 
and disclosing financial instruments (financial assets and 
financial liabilities).  Section 11 applies to basic financial 
instruments and is relevant to all entities. Section 12 applies 
to other, more complex financial instruments and 
transactions. If an entity enters into only basic financial 
instrument transactions then Section 12 is not applicable. 
However, even entities with only basic financial instruments 
shall consider the scope of Section 12 to ensure they are 
exempt. 
SECTION 13 INVENTORIES 
This section sets out the principles for recognizing and 
measuring inventories. Inventories are assets: Held for sale 
in the ordinary course of business; In the process of 
production for such sale; or In the form of materials or 
supplies to be consumed in the production process or in the 
rendering of services. This section applies to all inventories, 
except: Work in progress arising under construction 
contracts, including directly related service contracts (see 
Section 23 Revenue); Financial instruments (see Section 11 
Basic Financial Instruments and Section 12 Other Financial 
Instrument Issues); and Biological assets related to 
agricultural activity and agricultural produce at the point of 

harvest (see Section 34 Specialized Activities). 

This section does not apply to the measurement of inventories 
held by: Producers of agricultural and forest products, 
agricultural produce after harvest, and minerals and mineral 
products, to the extent that they are measured at fair value less 
costs to sell through profit or loss; or Commodity brokers and 
dealers that measure their inventories at fair value less costs to 
sell through profit or loss. 
SECTION 14: INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 
This section applies to accounting for associates in 
consolidated financial statements and in the financial 
statements of an investor that is not a parent but that has an 
investment in one or more associates. Paragraph 9.26 
establishes the requirements for accounting for associates in 
separate financial statements. 
SECTION 15: INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 
This section applies to accounting for joint ventures in 
consolidated financial statements and in the financial 
statements of an investor that is not a parent but that has a 
venturer’s interest in one or more joint ventures. Paragraph 
9.26 establishes the requirements for accounting for a 
venturer’s interest in a joint venture in separate financial 
statements. 
SECTION 16: INVESTMENT PROPERTY 
This section applies to accounting for investments in land or 
buildings that meet the definition of investment property in 
paragraph 16.2 and some property interests held by a lessee 
under an operating lease (see paragraph 16.3 of the full 
document) that are treated like investment property. Only 
investment property whose fair value can be measured 
reliably without undue cost or effort on an ongoing basis is 
accounted for in accordance with this section at fair value 
through profit or loss. All other investment property is 
accounted for using the cost model in Section 17 Property, 
Plant and Equipment and remains within the scope of Section 
17 unless a reliable measure of fair value becomes available 
and it is expected that fair value will be reliably measurable 
on an ongoing basis. 
SECTION 17: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
This section applies to accounting for property, plant and 
equipment and accounting for investment property whose fair 
value cannot be measured reliably without undue cost or effort 
on an ongoing basis. Section 16 Investment Property applies 
to investment property whose fair value can be measured 
reliably without undue cost or effort. Property, plant and 
equipment are tangible assets that: Are held for use in the 
production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, 
or for administrative purposes; and Are expected to be used 
during more than one period.  Property, plant and equipment 
does not include: Biological assets related to agricultural 
activity (see Section 34 Specialised Activities); or Mineral 
rights and mineral reserves, such as oil, natural gas and 
similar non-regenerative resources. 
SECTION 18: INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER THAN 
GOODWILL 
This  section  applies  to  accounting  for  all  intangible  
assets  other   than   goodwill (see Section 19 Business 
Combinations and Goodwill) and intangible assets held by an 
entity for sale in the ordinary course of business (see Section 
13 Inventories and Section 23 Revenue). An intangible asset 
is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical 
substance. Such an asset is identifiable when: 
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It is separable, i.e. capable of being separated or divided 
from the entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or 
exchanged, either individually or together with a related 
contract, asset or liability; or It arises from contractual or 
other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are 
transferable or separable from the entity or from other rights 
and obligations. This section does not apply to the 
following: Financial assets; or mineral rights and mineral 
reserves, such as oil, natural gas and similar non-
regenerative resources. 
SECTION 19: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND 
GOODWILL 
This section applies to accounting for business 
combinations. It provides guidance on identifying the 
acquirer, measuring the cost of the business combination 
and allocating that cost to the assets acquired and liabilities 
and provisions for contingent liabilities assumed.  It also 
addresses accounting for goodwill both at the time of a 
business combination and subsequently. This section 
specifies the accounting for all business combinations 
except: Combinations of entities or businesses under 
common control. Common control means that all of the 
combining entities or businesses are ultimately controlled by 
the same party or parties both before and after the business 
combination, and that control is not transitory. The 
formation of a joint venture.  Acquisition of a group of 
assets that do not constitute a business. 
 
SECTION 20: LEASES 
This section covers accounting for all leases other than: 
Leases to explore for or use minerals, oil, natural gas and 
similar non-regenerative resources (see Section 34 
Specialized Activities); Licensing agreements for such items 
as motion picture films, video recordings, plays, 
manuscripts, patents and copyrights (see Section 18 
Intangible Assets other than Goodwill); Measurement of 
property held by lessees that is accounted for as investment 
property and measurement of investment  property  provided 
by lessors under operating leases (see Section 16 Investment 
Property); Measurement of biological assets held by lessees 
under finance leases and biological assets provided by 
lessors under operating leases (see Section 34); Leases that 
could lead to a loss to the lessor or the lessee as a result of 
contractual terms that are unrelated to changes in the price 
of the leased asset, changes in foreign exchange rates, 
changes in lease payments based on variable market interest 
rates, or a default by one of the counterparties (see 
paragraph 12.3(f) of the full document); and Operating 
leases that are onerous. This section applies to agreements 
that transfer the right to use assets even though substantial 
services by the lessor may be called for in connection with 
the operation or maintenance of such assets. This section 
does not apply to agreements that are contracts for services 
that do not transfer the right to use assets from one 
contracting party to the other. Some arrangements, such as 
some outsourcing arrangements, telecommunication 
contracts that provide rights to capacity and take-or-pay 
contracts, do not take the legal form of a lease but convey 
rights to use assets in return for payments. Such 
arrangements are in substance leases of assets and they shall 
be accounted for under this section. 

 

SECTION 21: PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES 
This section applies to all provisions (i.e. liabilities of 
uncertain timing or amount), contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets except those provisions covered by other 
sections of this Standard. These include provisions relating to: 
Leases (Section 20 Leases). However, this section deals with 
operating leases that have become onerous. Construction 
contracts (Section 23 Revenue). However this section deals 
with construction contracts that have become onerous. 
Employee benefit obligations (Section 28 Employee Benefits). 
Income tax (Section 29 Income Tax). The requirements in this 
section do not apply to executory contracts unless they are 
onerous contracts. Executory contracts are contracts under 
which neither party has performed any of its obligations or 
both parties have partially performed their obligations to an 
equal extent. The word ‘provision’ is sometimes used in the 
context of such items as depreciation, impairment of assets 
and uncollectable receivables. Those are adjustments of the 
carrying amounts of assets, instead of recognition of 
liabilities, and therefore are not covered by this section. 
SECTION 22: LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
This section establishes principles for classifying financial 
instruments as either liabilities or equity and addresses 
accounting for equity instruments issued to individuals or 
other parties acting in their capacity as investors in equity 
instruments (i.e. in their capacity as owners). Section 26 
Share-based Payment addresses accounting for a transaction 
in which the entity receives goods or services (including 
employee services) as consideration for its equity instruments 
(including shares or share options) from employees and other  
vendors acting in their capacity as vendors of goods and 
services.This section shall be applied when classifying all 
types of financial instruments except: Those interests in 
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures that are accounted 
for in accordance with Section 9 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements, Section 14 Investments in Associates or 
Section 15 Interests in Joint Ventures. Employers’ rights and 
obligations under employee benefit plans, to which Section 28 
Employee Benefits applies. Contracts for contingent 
consideration in a business combination (see Section 19 
Business Combinations and Goodwill). This exemption 
applies only to the acquirer. Financial instruments, contracts 
and obligations under share-based payment transactions to 
which Section 26 applies, except that paragraphs 22.3–22.6 
(see the full document) shall be applied to treasury shares 
purchased, sold, issued or cancelled in connection with 
employee share option plans, employee share purchase plans 
and all other share-based payment arrangements. 
SECTION 23: REVENUE 
This section shall be applied in accounting for revenue arising 
from the following transactions and events: The sale of goods 
(whether produced by the entity for the purpose of sale or 
purchased for resale); The rendering of services; 
Construction contracts in which the entity is the contractor; 
and The use by others of entity assets yielding interest, 
royalties or dividends. Revenue or other income arising from 
some transactions and events is dealt with in other sections of 
this Standard: Lease agreements (see Section 20 Leases); 
Dividends and other income arising from investments that are 
accounted    for using the equity method (see Section 14 
Investments in Associates and Section 15 Investments in Joint 
Ventures); 
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Changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial 
liabilities    or their disposal (see Section 11 Basic Financial 
Instruments and Section 12 Other Financial Instrument 
Issues); Changes in the fair value of investment property 
(see Section 16 Investment Property); Initial recognition and 
changes in the fair value of biological assets related to 
agricultural activity (see Section 34 Specialized Activities); 
and Initial recognition of agricultural produce (see Section 
34). 
 
SECTION 24: GOVERNMENT GRANTS 
This section specifies the accounting for all government 
grants. A government grant is assistance by government in 
the form of a transfer of resources to an entity in return for 
past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to 
the operating activities of the entity. Government grants 
exclude those forms of government assistance that cannot 
reasonably have a value placed upon them and transactions 
with government that cannot be distinguished from the 
normal trading transactions of the entity. This section does 
not cover government assistance that is provided for an 
entity in the form of benefits that are available in 
determining taxable profit or tax  loss, or are determined or 
limited on the basis of income tax liability. Examples of 
such benefits are income tax holidays, investment tax 
credits, accelerated depreciation allowances and reduced 
income tax rates. Section 29 Income Tax covers accounting 
for taxes based on income. 
SECTION 25: BORROWING COSTS 
This section specifies the accounting for borrowing costs. 
Borrowing costs are interest and other costs that an entity 
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 
Borrowing costs include: 
Interest expense calculated using  the  effective  interest  
method  as  described in Section 11 Basic Financial 
Instruments; 
Finance charges in respect of finance leases  recognized  in  
accordance  with Section 20 Leases; and 
Exchange differences arising from foreign currency 
borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an 
adjustment to interest costs. 
SECTION 26: SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
This section specifies the accounting for all share-based 
payment transactions including those that are equity or cash-
settled or those in which the terms of the arrangement 
provide a choice of whether the entity settles the transaction 
in cash (or other assets) or by issuing equity instruments. 
A. A share-based payment transaction may be settled 
by another group entity (or a shareholder of any group 
entity) on behalf of the entity receiving the goods or 
services. This section also applies to an entity that: 
Receives goods or services when another entity in the same 
group (or a shareholder of any group entity) has the 
obligation to settle the share-based payment transaction; or 
Has an obligation to settle a share-based payment 
transaction when another entity in the same group receives 
the goods or services unless the transaction is clearly for a 
purpose other than the payment for goods or services 
supplied to the entity receiving them. 
B. In the absence of specifically identifiable goods or 
services, other circumstances may indicate that goods or 

services have been (or will be) received, in which case this 
section applies (see paragraph 26.17). 
Cash-settled share-based payment transactions include share 
appreciation rights. For example, an entity might grant share 
appreciation rights to employees as part of their remuneration 
package, whereby the employees will become entitled to a 
future cash payment (instead of an equity instrument), based 
on the increase in the entity’s share price from a specified 
level over a specified period of time. Or an entity might grant 
to its employees a right to receive a future cash payment by 
granting to them a right to shares (including shares to be 
issued upon the exercise of share options) that are redeemable, 
either mandatorily (for example, upon cessation of 
employment) or at the  employee’s option. 
 
SECTION 27: IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS 
An impairment loss occurs when the carrying amount of an 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. This section shall be 
applied in accounting for the impairment of all assets other 
than the following, for which other sections of this Standard 
establish impairment requirements: 
Deferred tax assets (see Section 29 Income Tax); 
Assets arising from employee benefits (see Section 28 
Employee Benefits); 
Financial assets within the scope of Section 11 Basic 
Financial Instruments or Section 12 Other Financial 
Instrument Issues; 
Investment property measured at fair value (see Section 16 
Investment Property); 
Biological assets related to agricultural activity  measured  at  
fair  value less estimated costs to sell (see Section 34 
Specialised Activities); and 
Assets arising from construction contracts (see Section 23 
Revenue). 
SECTION 28: EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an 
entity in exchange for service rendered by employees, 
including directors and management. This section applies to 
all employee benefits, except for share-based payment 
transactions, which are covered by Section 26 Share-based 
Payment. Employee benefits covered by this section will be 
one of the following four types: 
Short-term employee benefits, which are employee benefits 
(other than termination benefits) that are wholly due within 
twelve months after the end of the period in which the 
employees render the related service; 
Post-employment benefits, which are employee benefits (other 
than termination benefits) that are payable after the 
completion of employment; 
Other long-term employee benefits, which are employee 
benefits (other than post-employment benefits and termination 
benefits) that are not wholly due within twelve months after 
the end of the period in which  the employees render the 
related service; and Termination benefits, which are employee 
benefits payable as a result of either: 
An entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment 
before the normal retirement date; or 
An employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in 
exchange for those benefits. 
Employee benefits also include share-based payment 
transactions by which employees receive equity instruments 
(such as shares or share options) or cash or other assets of the 
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entity in amounts that are based on the price of the entity’s 
shares or other equity instruments of the entity. An entity 
shall apply Section 26 in accounting for share-based 
payment transactions. 
SECTION 29: INCOME TAX 
For the purpose of this Standard, income tax includes all 
domestic and foreign taxes that are based on taxable profit. 
Income tax also includes taxes, such as withholding taxes, 
that are payable by a subsidiary, associate or joint venture 
on distributions to the reporting entity. 
This section covers accounting for income tax. It requires an 
entity to recognize the current and future tax consequences 
of transactions and other events that have been recognized in 
the financial statements. These recognized tax amounts 
comprise current tax and deferred tax. Current tax is income 
tax payable (recoverable) in respect of the taxable profit (tax 
loss) for the current period or past periods. Deferred tax is 
income tax payable or recoverable in future periods, 
generally as a result of the entity recovering or settling its 
assets and liabilities for their current carrying amount, and 
the tax effect of the carry forward of currently unused tax 
losses and tax credits. 
This section does not deal with the methods of accounting 
for government grants (see Section 24 Government Grants). 
However, this section does deal with the accounting for 
temporary differences that may arise from such grants. 
SECTION 30: FOREIGN CURRENCY 
TRANSLATION 
An entity can conduct foreign activities in two ways. It may 
have transactions in foreign currencies or it may have 
foreign operations. In addition, an entity may present its 
financial statements in a foreign currency. This section 
prescribes how to include foreign currency transactions and 
foreign operations in the financial statements of an entity 
and how to translate financial statements into a presentation 
currency.  Accounting for financial instruments that derive 
their value from the change in a specified foreign exchange 
rate (for example, foreign currency forward exchange 
contracts) and hedge accounting of foreign currency items 
are dealt with in Section 12 Other Financial Instrument 
Issues. 
SECTION 31: HYPERINFLATION 
This section applies to an entity whose functional currency 
is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy. It requires 
such an entity to prepare financial statements that have been 
adjusted for the effects of hyperinflation. 
SECTION 32: EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 
This section defines events after the end of the reporting 
period and sets out principles for recognizing, measuring 
and disclosing those events. 
SECTION 33: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
This section requires an entity to include in its financial 
statements the disclosures necessary to draw attention to the 
possibility that its financial position and profit or loss have 
been affected by the existence of related parties and by 
transactions and outstanding balances with such parties. 
SECTION 34: SPECIALIZED ACTIVITIES 
This section provides guidance on financial reporting by 
SMEs involved in three types of specialized activities; 
agriculture, extractive activities, and service concessions. 

 

SECTION 35: TRANSITION TO THE IFRS FOR SMES 
This section applies to a first-time adopter of the IFRS for 
SMEs, regardless of whether its previous accounting 
framework was full IFRS or another set of generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP) such as its national accounting 
standards or another framework such as the local income tax 
basis. 
An entity that has applied the IFRS for SMEs in a previous 
reporting period, but whose most recent previous annual 
financial statements did not contain an explicit and unreserved 
statement of compliance with the IFRS for SMEs, must either 
apply this section or apply the IFRS for SMEs retrospectively 
in accordance with Section 10 Accounting Policies, Estimates 
and Errors as if the entity had never stopped applying the 
IFRS for SMEs. When such an entity does not elect to apply 
this section, it is still required to apply the disclosure 
requirements in paragraph 35.12A in addition to the disclosure 
requirements in Section 10. 
 
CONCLUSION 
The final IFRS for SMEs (together with the basis for 
conclusions, illustrative financial statements, and a 
presentation and disclosure checklist) can be obtained without 
charge from the isab.org/IFRS+for+SMEs or www.ifrs.org. 
 
Prepared by: 
Orshi Terhemba Ephraim AAT, ACILRM, ACA 
 
THE CHANGING ROLE AND MANDATE OF FINANCE 
Peter Simons,  
Associate Technical Director of Research – 
Management Accounting,  
Head of Future of Finance Research 
Association of International Certified Professional 
Accountants (AICPA) 

Abstract 
 
This briefing paper will: 

i. Explore the basic activities that are the essential 
DNA of every finance function. These are the 
building blocks that make the changing mandate of 
finance possible. 

ii. Explain the broad roles within the finance function. 
This will enable you to see where your finance 
function lies in its journey to realizing the changing 
mandate. 

iii. Explore how the finance function must transform in 
order to meet the changing mandate. 

Recognizing the Changing Mandate 
Our research shows that the finance function has a mandate to 
go beyond its core accounting role. This changing mandate 
doesn’t discard core accounting; it’s still an essential 
foundation of the finance function. However, enabled by new 
technologies, the function is now capable of assessing a 
broader range of information and becoming a more influential 
player within an organization. It’s time to step up and occupy 
the space that senior finance and non-finance people – as 
revealed in interviews with us – believe the finance function 
of the future must own.  
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To some, this isn’t anything new; their finance functions are 
already there. Others who are used to the finance function 
working in isolation, however, find it daunting. This reflects 
our findings that one organization’s current mandate is 
another organization’s past. As part of our ongoing research 
into the future of finance, we aim to emphasize a 
harmonious approach and best practice so that practitioners, 
organizations and finance functions evolve to reap the 
benefits of the changing mandate. 
 
The mandate, articulated in interview and roundtable 
research, sees the finance function contributing more to 
organizational leadership – as a guardian of the business 
model and value. This is a broader, more strategic mandate, 
where finance defines, enables and articulates how an 
organization creates and preserves value.  Consequently, the 
finance function changes from being a centre that simply 
generates products, such as reports, budgets and plans, to a 
function that works with its customers to provide innovative 
experiences that deliver organization-wide value. This 
includes engaging with external stakeholders and building 
new relationships in the organization’s ecosystem, to 
redefine the business model for the digital age.  
 
Parker, Van Alstyne & Choudary, note that: Finance is 
shifting its focus from shareholder value and discounted 
cash flows of assets owned by the firm to stakeholder value 
and the role of interactions that take place outside the firm. 
 
Defining the Changing Mandate 
 
 “Finance is playing a strategic role for an organization in 
transition”. 
 
This is what one employee at a South African telecoms 
company told us during our interview research. They 
explained that the future mandate for the finance function 
will move away from pure reporting and instead develop 
and deploy solutions for an organization. 
Another interviewee explained how, through value 
partnering, the finance function has evolved beyond 
bookkeeping to carry out more strategic organizational 
thinking. More respondents revealed that their finance 
functions had been transformed so that the management 
accounting  
discipline in their business enables value generation. 
 
This emerging mandate is based on a twin belief: firstly, that 
the finance function has a unique end-to-end view of an 
organization; and secondly, that the Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) has the business understanding to work alongside the 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) as a co-pilot.  
The finance function is well-positioned to meet the changing 
mandate for a number of reasons:  

i. It is uniquely situated with an overview of the 
business, as every activity has a financial 
consequence, 

ii. Its accounting information is trusted; it is auditable 
and reconcilable with financial realities, 

iii. Management accounting already provides the 
framework for performance management, 

iv. The accounting profession has credibility and plays a 
leading role in stewardship, 

v. Finance is a rational, measured discipline, which 
brings evidence-based rigor and professional 
objectivity to decision-making. 

 
The changing role of finance: from core basic activities to 
custodians of organizational value 
 
Historically, the finance function’s mandate was to focus on 
organizational efficiencies and reduce operational costs. In 
many organizations, this focus has heralded lean operational 
processes, and now there is no more fat to trim. Technology is 
also at a point where machines can be left to monitor process-
costing and highlight patterns of efficiency. This allows the 
finance function to refocus its energy on revenue and value 
creation. Now, it’s time to take on the role, working with 
others across the organization, to drive business 
transformation that creates shareholder value. To do this, 
finance functions must build on their basic activities. And 
they must find new capacity and capability, so they can fulfill 
the broader roles that interviewees in our research are 
demanding.  
 
1. BASIC FINANCE ACTIVITIES: FROM INFORMATION 
TO IMPACT 
 
Peel back the layers of the finance function and at its heart 
you will find the basic activities – the function’s DNA. 
Whether you are assessing finance risk, reconciling accounts 
or compiling management information reports, the process 
activities remain constant. 
Figure 1: Basic finance activities: from information to 
impact 
 

 
 
The function’s basic activities (Figure 1) are: 
 
Assembling information: the finance function assembles data 
from a range of sources – collecting, cleaning and connecting 
data into assembled information. As well as preparing 
accounts and returns in prescribed formats for external 
reporting, the function prepares management information in 
accessible formats for managers.  
 
Analyzing for insights: the finance function analyses both 
financial and non-financial information to draw out patterns 
and relevant insights for its customers. Advising to influence: 
the finance function then communicates these insights and 
contributes an objective, responsible perspective to influence 
decision-making. 
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Applying for impact: to guide actions and help ensure 
organizations achieve the required impact, they enable and 
use control systems, such as strategic planning, budgeting, 
performance measures and performance reviews. 
 
Acumen: the finance function ensures it assembles valuable 
information to inform the consideration of subsequent 
proposals – information ranging from reports to analysis of 
the outcomes achieved or experiences gained from relevant 
initiatives.  
 
Together, these basic activities are the backbone of the 
changing mandate and are performed regularly by finance 
professionals under the broad finance function roles. 
 
2. Broad Finance Roles 
 
Insight into the broad finance roles came from an interview 
with a CFO at one of the Big Four accounting firms, who 
explained: 
 
“In the future, the finance function will need to be more 
involved in developing solutions with the rest of the 
organization. This is because the function initiates the root 
cause analysis, and has the understanding that links through 
to developing solutions. Once the finance function is 
working with others, it must also move into deploying 
solutions. Both of these broad areas will require a change in 
skills focus, from technical and business to problem-solving 
and change management.” 
 
This insight expresses clearly how the changing mandate is 
expanding from a core accounting role to one which 
involves developing and deploying solutions for an 
organization. In a diagrammatical format, the broader roles 
of the finance function sit beneath the umbrella terms of 
‘reporting’, ‘questioning’, ‘developing solutions’ and 
‘deploying solutions’. 
 
Figure 2: Broad Finance Roles 

 
 
Once we had discussed the four broad roles of finance 
(Figure 2) in our interviews and roundtable, the research 
enabled us to plot finance function capabilities. The research 
revealed that most finance functions are excellent at 
reporting and the activities associated with this, especially 
when working in isolation. However, moving from left to 
right through the broad roles, finance functions tend to 
perform less well. Functions that have built up their business 
and analytical skills to focus on root cause analysis tend to 

perform well in the ‘questioning’ broader role. In the 
‘developing solutions’ and ‘deploying solutions’ arenas, there 
are some lone finance function innovators. The reason many 
still operate only in the ‘reporting’ and ‘questioning’ spaces is 
because few finance functions currently have the capacity and 
capability to move to the right-hand roles. 
 
Reporting: a trusted source providing data integrity 
 
The finance function is usually the most trusted source of 
information in an organization because it can ensure the 
integrity of the data used in its analysis and reporting. Its 
professional objectivity means the function provides 
information that’s less likely to be subject to bias than the 
views of others in the business. One interviewee described it 
as “sanity over vanity”.  
 
The CFO of a UK government agency revealed that it’s the 
finance function that’s expected to assemble the information 
the agency is obliged to disclose under the UK’s Freedom of 
Information Act. This is a clear demonstration of confidence 
in the information provided by finance functions. 
 
Questioning: a commercial analyst that enables values 
 
Finance functions are usually the masters of producing 
reports. However, these products are then handed to others to 
debate and discuss. The changing mandate needs finance 
functions to move from being reporting factories to providing 
experiences that wrap around the reports they produce. 
 
The analysis in most reporting seldom generates insight alone. 
More often, it raises questions. The commercial curiosity, 
questioning and analysis by dimension (for example, by 
relationship, product, channel or segment) that the finance 
function prompts, can identify opportunities to innovate or 
reduce risk. Questioning also initiates collaborative 
conversations with colleagues around the organization, 
leading to identification of root causes and opportunities to 
improve performance.  
 
The finance function’s questioning role involves constant 
horizon-scanning and alerting the business to strategic 
opportunities or threats. 
 
Developing solutions: a subject matter expert providing 
stewardship Finance functions have subject matter experts in 
their teams to guide strategic decision-making and decisions 
about major investments, initiatives or strategy. However, 
they are rarely seen at the debating table. This is a shame; as 
stewards with professional objectivity, they are well-
positioned to question constructively. They also provide 
transparency and can facilitate organization-wide 
conversations to generate innovative solutions.  
 
Quattrone, Busco, Scapens and Giovannoni recommend a: 
“Return to being a cross-functional means of users’ 
engagement and motivations by forcing different stakeholders 
to take part in decision-making processes to overcome the 
silos mentality which has relegated the finance function to a 
mere provider of information rather than an active player in 
such processes”. 
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Deploying solutions: partnering for value 
 
Through partnering with others across the organization, the 
finance function is able to cascade the value creation focus 
to local-level planning, decision-making and the ongoing 
performance management in business units. They also help 
to deploy major initiatives and solutions by engaging in 
change management, strategy implementation and project 
management, in addition to ongoing risk management, 
process management and performance management.  
 
In the expanded role, CFOs promote value creation by 
serving as strategic advisors to business leaders, overseeing 
performance across the organization and communicating a 
persuasive equity story to investors. 
 
3. THE VALUE MATRIX 
 
It is the fusion of the four broad roles that will allow finance 
functions to step up and become the custodians of 
organizational value. The Global Management Accounting 
Principles define management accounting as ‘the sourcing, 
analysis, communication and use of decision-relevant 
financial and non-financial information to generate and 
preserve value for organizations’, and this links directly to 
the changing role of the finance function. Finance now has 
the mandate to define, enable, shape and tell the stories of 
how an organization creates and preserves value. 
 
 

 
 
Figure 3: The finance function value matrix  
 
We have labeled this focus the ‘value matrix’ (Figure 3), 
where: 

a. Finance, as a trusted source of the management 
information, provides data integrity, 

b. Finance, as a commercial analysis, provides the 
insights into the drivers of organizational value, 

c. Finance, as the subject matter expert and steward, 
contributes to strategic decision-making, including 
defining objectives with regards to developing the 
business model, 

d. Finance, through partnering, uses insights to 
address performance issues and enables solutions 
to create value.  

 
Finance is well-positioned to take on the wider mandate. 
Indeed, we know from our research that this future for 

finance has already arrived in some leading organizations. 
 
The journey to the finance function of the future 
 
The following diagram (Figure 4) demonstrates the refocused 
emphasis that finance functions will need to exhibit in order to 
fully embrace the changing mandate and remit of the broad 
roles. It represents a shift in emphasis from pure accounting to 
management. This will require more fusion between tasks and 
activities carried out within the finance function, and far 
greater interaction with the business. 

 
 
Figure 4: Skills underpinning the broad finance roles 
 
The journey also requires the following shifts: 
 

a. No longer requiring technical accounting skills alone, 
but more general commercial and social skills as 
well. Accountants won’t just work alongside other 
finance personnel but will work with colleagues from 
diverse disciplines across the business, and with 
external stakeholders. 

b. Transitioning from an environment where accounting 
terms are considered the language of business to a 
world where business people regard them as jargon. 

c. Moving away from the accountant’s domain or 
comfort zone of expertise to the sharp end, where 
problems are solved and business is completed. 

 
d. Developments in technology provide the potential to 

automate routine processes, but relationships and 
interactions are still needed between peers. 

 
Of course, our research also reveals the concerns of some 
interviewees about the obstacles they currently face in the 
journey of transforming their finance function. These 
obstacles sit under three interconnected headings:  
 
Capacity: accountants are too busy with workarounds and 
legacy systems, or simply don’t have the capacity to engage 
with and support the business in broader roles. 
 
Competence: accountants may need to develop one or more 
of the skills needed for a more business-focused role, whether 
that’s business understanding, data analytics, interpersonal 
skills or a commercial, ever-learning mindset.  
 
Credibility: even if they have the required capacity and skills, 
accountants can be highly regarded for their professionalism 
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and accounting expertise, but – due to their organization’s 
culture – they may not enjoy a reputation for the commercial 
skills that would enable them to fulfill a broader role.  
 
Whatever happens in the future, as organizations become 
increasingly complex and dynamic, the role and mandate of 
finance will continue to evolve. However, as our research 
reveals, finance functions already have a wider mandate to 
become the custodians of organizational value. 
 
The Future of Finance: join us on our journey 
 
Our briefings on these emerging themes will enable us to 
discuss a new delivery model for modern finance, with 
certain key features. Ultimately, all organizations face the 
same obstacle of building capacity, competence and 
credibility within their future finance functions.  
The difference is that some organizations are innovators on 
the journey to the future, while others are lagging behind. 
With this research, we want to help more organizations lead 
from the front.  
 
The Keys to Transformation 
 
Based on our interviews, it appears that an organization’s 
top priorities to transform its finance function should be to: 

a. Make use of the latest technologies to release the 
full capacity of the finance function, 

b. Widen the remit of finance to cover a broader range 
of management information, generating new 
insights and business solutions, 

c. Provide and empower finance professionals with 
new competencies and growth mindsets to help 
your organization create and preserve value. 

That’s what this project is all about. 
 
So, armed with this briefing, why not start a conversation on 
the future of finance in your organization? Read one or all of 
our briefing papers on emerging themes and share them 
within your network.  
 
You can then ask yourself:  
How do the emerging themes resonate in your organization? 
Where are you and your organization on the journey to 
realizing the finance function of the future? 
How, in light of these themes, will you reconsider your 
strategies to meet the future finance function’s innovative 
mandate?  
 
Five things you can do in light of this briefing 
 
To begin transforming your finance function, you can use 
this briefing as an opportunity to start a conversation within 
your organization about your finance function mandate. 
From this, you’ll gain a greater understanding of your 
customers’ expectations and the types of products or 
experiences they want from their finance function in the 
future.  
 
You can then build on this insight by investing time to 
understand where your finance function is on its journey to 

embracing the four broad roles of reporting, 

questioning, developing solutions and deploying solutions. 
Where there are gaps, you can then make plans to address 
them. 
Consider whether capacity, competence and credibility are 
obstacles in your organization. If they are obstacles, this 
presents an opportunity to assess how you and your 
organization can tackle them. 
 
To align your finance group’s capabilities with what’s needed 
in the future, begin to develop skills around empathy, building 
relationships and business partnering. These skills will 
become increasingly prized when developing and deploying 
solutions, and partnering with others in your organization.  
To help us develop a knowledge-sharing community, please 
do get in touch and share your experiences, observations and 
opinions with me. 
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ENTREPRENEUR DEVELOPMENT, EMERGING 
MARKET IN NIGERIA AND AFRICA. 
ORKEGHEN PROMISE TERLUMUN 
terlumunorkaghen@gmail.com 
 
ABSTRACT 
This paper aims to provide an over view of the different key 
factors that influence entrepreneurship environment in 
Africa and the world. 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The role of entrepreneurship development has great impact 
on countries’ economies; entrepreneurial development is the 
science of business created by an individual or group of 
individuals who take risks with the aim of making profits or 
gains. Entrepreneurial development can therefore be best 
described as developing business risk decisions. 
 
ROLE OF ENTREPRENEURSHIP DEVELOPMENT IN 
NIGERIAN ECONOMY 
 
Entrepreneurship has a great impact to the development of 
an economy. All developed countries were impacted by 
entrepreneurship to attain their status. The level of a 
Nation’s economy development is measured by business 
activity development which is determined primarily by 
entrepreneurship development. Innovation and creativity 
only become useful when driven with the vehicle of 
entrepreneurship for it to serve a business purpose and 
indeed satisfy economic development need of a nation. 
From this narrative we may assert that the Nigerian 
economy is at this level primarily due to low level of 
entrepreneurship development. Though there may appear a 
large resource of service production in Nigeria, these have 
largely remained dormant due to a scale in entrepreneurship 
development, this study will make further impact defining 
who an entrepreneur is, the role of entrepreneurship 
development and the Concept of an Economy. 
 
ENTREPRENEURSHIP AND  ENTREPRENEUR? 
 
A person who runs a business, a firm is called an 
entrepreneur, person who manages the business, who create 
a new thing, relevant things in the society and the society 
and the country at large for profits or gains. 
 
ROLES OF ENTREPRENEURSHIP DEVELOPMENT IN 
NIGERIA 
 
The role of entrepreneurship development is played by an 
entrepreneur, someone who has reasons to set up a business, 
who has goals and work hard to achieve the goals. He or she 
has the ambitions, a person who has the ability to control 
and manage whatever things he posses and there must exist 
a passion burning concerning the particular business. Hence, 
without the impactful knowledge of entrepreneur 
entrepreneurship might not thrive well especially in this part 
of the country, it will only end up as a road side business 
and was put in the entrepreneurship is 99% communication, 

it is one of the ways people interact, communicate interfere 
and even discover new things in and around them. It is 
necessary and compulsory for entrepreneurs to create the habit 
of communicating. Basically, communication is an act that 
has to be imbibed by entrepreneurs because the beginning of 
any entrepreneurship solving must be problem discovering 
and discover any problem there must be a communication. 
 
ECONOMY:  
 
The success of any entrepreneur or any business depends on 
the value either the products or the values the customers see in 
the products. First and foremost, an entrepreneur must value 
his or her products before anyone else can value them. So, 
therefore, the value position of any business boost the 
business and learned the business great achievement and of 
course for entrepreneurs to value the product they must have 
had more knowledge and understanding about the business 
likewise the customers. In addition, entrepreneurs are risk 
takers; they are bold men and women that take the good steps 
to success in achieving their goals. Yes, entrepreneurs 
overcome challenges faced in the process of starting a 
business or the process of making money. 
 
NIGERIAN ECONOMY: 
 
As we all know that the economic situation Nigeria needs is 
still in a work especially in the aspect of getting while collar 
jobs, this has therefore led people to entrepreneurship both 
young and adults and even the government workers start their 
job and thereby contribute to their income which invariably 
improves their social economic status which has great roles to 
play in the country. Entrepreneurship has really increased the 
development of Nigerian economy in that it makes many 
independent, boss of their own and even makes them more 
creative. Some of the roles played by entrepreneurship 
development in Nigeria are listed below: 
 
ENTREPRENEURSHIP CREATE JOB OPPORTUNITIES 
Entrepreneurship as it has been defined earlier create jobs and 
makes work available for job seekers, and entrepreneur are 
job creators work to create work themselves and even employ 
people in need of work and there is no more need for seeking 
and searching for job here and there, entrepreneurship, 
therefore, makes entrepreneur employers and therefore 
reduces the rate of unemployment by Nigeria. As they will be 
the master of the business and people or better or still 
employee learn, gain from them and also become employers 
as well. 
 
ENTREPRENEUR CREATES WEALTH 
Wealth is power associated with a great deal of money.  
Entrepreneurship, therefore, provides people and even makes 
 Nigerian wealthy. The money or wealth is created in 
the form of  goods and services, and as they are produced, 
they are at the same time rendered to customers. The products 
produced are expanded and distributed to the  number 
of buyers or customers increase and they are definitely 
 exchanged for money. As an entrepreneur he or she 
decided on  the profit they will be making even with 
affordable price and this  makes the business grow, expand 
and brings more wealth to the  employer. 
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ENTREPRENEURSHIP IMPROVE OR INCREASE THE 

STANDARD OF LIVING 
The Capital income of any man determines his standard of 
living. Entrepreneurship has contributed to the income of 
lower class and average class person’s that have engaged 
themselves in creativity and therefore making money on 
their own which has eventually  increased their standard 
of living. The more you earn money the  more you will 
desire to live a life of standard and not a stranded  life. 
And entrepreneurship through the development of both 
small  and medium enterprises creates employment to 
seekers of job and  increase the average income 
received by any entrepreneur and  also improves their 
standard of living.  

 
ESTABLISHMENT AND DEVELOPMENT OF SMALL 
OR MEDIUM-SIZED ENTERPRISE IN NIGERIA 
Entrepreneurship leads to the establishment of new 
companies, organization, business and also the development 
of the  enterprises. As stated in the last statement of the 
third point, we see that it promotes enterprises because there 
are creation and  innovations of new things. 
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BUSINESS ADVICE FOR STARTUPS 

 
These days, it seems like everyone is hoping to become an 

entrepreneur and come up with “the next big thing”. 
Who can blame them? When successful, the benefits 
to owning a startup are obvious: being your own 
boss, creating something from scratch, bringing value 
to the people around you and, of course, making a bit 
of coin along the way. But the key phrase in that 
equation is, “when successful”. Too often, startups 
fail - 75 percent of them, to be exact, says The 
Harvard Business Review. So what goes wrong? 
Failure doesn’t preclude you from ultimately 
succeeding 

 
To run a good business you have to be able to assume the 

proper role. If that means doing things and acting in 
ways that don’t come naturally, then so be it. 
Otherwise, you will risk failing like that 75 percent. 
Here are some crucial points the pros agree are 
prerequisites to becoming a successful entrepreneur. 

 
  

TAKE RISKS AND BE WILLING TO FAIL 
Failure doesn’t preclude you from ultimately succeeding. In 

fact, it’s often a necessary step. The best entrepreneurs 
don’t let the fear of failure prevent them from going for 
what they believe to be a great idea. Some of those 
risks won’t pan out, but the ones that do will be the 
ones that define you. Therefore, risk is key to success. 

 
START TODAY AND IMMEDIATELY 
The only true way to learn is by doing and you can’t afford to 

sit around waiting for funding, hoping someone else 
will come along to help you execute on your idea or 
complain that you don’t have the time. Making excuses 
won’t help you start a business and it sure as hell won’t 
help you create the lifestyle you want for yourself. 

 
LAUNCH BEFORE YOU FEEL READY 
 
If you wait until your product or service feels perfect, 

someone else will already be doing a better job of 
helping your customers solve their problems. Validate 
your business idea by launching fast, bringing on a 
small group of paying customers and adapting to make 
your solution great for them over time. You will learn 
how to validate ideas quickly and cheaply when doing. 

 
NETWORKING IS PARAMOUNT TO SUCCESS 
When you haven’t gotten your business off the ground, 

connections will help to keep it afloat. When you do, 
those initial helpers will turn into powerful allies. 
Soon, you will be in the position to bring another 
struggling startup into the black. 

“It relevant to make connections and keep a record on each 
person you meet”, Clare Dreyer, career expert, told 
Forbes. “Ask for their advice and help. Keep in touch 
with them along the way and build your network 
before you need it! Quality relationships are the keys to 
the kingdom”. You are advice to build a strong 
networking for a great success. 

 
NEVER STOP BUILDING MEANINGFUL 

RELATIONSHIPS 
It very relevant to continue building great relationship with 

customers and other people in your industry, choosing 
to instead view competitors as potential partners and 
collaborators can positively impact your business in a 
big way. 

 
IDENTIFY, LEARN AND INVEST IN YOUR NICHE 
Many startups succeed because they have identified a niche 

and have cornered that market. By discovering a 
service, product or feature no one else has thought of 
or at least effectively pulled off - you give your 
company a shot at success. George Shepherd, Professor 
of Law at Emory University, recommends 
entrepreneurs “become the guru in that niche”. 

BE A CONSUMMATE STUDENT 
Long after you leave your last class, you still learn new things 

every day. As an entrepreneur, you must always be a 
student, willing to take advice, listen to other ideas and 
learn from those who have been there themselves. 
“Entrepreneurship is about solving problems and 
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learning on the go”, Andrew Medal wrote for 
Entrepreneur. “It’s exciting to learn new things and 
as entrepreneurs we should be learning something 
new every day”. “You can’t make money without 
spending money”. 

TAKE YOUR EYE OFF THE BUSINESS FINANCE AND 
DON’T BE FAST IN MAKING QUICK MONEY 

If you are starting a business, you are going to take a few 
financial hits. As they say, you can’t make money 
without spending money. But there is more to it than 
avoiding miserliness. The best entrepreneurs don’t 
think in terms of how much they make, they consider 
how much value they can add. That value might be 
financial, but it might well be social, psychological, 
or other ways 

TRY TO MAINTAIN FINANCIAL BALANCE 
With that said, you can’t add value if you can’t pay rent or 

buy groceries. That’s when you will need to 
determine exactly what you need to do to support 
yourself while you pursue your entrepreneurial 
dream. Entrepreneur pointed out that a part-time job 
could be your saving grace - not only would it 
provide financial relief, it could provide an excellent 
networking outlet. 

BE FLEXIBLE AND LISTEN TO THE MARKET 
Even if you nail down the perfect niche, it won’t necessarily 

remain the same forever. Markets can be fickle and 
consumers want to be on the cutting edge. If you 
can’t pivot and react when the winds of change 
come, you will be blown away. “Resist falling in love 
with your initial idea so you can discover what the 
market actually wants and is willing to pay for - and 
then give it to them”, Cherylanne Skolnicki, career 
coach, told Forbes. 

 
INVESTMENT IN NEW TECHNOLOGIES 
Technology is indispensible in today’s global world, and the 

introduction of new technologies is creating constant 
changes in business activities today. There is no 
alternative to this and business owners are advice to 
be awake of new changes in technology. 

 
MIXING BUSINESS AND PERSONAL FUNDS 
Whether you are starting a new business, or you're running 

an established business, mixing personal and 
business funds is a recipe for disaster. Assuming you 
are the sole owner and you buy business supplies 
with your personal credit card or use a business 
check to pay for a personal purchase, you're going to 
have difficulty keeping track of how much money the 
business actually is making or losing throughout the 
year. 

 
FOCUS ON SETTING AND ACHIEVING SMALL 

INCREMENTAL GOALS 
Rather than trying to start a business and instantly build 

your vision of what the company should be in the 
years to come, setting realistic goals and milestones 
is a major component when you growing a business. 

 
 

 

TAKE CARE OF YOURSELF 
What good is a successful startup if you destroy yourself in 

the process?  
Nothing is as precious as health, which is why you shouldn’t 

sacrifice your well-being for the sake of your 
entrepreneurship. In fact, what might seem like hard 
work could ultimately derail your career. Losing sleep, 
eating unhealthily and allowing yourself to become 
stressed are surefire ways to shorten your life 
expectancy. By tending to your health, you will have 
the strength to carry out your goals. You will also have 
a big headache at tax time trying to separate out the 
business and personal purchases to determine what's 
deductible on your business tax form, and what your 
profit or loss is for the year.  

 
The headache will get a lot worse if you get audited and the 

auditors believes you have purchased goods or services 
for personal use and deducted them as business 
expenses. If you have business partners or investors 
and mix business and personal expenditures, you will 
have even more problems on your hands. 

 
Finally, if you don't clearly separate business and personal 

expenses (using separate banking accounts and credit 
cards for each), you will find it difficult or impossible 
to get a business loan if you ever need one. 

 
Even if your business is only a part-time operation with few 

profits, you should have a separate checking account 
and separate credit card for the business. You may 
need to take out the credit card in your own name when 
you're starting out, and that's ok, as long as it's used 
exclusively for business purchases. 

 
If there are times when you have to use personal funds for 

your business - or vice versa - the correct way to 
handle the situation is to make a formal transaction and 
document it. If you have business partners, get them to 
sign off on the transaction, too. 

 
There are always exceptions to the rules, anyone who has 

successfully maintained a startup is one of those 
exceptions. But you can take the element of chance out 
of the equation by following these expert tips and 
letting them guide your entrepreneurial spirit. 
Remember, personal discipline will guide and lead you 
to all the above tips. 

 
Prepared by: 
Orshi Terhemba Ephraim AAT, ACILRM, ACA 
 
ARTICLES  
 
YOUR DREAMS AS AN ENTREPRENEUR 
Moses Plangkat Dashal Mosespeekay1995@gmail.com 
 An entrepreneur, aside changing the world for the better of 

tomorrow through innovations and birthing new ideas, 
must as well have the zeal to make extraordinary things 
happens against all odds. It’s through this that he/she 
can draw other to the light and understanding of what 
he or she has been developing all this while that it 
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sounds meaningless to the world. This paper focuses 
on the entrepreneur as a person, who has a major 
solution that the world seeks (but for the positive). 
You can be the next entrepreneur that the worlds seek 
to make things not just right, but also to fix it. 

 
INTRODUCTION 
“Every great dream begins with a dreamer”. Many times, we 

set very powerful goals/dreams but within the 
shortest time we begin to feel discouraged and 
having low self-esteem to still pursuit that saw the 
picture from a view and find out that it cannot be 
achieved or attained? Every great person that today 
we see, talk and make references to all started from 
setting goals they perhaps never believed it will come 
to pass. In setting goals, one thing you need to know 
is that you are at the center of everything, no one will 
understand you and if you are not lucky people will 
laugh at what you are doing and say all sort of things. 
But you have to put this at the back of your mind that 
“a dream doesn’t become reality through magic; it 
takes sweat, determination and hard work”.  

As an entrepreneur, never think of starting big, always start 
small and over time it sells and grows itself to 
become big; so never despise the days of little 
beginning, because you cannot tell its end. 

 
AN ENTREPRENEUR 
To define the term entrepreneur, we would look at it in three 

different dimensions:  
 An entrepreneur is a starter. An entrepreneur is an 

initiator, a challenger and a driver. Someone that 
creates something new, either an initiative, a business 
or a company. He or she is the beginning (and 
sometimes the end) of a venture, project or activity. 
The entrepreneur might not be the ideator, but he or 
she is definitely the one that decides to make that 
idea a reality. 

 An entrepreneur is the driver. The entrepreneur is the 
person in charge, the leader and the person to look to 
for leadership. He or she is the one that pushes 
forward and inspires a team to follow. The 
entrepreneur is the one that sits in the driver’s seat, 
and has the ability to change direction, accelerate, 
slow down or even stop a venture.   

 An entrepreneur is accountable and responsible. The 
entrepreneur is the ultimate responsible for the 
destiny of its venture, which can be a company, a 
project, or any other endeavor. The entrepreneur is 
the one that has the highest stakes at the venture, thus 
the one that needs to be empowered to fully direct the 
endeavor. 

 
Being an entrepreneur is not directly related to having an 

equity stake in a company, but instead showcases the 
leadership-related points. Why do we tend to 
associate entrepreneurship with equity ownership (as 
value), instead of understanding it as the one that has 
the highest stakes in an endeavor, which sometimes 
gets translated into entrepreneurship? 

 

To become an entrepreneur is venturing into one of the fields 
whereby risk taking cannot be avoided for any reason. 
As entrepreneurs, each of us is different and unique. 
The one common element we all share is the desire to 
create freedom in our “work” and life through 
entrepreneurship. We live in a time ripe with 
opportunities to create businesses that help us live the 
lives we want to live. Still, there are some 
entrepreneurs reading this that are stuck in their 
business and their life. You know who you are. You 
can’t figure out why you’re not making progress or 
what to do next in your business. The “missing link” 
could be the type of entrepreneur you are. 
Understanding your motivation as an entrepreneur can 
be the key to growing your business and reaching 
whatever milestone of success you’re striving to 
achieve. 

 
TYPES OF ENTREPRENEURS  
Though we have many types, we will mention and briefly 

explain some few: 
 
THE SKEPTICAL ENTREPRENEUR 
This entrepreneur sees the success of others and immediately 

starts to question it. They examine that person's 
business and looks for the “lucky” breaks, or 
inheritance they think that successful entrepreneur 
received. Maybe it’s the news, or previous life 
experiences, but they are skeptical of success and don’t 
believe it’s possible without all the stars falling into 
place. 

When you can’t see or believe success is possible, you’ll 
never get to a place in your mind that allows you to 
take action. You will stay stuck; you’ll make every 
excuse and believe it because of your skeptical 
mindset. This is the scariest type of entrepreneur. 

 
COPYCAT ENTREPRENEUR 
This entrepreneur sees the success of others and tries to copy 

them exactly. Their website is the same, their business 
cards are the same, and the way they present 
themselves is the carbon copy of a leader in their 
industry. Take Pat Flynn of the popular blog Smart 
Passive Income. Since Pat became popular, there has 
been a whole wave of people that copy him line-for-
line. 

There is nothing wrong with modeling success—it’s actually 
very smart. There is a fine line, however, between 
modeling and copying. Modeling success means you 
see what works and figure out how to make it relevant 
to your business, and who you are as a person. If you 
have been copying, get honest and switch from 
copying to modeling. 

RESEARCH ENTREPRENEUR 
This entrepreneur loves to learn. They research every possible 

scenario and outcome for strategies to start or grow a 
business. There is nothing wrong with learning, but 
when that’s all you do, it becomes a problem. The 
research ends up becoming an excuse for not taking 
action. 

While you should always strive to learn what works, and what 
could help your business, you have to implement. Most 
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entrepreneurs know more than they think; too many 
entrepreneurs fall victim to information overload. 
The key to success is learning and then 
implementing. The implementing has to happen. 

DETERMINED ENTREPRENEUR 
This entrepreneur hasn’t “made it” but they will, no matter 

what. They see the value in entrepreneurship, they 
see that success is possible without copying, and they 
do everything they can to start or grow their business. 

Starting and growing a business is hard, and it takes time, 
but there is proof that it’s possible to thrive. To get 
there, you need change your mindset from focusing 
on what too many people consider “reality” to what 
you know your reality can be. Successful 
entrepreneurs have determination as their back-story. 

ACCOMPLISHED ENTREPRENEUR 
This entrepreneur has gone through all the stages of 

entrepreneurship and building a business, and has 
reached success. They are now focused on scaling 
their business and leaving a legacy that extends 
beyond their lifetime. 

The accomplished entrepreneur has figured out the things 
that will help you reach success. They have figured 
out how to connect with their customer and how to 
solve their biggest struggles. They will never “make 
it” but they are experiencing true freedom. They 
understand their time is their most valuable resource 
so they use it wisely. 

 
What type of entrepreneur are you? 
 Face the truth and make a change if it needs to be made. 

Success will be different for each of us, but if you’re 
stuck, it could be because you’re not the type of 
entrepreneur you should and want to be. Success 
takes time. Growing a business could take a lot of 
your life, but the freedom entrepreneurship provides 
is worth the wait. It all starts with deciding what your 
goals are. Decide what you want from your business 
and how that fits into your life. 

 
CHARACTERISTICS OF A SUCCESSFUL 

ENTREPRENEUR 
Some business experts suggest that the entrepreneurial drive 
is innate, a trait acquired at birth, while others believe that 
anyone can become an entrepreneur. Whether a person is 
born to it or develops it, there are characteristics and traits 
required for successful entrepreneurship including:  
1. Passion - Talk to successful entrepreneurs and you'll 

nearly always hear the word passion when they 
describe what they do. Following your passion is one 
of the best predictors of success. 

2. Independent thinking - Entrepreneurs often think 
outside the box and aren't swayed by others who 
might question their ideas. 

3. Optimism - It's difficult to succeed at anything if you 
don't believe in a good outcome. Entrepreneurs are 
dreamers and believe their ideas are possible, even 
when they seem unattainable. 

4. Self-confidence - This is not to say entrepreneurs 
never have self-doubt, but they're able to overcome 
it, and believe they can achieve their goal. 

5. Resourceful and problem solvers - Lack of assets, 
knowledge, and resources are common, but 
entrepreneurs are able to get what they need or figure 
out how to use what they've got in order to reach their 
business goals. They never let problems and challenges 
get in the way, and instead find ways to achieve 
success despite hardships. 

6. Tenacity and ability to overcome hardship - 
Entrepreneurs don't quit at the first, second or even 
hundredth obstacle. For them, failure is not an option, 
so they continue to work toward success, even when 
things go wrong. 

7. Vision - Some of the more stringent definitions of 
entrepreneurship include vision as a necessary element. 
It helps to know your end goal when you start. Further, 
vision is the fuel that propels you forward toward your 
goal. 

8. Focus - It's easy in this fast paced, constant info-in-
your-face world to get distracted. This is especially 
true for business start-ups that often get side-tracked by 
the shiny object syndrome (i.e. products and services 
that promise fast results), or bogged down in 
unimportant busy work. Successful entrepreneurs are 
focused on what will bring results. 

9. Action oriented - Entrepreneurs don't expect something 
from nothing and they don't wait for things to happen. 
They are doers. They overcome challenges and avoid 
procrastination. 
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CHALLENGES THAT POSES A THREAT TO AN 
ENTREPRENEUR 
Competition: The world is a global market. And as 
entrepreneur, your major drive must be towards competing 
with other entrepreneurs like you, mostly in the same field 
or a new field you are venturing into. Because as an 
entrepreneur you must learn to have a competing spirit in 
order to survive and sustain yourself in the global market. 
Take a look at football, when a club employs you as a 
manager all they require is that you win trophies and keep 
growing the image of the club, the moment you fail to do 
that, no matter your profile they sack you and bring another 
who will suit into that role. This is because of the gross 
competition there, so as the same way the management is 
thriving for a competing spirit, they believe that you as an 
employer must have more of that.  Another instance is the 
phone company, whereby you have different products who 
are beginning to make productions which can serve as a 
threat to other brand; that leads to serious competition in the 
market too. So, as an entrepreneur you have to know and 
then be able to suit into the present system and then be able 
to sustain yourself. And the only way is when you are able 
to ask yourself relevant question, answering them and then 
applying them. 
 
Discouragement: Many times, as an entrepreneur you ought 
to have a set target towards how to meet and achieve your 
goals, the moment he/she finds out that it is not working out 
as planned and all efforts to make things come to place seem 
impossible, he/she easily feels discouraged. In most cases, a 
lot of thought filter the mind, thinking of what to do next, 
give up? Seek advice and counsel? Ask questions from those 
who have gone ahead? Or perhaps hold his/her fears? As an 
entrepreneur what you do in times of discouragement is 
what produces that output that tomorrow others will want to 
learn from. 
Inability to meet set targets: in economics, we were thought 
the law of demand and supply; it goes this way that when an 
entrepreneur is into the production of goods and services, 
and had wider customers; most times he/she produces in 
large quantity so as to meet the demand of his target. Once 
he/she does that, he/she satisfies his/her customers and 
makes them become loyal; but the moment he/she has such 
a wider network but could not meet the needs as at when 
demanded he/she gives a wrong impression to his customers 
and that either cause a lot of them to look for other service 
providers for satisfaction or ruins the effort of that 
entrepreneur. Entrepreneurs must be very careful and must 
apply wisdom so as to meet the need and satisfaction of their 
customer so as to sustain the relationship. 
Faulty foundation: What drives one to become an 
entrepreneur? Profit? Name? That is the first thing one must 
ask when over time an entrepreneur could not sustain his/her 
business of customer base. The moment and individual has 
that kind of mindset rather than how to create impact and 
add to the growth of the society, even if it takes years to 
stand over time it will crumble and have no form of 
identification in the competing market of that time, but the 
moment an entrepreneur has a positive mindset like the 
Rockfeller, Canergie and so on decades after decades there 
will always be a trace of the foundation. 

Asking and answering that right questions that matters 
most: Any serious or likeminded entrepreneur venturing into 
the entrepreneurial world, will never be in a hurry, he/she 
must first be observant of the market, make research to find 
out about businesses that are successful and those that are not 
and what made it that way etc. then he or she can now have a 
rethink of either willing to face the world of entrepreneur or 
not. That an entrepreneur can do that, then give him/her time, 
no matter how little the beginning is, over time it will become 
a city to behold by everyone.  
 
HOW AN ENTREPRENEUR CAN ACHIEVE SUCCES 
 
Must be willing to learn: Most times, once he/she views 
him/herself as the boss and cannot be approached, over time 
things will go doldrums without a cause. It such cases, it only 
takes a humble entrepreneur to sit with other staff he/she is 
working with to find solution. So, as an entrepreneur, you 
must be opened to learning and hearing the views of others, 
and as well share you fears to trusted people within the 
establishment 
 
Must be a leader: For one to be a successful entrepreneur, he 
must be a leader. Someone who leads, ready to accept blame 
in the place of others, and must as well learn to mentor others 
to be leaders too. He/she has to be the one with the largest 
heart, must accommodate everything and if possible provide 
solutions to all their pressure faced by workers, management, 
establishment and so forth.  
 
Must see those he/she is working as co-partners in building 
his/her dreams/establishment: Was told of the story of a 
boss who always shouts at his coworkers, thinking that he 
cannot be approached by any of them since they are all under 
him, over time, a transaction was made which was on the 
higher side and advantage of those they made the transaction 
with, other workers noticed the error, but none of them could 
approach him to let him know of that; by the time he found 
out it was too late so he had to pay. Once you are a boss, you 
must know that you a the least and must be the most friendly 
of all, only through that will you make all hands work towards 
achieving all that you have in heart. 
 
Must employ hands who have the same goal as he/she 
does: One thing that ruins the success and stability of most 
entrepreneurs is employing hands as a result of friendship or 
trying to minimize resources, but they never thought that that 
is a major error, it is not bad to employ someone close to you 
but that person must have that heart and see from the same 
perspective as you do. Because that danger of such is that 
while other hands are working towards the growth of the 
establishment he/she can be that one factor that will ruin thing 
down; when also to minimize resources you will end up 
having the man power but what is delivered in the market is 
not worth it. Every entrepreneur who wants to achieve success 
and be at the top of the game must partner with those who at 
the end will not regret giving their best to the dream/goal that 
one person was able to start. We can go on and on raising 
other points, but at this point, I feel the world need a new 
breed of entrepreneurs that will carry a vision to become 
leaders, hold the hands of others (either the young 
entrepreneurs or other workers or individual) to see that they 
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imbibe a positive mindset in them, and teach them the 
values they have gone through making it known to them that 
the entrepreneurial world is a lucrative place where you can 
succeed but one must be ready to face the challenge and risk 
to become a successful entrepreneur. He/she must always be 
willing to share his/her experience (which is the best 
mentorship) to prepare and strengthen then hands of other as 
well. If you are a successful entrepreneur, your goal must be 
to help someone succeed too, and if you are a young 
entrepreneur, you don’t have to think you know all, sit under 
those who have gone ahead, listen to them and learn also, 
because they did same to reach the level they are at. 
 
CONCLUSION 
To conclude, I have this believe that though 
entrepreneurship has a lot of risk attached, it also takes 
strong spirited individuals like you and I who though can 
easily get discouraged but can also stand in the face of every 
challenge that they face to say I CAN MAKE IT 
THROUGH. When an entrepreneur thinks of failure, at the 
same time, he/she also thinks of ways to cope with the 
failure and sour out successfully. It is high time for us to 
have a positive mindset in confronting the challenges that 
comes/faces the entrepreneurial world, be it an individual, 
undergraduate or unemployed graduate (but believes in 
his/her ability to succeed) women and those might want to 
vie into the field, and then shutting our ears to whatsoever 
confrontations and forces that faces us. 
 
 
INTERVIEWS 
INTERVIEW WITH:  Justin Joseph Dawom SCILRM, 
ACA, Managing Partner Panshak Concepts and Consults 
Ltd, Jos, Plateau State, Nigeria 
Email: jdawom@yahoo.com 
Phone: +2348101209170, and +2348022831746 
TAX IMPLICATION ON FIRST TIME ADOPTION 
OF IFRS BY PRIVATE ORGANISATION 
IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards) is an 
acceptable accounting standard used worldwide. One of the 
key advantage using IFRS is a global comparability of 
financial reporting. The introduction of an international 
accounting standard aims to harmonize the financial 
information companies present. The hope is that mandatory 
International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) adoption 
increases transparency and comparability in the preparation 
and presentation of general purpose financial statement, thus 
enabling the capital and credit markets to function more 
effectively. The standard change (from national GAAP to 
IFRS) will have impact on tax, due to the different 
principles used in reporting corporations, organizations or 
companies’ financial activities. Changing from previous 
GAAP to IFRS is a major undertaking which has wide 
reaching implications for the company adopting IFRS. 
 
IFRS 1- First Time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards explains how the transition to IFRS 
should be accounted for. Therefore, this interview 
investigates the taxation effects of IFRS adoption, and 
whether IFRS adoption around the globe is associated with 
higher or lower level of tax impacts. 

 

Question: Who is a first time adopter? 
 
Response: A First Time Adopter is an entity that presents its 
first IFRS financial statements. That is, the taxpayer shall 
prepare and present an opening IFRS statement of financial 
position at the date of transition to IFRS. This is the starting 
point for its accounting in accordance with IFRS. 
 
Question:What do you mean by First IFRS Financial 
Statement? 
 
Response: First IFRS Financial Statements is the first annual 
financial statements in which an entity adopts IFRS by an 
explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS. 
The first IFRS financial statements will include financial 
statement of the current year, which is the first period 
published entirely according to IFRS and comparatives which 
were originally published under previous GAAP, and have 
been restated into IFRS. 
 
Question: How should first time adopter prepare their 
first financial state? 
 
Response:  First Time Adopter must prepare an opening 
Statement of Financial Position according to IFRS as at the 
date of transition to IFRS. Date of transition to IFRS is the 
beginning of the earliest comparative period for which an 
entity presents full comparative information under IFRS in the 
first IFRS financial statements. 
 
Question: What do you mean by Opening IFRS Statement 
of Financial Position? 
 
Response: Opening IFRS Statement of Financial Position is 
an entity’s statement of financial position at the date of 
transition to IFRSs. In Nigeria, the date of transition was 
established by the provision in the National Road Map on 
Adoption of IFRS. The opening IFRS statement of Financial 
Position is prepared by full retrospective application of all 
IFRS extant (existing) at the first IFRS reporting date. 
 
Question: What do you mean by first IFRS reporting 
date? 
 
Response: First IFRS reporting date is the latest reporting 
date covered by the entity’s first financial statements. 
 
Question: What areas you considered mostly affected 
during tax computation by a company or organization 
who is applying IFRS for the first time? 
 
Response: The following items have tax implication and 
affect the income tax of private organizations: 
 
Revenue 
 
Under the previous GAAP, revenue was recognized only for 
the sales that were made to third parties within the accounting 
period. IAS 18 - Revenue and IFRS 14 - Revenue on contracts 
from customers, allows recognition of future revenue to be 
made in the current year. This is achieved by discounting the 
future revenue receivable to the present value at the 
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organization’s cost of capital. This will increase revenue as 
well as the organization’s income tax. 
Inventory 
Under the previous GAAP, an organization can adopt any 
inventory (stock) valuation technique (LIFO, FIFO or Latest 
Purchase Price) it pleases. IAS 2 – Inventory restricts 
valuation to lower of cost or net realizable value. This will 
reduce the value of closing inventory. Reduction in the 
value of closing inventory will reduce the cost of goods sold 
which will increase gross profit and subsequently will 
increase income tax. 
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 
and available for sale financial assets 
Under the previous GAAP, financial instruments were not 
recognized in the profit or loss accounts of private 
organizations. IAS 32, IAS 39, IFRS 7 and IFRS 9 – 
Financial Instruments allows private organizations to 
recognize ‘Available-for-sale financial assets that have been 
‘marked to market’ at fair value in the profit or loss 
account’. Available-for-sale financial assets that are ‘marked 
to market’ will increase revenue and also increase profit 
which will result to increase in income tax of private 
organizations. 
 
Fair value adjustment on assets 
IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement requires assets to be 
measured initially at cost and subsequently at cost less 
accumulated depreciation or fair value. Increase in fair value 
of assets over their book values will increase the profit of 
the organization which in turn will result to higher income 
tax. Reduction in fair value (impairment loss) of assets 
(tangible or intangible) will reduce the profit of the 
organization as well as the organization’s income tax. 
 
Accounting Policies, Changes in accounting estimates 
and Errors 
 
Under the previous GAAP, an entity was allowed to change 
its accounting policy whenever it deemed fit.                                                                                                        
IAS 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
estimates and errors provides accounting treatment for an 
entity that wishes to change its accounting policies or is 
adopting IFRS for the first time. 
Change of accounting policy 
 The conceptual framework on financial reporting states 
that: 
“An entity should not change its accounting policy unless: 
The change is required by IFRS; or  
The change will better reflect the true financial and 
economic position of the entity”. 
IAS 8 states that an entity that changes its accounting policy 
should apply the change retrospectively. Retrospective 
application means that the entity will reflect the change for 
the items affected by the change in the financial statements 
for the immediate two years proceeding the current year in 
which the change is made.  
Change of accounting policies by First-Time-Adopter will 
affect the tax of the entity as stated in (a) to (d) above. An 
organization that had deferred its tax will have to pay its 
income tax based on the profit computed using IFRS from 
the date of transition to IFRS. 

Retrospective Correction of prior period errors will also affect 
the profit of the organization. A favorable correction will 
increase profit and tax while an adverse correction will reduce 
profit and tax. 
IAS 16 – Accounting for Property, Plant and Equipment has 
imposed new depreciation rates on assets as follows: 
Land   0% 
Building 2% 
Plant and Machinery 20%; and 
Motor vehicles 25%. 
This will reduce the depreciation to be charged to Profit or 
loss account which will increase the profit and tax compared 
with previous GAAP that an organization chose the 
depreciation rates they wanted to apply to reduce their 
company income for lesser tax payments. 
 
Question: The financial sector and other related financial 
institutions have been deeply affected by the introduction 
of IFRS 9 to replace IAS 39, due to noticeable shortcoming 
of IAS 39. What are the tax implications? 
 
Response: In response to the shortcomings of IAS 39, the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) completed 
the final phase of its comprehensive response to the global 
financial crisis of 2008 with the publication of the fourth and 
final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments in July 2014. IFRS 
9, which replaces IAS 39, was effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, though early 
application was permitted. The new standard introduce a 
logical classification and measurement model for financial 
assets, an ‘expected credit loss’ impairment model and a 
substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting which 
aligns hedge accounting principles more closely with risk 
management. Expectedly, the adoption of IFRS 9 will have a 
significant impact on the opening retained earnings (or other 
component of equity, as appropriate). Entities are allowed to 
restate comparatives if, and only if, this is possible without 
the use of hindsight.  For instance, according to the Federal 
Inland Revenue Service (FIRS) of Nigeria Information Circular 
of March 2013 on the tax implications of the adoption of IFRS 
(IFRS Circular), taxpayers are required to submit a re-
computation of income and deferred tax, for any financial 
period where there has been a change in accounting policy. 
This requirement may be impractical for taxpayers to comply 
with, as IFRS is very dynamic and a change in accounting 
standard could trigger a change in accounting policy.  
The transition to IFRS 9 will have a significant tax impact 
especially on Money Deposit Banks (DMBs) and other 
companies with significant holdings in financial instruments. 
One major issue with the adoption of IFRS 9 for DMBs is the 
effect of bigger and more volatile impairment losses on 
capital ratios. From a tax perspective, it may also mean 
significantly lower profits but higher scrutiny of specific 
impairments losses, a part of which may be disallowed for tax 
purposes. Furthermore, there will be an increase in the 
number of fair value movements through the income 
statement which will need to be properly tracked and 
adjusted for tax purposes. DMBs should consider engaging 
tax authorities in their various jurisdictions for discussions on 
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issues relating to the significant impact of impairment 
losses under IFRS 9, on their profits/capital.  
Insurance companies may also suffer a large chunk of the 
adverse tax impact that the impairment model under IFRS 9 
may bring. Despite the expected increase in their 
impairment losses, the tax-deductible portion of their total 
expenses will address the tax implications of impairment 
losses under IFRS 9. In light of the potentially significant tax 
implications highlighted above, it would be extremely 
important for companies, organizations and corporate 
bodies to review their business models and contractual 
cash flow obligations as they prepare to adopt IFRS 9, and 
proactively assess how the implementation of the new 
standard will impact their tax position and obligations. 
 
Other Areas of Importance: IFRS and tax differ in various 
other areas, including long-term contracts, contingencies, 
leases, foreign currency gains and losses, pension expenses, 
and business combination expenses. These and other 
accounting issues must be reviewed by tax Practitioners for 
their clients as part of tax planning and compliance with the 
changes to IFRS. IFRS will make substantial changes to 
revenue recognition rules, and Practitioners will have to 
follow developments closely to see how these will apply in 
the tax area. 
 
Conclusion  
Tax Practitioners often tend to focus on tax law rather than 
on financial accounting standards, but IFRS will require Tax 
Practitioners and Accountants to learn a new set of 
standards to be able to assist their clients, organizations, 
companies with tax compliance and planning. Tax 
Practitioners will also do additional work as they assist 
clients in changing to IFRS, including evaluating tax policies 
and planning and preparing returns and new schedule 
adjustments on tax returns. Tax Accountants should be 
involved in setting up accounting systems to capture 
information that are required for tax purposes but that may 
not be required for financial reporting. Because of the 
emphasis on fair market value (FMV) and professional 
judgment in IFRS, practitioners and Accountants also have 
an opportunity to expand clients services. 
 
INTERVIEW 
 
BUILDING A RESIDUAL CASHFLOW FROM THE 
TELECOM INDUSTRY THROUGH NETWORK 
MARKETING  
AMBASSADOR KPOUGHGA CHRISTOPHER THOMAS  
RECHARGE AND GET PAID LTD.  
(Raising Digital Top Up (VTU) Dealers/Entrepreneurs in 
Global Telecommunication Industry) 
FACTS ABOUT TELECOMMUNICATION INDUSTRY  
Inflow investment in Nigeria Telecom Market now hit 
N21.4 Trillion -Vanguard Newspaper  
Per 1 hour over 3 million Nigeria Recharge their phone – 
Nigeria Communication Commission (NCC) 
Nigerians are spending Trillions on Airtime & Data 
Monthly  

Banks make huge money doing VTU telecom business than 
their core financial Business 
Data/Airtime is now the world most valuable Resource.  
www.economist.com 
Telecom industry is now bigger than Oil & Gas-Techpoint 
Average Nigerians spend N2,000 on airtime monthly  $3.5 
Billion Dollars Daily Data Consumption Captured Globally -
internetlivestata.com   
Over 130 millions Nigerians use Airtime & Over 91 million 
Nigerian access internet  
Investment in telecom sector hits $70 billion – Nigeria - The 
Guardian Nigeria Newspaper….. www.googleweblight.com. 
The financial stress of looking for millions of naira to own 
VTU (Virtual Top Up) License from Telecom companies is 
over. Own your Telecom Virtual Top up License with just 
N5,000, N10,000, N20,000, N30,000, N40,000, OR N50,000. 
You can Build a Sub Telecom VTU Dealers of up to 
100,000/1millions plus, earn on all their sales of airtime, Data 
& Be on the same league with Banks, Quick Teller Point.  
 
INTERVIEW WITH AMBASSADOR KPOUGHGA 
CHRISTOPHER THOMAS 
 
BUILDING A RESIDUAL CASHFLOW FROM THE 
TELECOM INDUSTRY THROUGH NETWORK 
MARKETING  
 
How long have you been involved in Network Marketing? 
“Life is so exciting when you have a Dream”. 
My name is Amb. Kpoughga Christopher Thomas. Before I 
meet this wonderful opportunity, I was a student, but after 
then I had many different jobs including sales boy, Hotel 
Manager, Computer Operator, Sales Representative, all of this 
was not a vehicle for me to achieve my dreams. Because  I 
have Big Dreams that I wanted to achieve in the future. Am a 
year old in this industry and all my dreams are gradually 
unfolding. 
 
How did u get involved in the industry? 
“Life is do it yourself project”. This is one of the great 
revelations of the industry for me. I had always been willing 
to work hard. I had held a powerful vehicle and I could 
change my whole life by changing my thoughts and actions. 
 
Is the product line an essential ingredient to a successful 
Business? 
Yes of course! When you look at the product, you will 
discover that they are essential products we cannot do without 
daily after food, for example; airtime, data, Power Holding 
Company of Nigeria (PHCN) subscription, digital television 
subscription (gotv, tstv, startimes), Join Admission 
Matriculation Board (JAMB) exams registration, West Africa 
Examination Council (WAEC) exams registration, National 
Examination Council (NECO) exams registration, etc. 
checkout the statistics above.  Nigerians spend N 1.05 
Trillions on Airtime alone in 5 months.  
 
How much do you earn? 
Where you will be in the future depends upon the books you 
read, the tapes you listen to, and the people you associate 
with. I began to hang around the people in my company that 
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were doing something. I read good books, listened to tapes, 
and went to work. 
Is this company the only company you have joined? 
The first several companies I joined save me tremendous 
experience, but no lot of financial success. In a way they 
taught me how drive - I had learned a lot in a year in 
business. The company am with now is my second. And 
since I’m succeeding I feel this proves that, persistence pays 
off, that is the spirit of entrepreneurship. When I saw this 
particular opportunity, I knew I could make it work and I 
just had to be part of it. And with all of my previous 
experience I was well prepared.   
 
What do you like about Network Marketing? 
I gave so many years of my life to so many different jobs, 
yet none of them compensated me in the way that Network 
Marketing has. Noting before ever gave me the opportunity 
to put myself in a position that truly helped people. 
Anybody with an attractive personality, a caring heart and a 
strong  work ethics can make lots of new friends. They can 
also build empire and positively change the lives of 
thousands of people when they do whatever it takes to make 
it happen. 
 
Did you have self-doubt? If yes, what did you do about 
it? 
I have heard the saying that “if you want something and 
don’t get it you either didn’t really want it or you tried to 
bargain over the price” Jim Rohn said the key to success is 
as follow: 
Decide what you want  
Be willing to pay the price  
Get to work  
If you really want to build a successful Network Marketing 
Business, please give yourself some time to figure it out - 
once you have the SKILLS always remember that it will 
probably take three to five years plan to succeed.  
 
What is the most fulfilling part of Network Marketing? 
All I wanted to do with my Network Marketing Company 
was, make a difference. I wanted my life to have a 
PURPOSE. And helping people change and improve their 
lives is what drives me to succeed everyday.  
I have greatly enjoyed the time freedom in the RAGP 
(Recharge And Get Paid) given me, and I have recently 
become obsessed with football.  
 
How do you motivate your down line? 
There is a misconception that you can’t motivate anyone but 
yourself. I don’t think that’s an accurate statement. I have 
certainly been motivated! And I consider motivating and 
inspiring people as part of my job. One of the best ways to 
motivate people is help them find a new excited distributor 
in their down line and work with them that usually: wakes 
the non-motivated distributor right up! And I love to light 
fires under people! 
Most people complain about are two things: they either 
don’t have enough money or they don’t have enough time. 
But in Network Marketing when you are committed to your 
opportunity and take appropriate action, you can eventually 
have enough of both. When I approach people I know they 

will complain the lack of one or the other. I listen 

to find out which one they want, and then show them how 
Network Marketing can help them get it.  
 
I basically let the products and opportunity speak for 
themselves and leave the decision up to the prospect to decide.  
 
Do you think people quit Network Marketing? 
There are times when a distributor calls me to tell me they are 
quitting the industry and I say, “How can you quit? You never 
got started! They will rationalize that the industry isn’t right 
for them and all they did was call their best friends who 
refused them. It’s sad that some people can’t treat small 
obstacles as growth challenges rather than road blocks. The 
fact is that there are no easy, high-paying jobs, yet so many 
people are on a quest to find them. 
 
What advice could you give to people who are starting out 
in Network Marketing? 
To succeed in Network Marketing, find a mentor and 
duplicate what they do, listen to how they talk to prospects on 
the phone and watch how they approach people. You will 
learn so much by observing those who are already 
succeeding.Also if you have any hang-ups or insecurities, get 
rid of them! You will fail if you don’t change the negative 
behavior and beliefs that have held you back for so long. 
Network Marketing is a wonderful course in psychology and 
human relations, and doing some heavy-duty analysis on 
yourself will help you better understand other people.  
Perhaps the most important key to success is duplication. A 
simple duplicable system is the backbone of a successful 
Network Marketing business. When you bring people into 
your organization be sure to teach then everything you know 
about Network Marketing. Then teach them to teach their 
organizations, and so on.  
 
Now that you are in Network Marketing how do you see the 
future or what are your future plans? 
Rudyard Kipling made a fantastic quote that says, “The great 
focal point in life is when opportunity and preparedness meet” 
if you are ready to finally succeed in life and you have found a 
company and a product line that u can be excited about, then 
Go after your dreams. Make a decision! 
 
Don’t even think about getting involved if you wont make at 
least a one-year, all out commitment follow your heart and 
find a company that really puts some fire in your belly then let 
your passion drive you! 
 
QUOTES FROM MY MENTORS  
If your business is not on the internet soon your business 
will be out of business Bill Gates 
I rather earn 1% of every bodies effort in my team than 
100% of my effort  Great John D. Rockefeller   
This is a fantastic time to join the business world,  because 
business will change in the next ten years more than it has 
changed for the last fifty years  Bill Gates 
 If someone offers you an amazing opportunity, and you’re 
not too sure you can do it,  say yes - then learn how to do it 
later  Sir Richard Brandson  
If you don’t find a way to make money while you sleep, 
you will work until you die ….. Warren Buffet  
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MEGA FINANCIAL INCLUSION 
Financial inclusion is where individuals and businesses have 
access to useful and affordable financial products and 
services that meet their needs that are delivered in a 
responsible and sustainable way. It is the pursuit of making 
financial services accessible at affordable costs to all 
individuals and businesses, irrespective of net worth and 
size, respectively. Financial inclusion strives to address and 
proffer solutions to the constraints that exclude people from 
participating in the financial sector. 
 
By definition, financial inclusion is the availability and 
equality of opportunities to access financial services. Those 
that promote financial inclusion argue that financial services 
can be viewed as having significant positive externalities 
when more people and firms participate. One of its aims is 
to get the unbanked and under-banked to have better access 
to financial services. The availability of financial services 
that meet the specific needs of users without discrimination 
is a key objective of financial inclusion. 
 
It has been estimated in 2013 that 2 billion working-age 
adults globally have no access to the types of formal 
financial services delivered by regulated financial 
institutions. For example, in Sub-Saharan Africa, a good 
percentage of adults are affected even though Africa's 
formal financial sector has grown in recent years. 
 
There is some skepticism from some experts about the 
effectiveness of financial inclusion initiatives. Research on 
microfinance initiatives indicates that wide availability of 
credit for micro-entrepreneurs can produce informal 
intermediation, an unintended form of entrepreneurship. 
The term "financial inclusion" has gained importance since 
the early 2000s, a result of identifying financial exclusion 
and it is a direct correlation to poverty. The United Nations 
defines the goals of financial inclusion as follows: 
Access at a reasonable cost for all households to a full range 
of financial services, including savings or deposit services, 
payment and transfer services, credit and insurance. 
Sound and safe institutions governed by clear regulation and 
industry performance standards. 
 
Financial and institutional sustainability, to ensure 
continuity and certainty of investment. 
 
 

Competition to ensure choice and affordability for clients. 
Former and the late United Nations Secretary-General Kofi 
Annan, on 29 December 2003, said: “The stark reality is that 
most poor people in the world still lack access to sustainable 
financial services, whether it is savings, credit or insurance. 
The great challenge is to address the constraints that exclude 
people from full participation in the financial sector. Together, 
we can build inclusive financial sectors that help people 
improve their lives”. Earlier in 2013, the Alliance for 
Financial Inclusion (AFI) Executive Director Alfred Hannig 
highlighted on 24 April 2013 progress in financial inclusion 
during the IMF-World Bank 2013 Spring Meetings: 
"Financial inclusion is no longer a fringe subject. It is now 
recognized as an important part of the mainstream thinking on 
economic development based on country leadership". 
In partnership with the National Banks for Agriculture and 
Rural Development, the UN aims to increase financial 
inclusion of the poor by developing an appropriate financial 
product for them and increasing awareness on available 
financial services strengthening financial literacy, particularly 
among women. The UN's financial inclusion product is 
financed by the United Nations Development Programme. 
 
BREAKING DOWN OF THE TERM “FINANCIAL 
INCLUSION” 
 
The financial sector is continually coming up with new and 
seamless ways to provide services to the global population. 
The increase in the use of technology in the financial industry 
(fintech) seems to have filled the void of inaccessibility to 
financial services. The advent of fintech has created a way for 
all entities to have access to all financial tools and services at 
reasonable costs. Examples of fintech developments that have 
increasingly been embraced by financial users include digital 
payments, crowd-funding, robo-advisers, peer-to-peer (P2P) 
or social lending, and insurance telematics. While these 
innovative services have disrupted the financial world by 
including more participants in the money sector, there is still 
an untapped portion of the world population that remains 
unbanked or under-banked. 
 
In 2016, the World Bank stated that around 2 billion people 
worldwide don’t use formal financial services and more than 
50% of adults in the poorest households are unbanked. The 
unbanked population consists of adults who have no easy 
access to banks in their regions or who have developed a deep 
mistrust of the financial system. An initiative by the World 
Bank Group called Universal Financial Access 2020 is taking 
measures to ensure that the unbanked community has access 
to traditional platforms like checking accounts by 2020. 
People who have basic transaction accounts are classified as 
the under-banked. The under-banked are adults who have 
secured the traditional tools for conducting transactions (such 
as a bank account) but are not privy to the digital 
incorporation of these transactions (such as digital payments). 
Because having a basic bank account is the foundation on 
which disruptive innovations are built, fintech offers the 
under-banked a ticket to financial digital inclusiveness. 
 
With little access to banks, especially in rural areas, under-
banked users mostly carry out transactions in cash or checks, 
making them vulnerable to theft and street frauds. Even access 
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to bank locations for conducting transactions like cash 
deposit, check cashing, money order and funds transfer may 
come at high costs in terms of banking fees. Fintech, 
telecommunication and banking institutions are working 
hand-in-hand to create mobile payment and micro-lending 
facilities for financially under-banked users. Numerous 
online payment and commerce systems incorporated with 
cellphones have been built to facilitate the ease with which 
this underserved population can immerse themselves in the 
digital economy. Examples of popular apps that have been 
created to foster financial inclusiveness include China’s 
AliPay and India’s Paytm Wallet, serving 450 million and 
122 million users in 2016, respectively. This is expected to 
increase as new technologies continue to emerge. 
 
There is a sizable global market opportunity for fintech. 
However, access to a number of markets is impeded by the 
unbanked group, who have a deep mistrust of financial 
institutions and choose to conduct all-cash transactions. To 
alleviate this challenge, fintech companies have come up 
with innovations that promote transparency in their dealings 
with customers. Examples of these innovations include 
telematics insurance technologies that provide policy 
owners with premium rates based on number of miles used; 
digital currency transactions that use blockchain ledgers to 
reveal the nature of dealings and identities of players in the 
online sphere; robo-advisers that openly disclose and offer 
low fees for customers who have limited access to 
traditional financial advisers due to high costs; and peer-to-
peer (P2P) lending sites that promote financial transactions 
where individuals lend and borrow from each other. P2P 
lending is particularly beneficial to emerging-market 
participants who have no way of getting loans from financial 
institutions due to a lack of financial history and credit 
record for each individual. 
 
With the rise and rise of fintech, financial inclusion seeks to 
promote the betterment of the world's population through 
the use of financial services and tools available in an 
increasingly digital-based economy. 
 
FINANCIAL INCLUSION INITIATIVES BY SOME 
COUNTRIES 
 
FINANCIAL INCLUSION IN THE PHILIPPINES 
Four million unbanked Filipinos are seen to benefit from the 
nascent credit scoring industry, a development that is seen to 
serve the people that is classified at the bottom of the 
economy an easy access to credit once the service is 
available to the public. Marlo R. Cruz, president and chief 
executive officer of CIBI Information, Inc. (CIBI) as one of 
the accredited credit bureaus in the Philippines, highlighted 
that this is expected to unlock much economic potential in 
sectors of the economy that are crucial for inclusive growth. 
 
As per Cruz, "Many people still do not realize that the value 
of having a credit opportunity is synonymous to generating 
financial power. Creditworthiness is the same as to owning a 
keycard that can be used in navigating to the society of 
better possibilities". 
 

To start with, the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) reports 
on Financial Inclusion Initiatives and Financial Inclusion in 
the Philippines summarizes the country’s accomplishments 
and significant milestones in financial inclusion. These reports 
show that 4 out of 10 Filipinos saved money in 2015 (up from 
2 out of 10 in 2009). Among Filipino adults, 24.5% never 
saved and only 31.3% (up from 26.6%) have an account at a 
formal financial institution. The lack of enough money was 
cited as the main reason for not having a bank account. This 
statistic is considered to have been improved by now 
considering the increase and emergence of new technologies 
that have create great impact on fintech. 
 
While there has been significant progress, there is still much 
to be done. As an emerging country with a sizeable number of 
people living in poverty, access to financial services is an 
important challenge. This initiative will create opportunity to 
better financial services to the estimated 26 million Filipinos 
who are still living below the poverty line. 
 
FINANCIAL INCLUSION IN NIGERIA 
 
Financial inclusion has continued to assume increasing 
recognition across the globe among policy makers, 
researchers and development oriented agencies. Its importance 
derives from the promise it holds as a tool for economic 
development, particularly in the areas of poverty reduction, 
employment generation, wealth creation and improving 
welfare and general standard of living. 
Nigeria’s growing population is estimated to be 190 million 
people. Nearly 97 million Nigerians are living in extreme 
poverty, according and Nigerians are living to the World 
Poverty Clock. And even more concerning is that the same 
monitoring tool indicates that the country’s poverty level is on 
a continuous and rapid rise, with about six people falling into 
poverty every minute. A lack of access to basic amenities such 
as food and water, an increased spread of diseases and 
mortality rates, against the country’s high corruption levels, 
poor educational system, and underutilization of resources are 
just a few of the factors which cause, make up, and enhance 
this dire situation. Despite the country’s economic growth, in 
February this year, it was reported by the AfDB that over 150 
million Nigerians (81% of the population) live on less than $2 
a day – a 20% increase in people since 2014. 
 
Access to financial services such as banking, lending services, 
micro-financing, and economic resources, i.e., financial 
inclusion have long been heralded as a way to reduce poverty. 
Increased banking deposits provide available credit for all 
people across countries, and enable increased consumption 
and investment, which help to drive economic growth, and in 
turn, job creation. Ghana, Uganda and India have established 
and adopted financial inclusion strategies as a means to 
reducing poverty, and now find themselves seeing significant 
results. 
 
In Uganda, inclusion rates have been on the rise (from 28% in 
2009 to 85% in 2017), and the government has developed its 
national financial inclusion strategy for 2017 to 2022 to 
accelerate this further. Ghana has had even more success in 
correlating its financial inclusion strategies with poverty 
reduction – from an inclusion rate of 41% in 2014, to 58% in 
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2017, also reflected in mobile money usage, which grew 
from 13% to 39% in the same period, the poverty population 
in Ghana declined from 24% in 2013 to 13% in 2018. 
 
The Indian example provides an even stronger illustration of 
the alignment between financial inclusion and poverty levels 
– over an 8-year period ending in 2017, there was a 45% 
increase in the number of financially included citizens, and 
the country now has 65 people escaping poverty every 
minute. According to the World Poverty Clock, India has 
shown one of the fastest rates of poverty reduction in the 
world, and there are indications that poverty could be 
eliminated by 2030. India, which has had the highest global 
poverty rate (in terms of absolute numbers of people) for 
decades, has now been surpassed by Nigeria. 
 
At the end of May 2018, a study showed that in comparison 
to India’s 73 million citizens (11% of the total population) 
living in extreme poverty, Nigeria, which has over 40% of 
its population living in extreme poverty, has now surpassed 
India. Furthermore, with a year-on-year population increase 
of 3%, and the overall number of Nigerians with access to 
financial services having dropped from 44% in 2014 to 40% 
in 2017, this report highlights an increased urgency for 
Nigeria to increase and improve its efforts in establishing 
stronger and more effective long-term approaches to 
financial inclusion. 
 
The progress made so far in India provides numerous 
lessons for achieving success and avoiding pitfalls in 
Nigeria’s financial inclusion strategy. India has a long 
history of efforts by various Indian governments to push for 
increased financial inclusion, but few approaches have had 
as much impact as Prime Minister Narendra Modi “Pradhan 
Mantri Jan Dhan Yojana” (PMJDY) – a wealth scheme 
launched in 2014.This scheme was established to increase 
the number of people with bank accounts in the country, 
which in 2014 was at 53% of citizens aged over 15. This 
effort was based on no-frills accounts and government 
subsidy disbursements and drove a large number of account 
openings – with over 260 million accounts opened between 
2014 and 2016. However, this no-frills account structure – 
which allowed the maintenance of accounts with or with 
little or no minimum balances – created significant systemic 
issues. These accounts were largely inactive and thus 
expensive to maintain, for no associated revenue, while 
lending done to the recipients quickly became non-
performing, leaving significant liabilities on the bank’s 
balance sheets. 
 
To address these risks, and reduce the burden on the 
traditional banking sector, the government has established a 
new banking license – payment banks – in 2014. This 
license essentially gives companies who already serve the 
poorest members of the wider population the ability to offer 
financial services. Companies of this sort could range from 
FMCG (Fast Moving Consumer Goods) distributors to 
telecommunications and retail companies. 
 
They provide customers with quick and easy access to a 
bank account, easy fund transfer, digital debit cards, and 

interest rates on savings accounts, which all 

combine to increase their attractiveness. The most successful 
is Pay TM, an e-commerce company that also operates under 
the payment banks license; in just two years of operations, 
they attracted 300 million customers. By April 2018, the 
Reserve Bank of India had given licenses to 11 banks, 
and there were six banks in operation. The successful 
adoption of these banks is indicative of a likelihood of being 
able to offer third-party products such as insurance, loans and 
mutual funds, in the near future. 
 
As with all successful development-driving activities, the 
Indian government ensured that their efforts towards 
increasing inclusiveness was closely monitored, with clear 
benchmarks, such that all progress could be easily measured. 
The country launched its first financial inclusion index in 
2013 – the CRISIL Inclusix – with the objective of becoming 
a critical gauge for measuring progress on financial inclusion 
based on branch penetration, deposit penetration, credit 
penetration and insurance penetration. This Index would also 
enable the government to see where an enhancement of tactics 
and changes in approach might be required. 
 
However, while enormous growth continues to be recorded in 
India, a neglect of direct financial literacy efforts has been 
reported by many, who have illustrated a limited awareness of 
financial solutions amongst lower income populations and 
tech-savvy youths. In addition, payment banks face challenges 
of over-competition, and an inability to lend money, which 
result in access limitations. Thus, while India’s approach 
presents a strong model to follow, the Nigerian market needs 
to adopt its own market-tailored strategy, which 
accommodates all the various ways to develop a more 
inclusive society, from immediate banking access to enhanced 
literacy and awareness to an efficient leveraging of mobile 
and broadband technology. 
 
FINANCIAL INCLUSION IN INDIA 
In the Indian context, the term ‘financial inclusion’ was used 
for the first time in April 2005 in the Annual Policy Statement 
presented by Y.Venugopal Reddy, the then governor, Reserve 
Bank of India. Later on, this concept gained ground and came 
to be widely used in India and abroad. While recognizing the 
concerns in regard to the banking practices that tend to 
exclude rather than attract vast sections of population, banks 
were urged to review their existing practices to align them 
with the objective of financial inclusion. The Report of the 
Internal Group to Examine Issues relating to Rural Credit and 
Microfinance (Khan Committee) in July 2005 drew strength 
from this announcement by Governor Y. Venugopal Reddy in 
the Annual Policy Statement for 2005-06 wherein he had 
expressed deep concern on the exclusion of vast sections of 
the population from the formal financial system. In the Khan 
Committee Report, the RBI exhorted the banks with a view to 
achieving greater financial inclusion to make available a basic 
"no-frills" banking account. Khan Committee 
recommendations were incorporated into the mid-term review 
of the policy (2005–06). Financial inclusion again featured 
later in 2005 when it was used by K.C. Chakraborthy, the 
chairman of Indian Bank. Mangalam, Puducherry became the 
first village in India where all households were provided 
banking facilities.  
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As a result of the great achievement as observed above 
under the financial inclusion in Nigeria, The Indian Reserve 
Bank vision for 2020 is to open nearly 600 million new 
customers' accounts and service them through a variety of 
channels by leveraging on IT. However, illiteracy, low 
income savings and lack of bank branches in rural areas 
continue to be a roadblock to financial inclusion in many 
states and there is inadequate legal and financial structure. 
Several Startups are working towards increasing Financial 
Inclusion in India by organizing various large unorganized 
sectors where payments primarily happen in cash, instead of 
a bank transaction. 
 
Recognizing that technology has the potential to address the 
issues of financial inclusion through outreach and credit 
delivery in rural and remote areas in a viable manner, banks 
have been advised to make effective use of information and 
communications technology (ICT), to provide doorstep 
banking services, where the accounts can be operated by 
even illiterate customers by using biometrics, thus ensuring 
the security of transactions and enhancing confidence in the 
banking system. 
 
FINANCIAL INCLUSION IN TANZANIA 
With a population of 55.57 million people and only 19% of 
its population enrolled into an account with a formal bank, 
Tanzania remains largely unbanked. Poverty alleviation is 
often linked with a given population’s access to formal 
banking instruments, and mobile money can serve as a 
crucial bridge for offering savings, credit, and insurance to 
Tanzania’s rural population. 
 
In 2006 just 11% of Tanzanians had access to a financial 
account, but with the advent of digital financial services that 
number has increased to over 60%. The current situation in 
Tanzania has improved steadily over the past 12 years with 
the introduction of mobile money by Tanzania’s main 
telecom providers. The quick expansion of financial 
inclusion in Tanzania is almost entirely due to the 
proliferation of mobile banking options. While a recent 
cooling effect has taken place due to a government 
crackdown on counterfeit SIM cards, over half of Tanzania's 
population has access a degree of financial services through 
mobile banking. 
 
Tracking financial inclusion through budget analysis 
 
While financial inclusion is an important issue, it may also 
be interesting to assess whether such inclusion as earmarked 
in policies are actually reaching the common beneficiaries. 
Since the 1990s, there has been serious efforts both in the 
government agencies and in the civil society to monitor the 
fund flow process and to track the outcome of public 
expenditure through budget tracking. Organizations like 
International Budget Partnership (IBP) are undertaking 
global surveys in more than 100 countries to study the 
openness (transparency) in budget making process. There 
are various tools used by different civil society groups to 
track public expenditure. Such tools may include 
performance monitoring of public services, social audit and 
public accountability surveys. In India, the 

institutionalization of Right to information (RTI) 

has been a supporting tool for activists and citizen groups for 
budget tracking and advocacy for social inclusion. This is 
encourage for others countries to be adopted 
 
Financial inclusion and bank stability 
 
The theoretical and empirical evidences on the link between 
financial inclusion and bank stability are limited. Banking 
literature indicates several potential channels through which 
financial inclusion may influence bank stability. A recent 
study has appeared in Journal Economic Behavior & 
Organization finds a robust positive association between 
financial inclusion and bank stability. The authors show that 
the positive association is more pronounced with those banks 
that have higher retail deposit funding share and lower 
marginal costs of providing banking services; and also with 
those that operate in countries with stronger institutional 
quality. 
 
Progress and challenges of financial inclusion 
 
The need for financial inclusion globally is indisputable. 
Beyond the potential of being able to uplift the financially 
underserved poor from poverty and inclusive financial system 
will contribute towards greater social and economic stability. 
The fundamental objective of financial inclusion is inclusive 
growth. Financial inclusion is one of the important 
mechanisms for all participants in the economy to attain their 
true productive potential. Advances in technology, new 
products and services and innovative business models have 
been driving rapid transformation across the globe’s financial 
inclusion ecosystem.  
 
The relationship between financial inclusion and equitable 
growth has also been acknowledged, and major global 
platform, including the United Nation’s Sustainable 
Development Goals, have incorporated the objective of 
broader access to financial services. Likewise, policy leaders 
and financial authorities all around have been making every 
effort to build the enabling conditions for inclusion. Their 
endeavors are complemented by the experimentation of 
services provider; banks, non-banks, fintechs and payments 
companies. The aim is to provide previously excluded 
populations access to financial services to improve their 
livelihoods.  
 
It should be understood that a number of benefits are accrued 
to the economy through financial inclusion. These are: 
 
It is an important instrument to lower income inequality in the 
economy. Low income individuals are often those unable to 
access financial services, and once access is provided, these 
individuals have bigger potential to improve their income 
levels.  
 
More financial resources become available for efficient 
intermediation and allocation. More financial stability may 
arise if financial activity goes from unregulated to regulated 
institutions.  
 
Access to finance encourages startup enterprises that often 
contribute to employment generation.  
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Financial inclusion also contributes to the growth of the real 
economy by generating higher productivity in agriculture 
and SMESs especially those owned and managed by 
women, and by mobilizing household savings among 
smallholders and low-income households. Financial 
inclusion and access is driven by both formal and informal 
financial services.  
Hence, it can be seen that though some progress is being 
made on financial inclusion front, especially at the policy 
level, there are daunting challenges relating to low financial 
literacy, insufficient infrastructural facilities coupled with 
inadequate technology-based facilities by financial 
institutions. It should also be noted that the global 
community can employ financial inclusion as a platform not 
just for growing the financial sector but more as an engine 
for driving an inclusive economic growth.  
 
Microfinance institutions could play a dominant role in 
facilitating inclusion as they are distinctively placed in 
reaching out to the rural poor. Many of them function in a 
limited geographical area and possess a greater 
understanding of the specific issues of the rural poor. The 
advancement in information and communications 
technologies in this digital age also offers new opportunities 
for the global community to enhance financial inclusion. 
However, this calls for financial awareness and literacy to a 
larger degree. Consumers have to be fully informed of the 
costs and risks of financial products that are offered.  
 
CONCLUSION  
To conclude, the global need of financial inclusion is 
indisputable. Beyond the potential of being able to uplift the 
financially under-served poor from the endless cycle of 
poverty, an inclusive financial system will contribute 
towards greater social and economic stability.  
 
Prepared by: 
Orshi Terhemba Ephraim AAT, ACILRM, ACA 
 

COMMON SMALL BUSINESS MARKETING MISTAKE 
Starting a business isn't always easy. There are so many things 
to think about and decisions to make; the pressure can cause 
startup owners or small business owners to make a poor 
decision that can hurt potential success, or at least create a 
business set back. 
 
Marketing is an essential part of promoting business activities 
and growing sales. Yet too often small business owners try 
new marketing tactics without measuring the results and 
knowing how it aligns to their goals. Small business marketers 
don’t have much margin for error. They tend to be extremely 
short on time and resources. There’s often no cushion to fall 
back on. One mistake and they’re even shorter on time and 
resources. 
 
While there isn't a fool-proof plan to reach small business 
startup success, there are several common and 
dangerous mistakes many new business owners make that can 
negatively impact their businesses. 
 
Here is a list of the most common pitfalls in small business 
marketing. Maybe as a business owner, you are not making 
any of these mistakes. That would be great. However, you just 
might see yourself in one of these setups. Hopefully, reading 
this article will help you reassess before it’s too late. 
 
SKIPPING THE PLANNING PHASE 
Planning may be tedious, but without a solid plan for a 
business that includes business idea research, startup business 
plan, resources and financial plan, and market potential, 
organizations will be operating in the dark. The most 
important plans to consider include a business plan, 
a financial plan, and a marketing plan. 
 
LACK OF GOALS SETTING 
 
Goals can give business owners great direction when they first 
start their businesses, then keep owners on track during the 
day-to-day operations. By making sure your goals 
are SMART (Specific, Measurable, Agreed, Realistic, and 
Time-bound) goals, business owners can identify where they 
want to go and outline specific steps that will take them to 
where they want to go. 
Undervaluing Products or Services : Many times, lack of 
confidence in our ability and fear of failure causes us to 
under-price our products and services. This is a dangerous 
path to trade on; because it undermines the unique value a 
business organization or company brings to the table and 
opens up the possibility of resentment and frustration. 
Recovering from undervaluing goods or services is a long 
road, so startup and small business owners should explore the 
market thoroughly as they start their businesses to identify the 
best price entry point for what they are selling. Either of the 
cost leadership or differentiation strategy can be adopted, 
depending on the environment and business situation. 
 
LACK OF INVESTMENT IN NEW TECHNOLOGIES OR 
AVOIDING NEW TECHNOLOGY 
As small business owners, technology can provide new 
opportunities, help us do our work more efficiently and even 
help business organizations or companies save money. New 

             www.waims.co.in                                                                                    ENDEAVOR 2019 | WAIMS ACADMIC PRESS                                                                                                                                                                                 
66 | P a g e  

 



WORLD ACADEMY OF INFORMATICS AND MANAGEMENT SCIENCES                                                              ISSN  : 2278-1315 
technology may be intimidating, and require time to learn 
and understand, but an unwillingness to adapt to 
technological advances can hurt your business in the short 
and long-term. As a business owner, you must be flexible, 
alert and awake to new changes in technology. 
 
Being Afraid of Marketing: Marketing can take many 
forms from word of mouth referrals, to traditional 
advertising, to Internet, online or digital marketing. There 
are no any set rules when it comes to marketing; the best 
type of marketing for your business depends on your 
business and your target audience. The mistake is assuming 
you don't need to market and that business will come to you. 
It is better to stay awake and develop marketing to achieve 
the goal business success. 
 
LACK OF KNOWLEDGE OF WHO YOUR IDEAL 
CUSTOMER IS 
 
One vital part of any successful marketing campaign is, 
understanding who your ideal customer are. It's not enough 
to create a marketing budget and try a little bit of 
everything. Business owners need to do market research to 
identify who they are trying to reach, where they can find 
them and how customers will react to their marketing 
activities. 
Here’s an example: Someone opens a sandwich and coffee 
shop. They think their ideal customers will be soccer moms 
and hipsters. Yet day after day, more than half their tables 
are filled up with retired guys hungry after playing golf on 
the nearby course. The other tables are empty. 
Yet the owner barely sees the guys. He keeps promoting 
gluten-free muffins and green smoothies. The guys just want 
a really good sandwich, a beer or two and a relaxed place to 
cool off before they go home. They don’t want gluten free 
muffins. 
This kind of mismatch can happen in a number of ways. It 
can be around a feature of a product. The owner thinks 
people are buying their product for reason A, yet people are 
really buying it because of reason B. Unfortunately, all the 
company’s marketing is built around reason A. That 
mistake, which misread of their audience, is costing them an 
uncounted amount of sales. 
 
OVERSPENDING DURING BUSINESS INITIATION 
Starting a business doesn't have to require a large 
investment, but some new business owners feel that they 
need to spend a lot to purchase the best of the best 
everything from marketing help, to equipment, to software. 
There are usually other, less expensive but equally viable 
options available, if you are willing to do the research. 
Creating and sticking to a business budget to curb 
overspending is always an excellent idea. 
 
Under-spending: Some small business owners who don't 
overspend fall on the other end of the spectrum and refuse to 
spend much of anything. While there are certainly ways to 
start and grow a business with limited funds, going too far 
and not investing any kind of capital in your business can 
severely limit your potential for success. It will make a great 
deal and relevant to stay at moderate, and acquire great and 

moderate resources and initial investment to make a great 
beginning. 
 
DOING IT ALL ALONE 
Small business owners may be willing to learn how to be a 
jack of all trades, but, it doesn't have to be that way. Effective 
delegation can be one of the best ways for new small business 
owners and startup owners to build their businesses, free up 
their time for business activities that require their unique 
expertise, and build a team positioned for future success. 
 
NOT MAKING A COMMITMENT 
Starting a business requires a number of success-oriented 
character traits such as drive, dedication and a serious sense of 
commitment. Small business owners and startup owners need 
to be willing to make sacrifices, put in the time necessary, and 
face challenges head-on if they want their businesses to be 
successful. There is no alternative to this. 
LACK OF RESULT TRACKING 
This is more common for more developed businesses, but it’s 
also one of the worst offenses. If results are not track, you 
really don’t know what works. Whether it’s not tracking goals 
on your website with Google Analytics, or not tracking 
conversions through your pay per click ads, or not tracking 
calls and foot traffic from a big sale or advertising investment, 
if you aren’t tracking, you’re throwing your money away. 
A wise business owner would say it’s okay to make mistakes, 
so long as you learn from them. If you are not tracking, there 
is no way to learn from your mistakes. Heck, there is no way 
to even know if you made a mistake. Worst of all, if you don’t 
track, then there is really no way to improve. That is truly a 
waste of a marketing budget. 
 
Using Family Members as Top Management: Leadership is 
key to success of any organization. Most business and startup 
owners find it difficult to differentiate between business 
activities and family affairs. As a result, it leads to combining 
all as one function. Therefore, family members may lack 
direction to diverse appropriate strategy to move the business 
forward. In some instance, the business area may not be there 
area of specialization. It’s a great and ideal thing to appoint 
great top leaders of any business organization from anywhere 
for the success of the business. 
 
LACK OF KNOWLEDGE IN A COMPETITIVE 
ENVIRONMENT 
This is similar to the tracking mistake, in that business owners 
have a huge opportunity to find out what works and what 
doesn’t… and yet many small business owners ignore it 
completely. 
Keep tabs on what your competitors are doing. Even if they 
are not in your environment, find at least three other 
businesses like yours that are doing well. Study their 
marketing like you were back in school; that is one aspect of 
benchmarking which is very important. 
Owners will be able to read their successes and failures once 
they start tracking what they do. Owners are advice to pay 
special attention to which tactics competitors do once, and 
then never do again. Notice what tactics they keep doing 
month after month after month. As a business owner, you can 
leverage every one of their successes and failures. You can 
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learn from every mistake they make. You just have to pay 
attention. 
 
LACK OF GOOD RECORD KEEPING 
Reference can only be made when good records are kept in 
any organization. Lack of record keeping especially 
financial record keep the business in a blank or dark 
situation. This is a mistake that is very common from all 
startups and small business owners which is not supposed to 
be. Record keeping is paramount to the success of any 
organization. Common books in a small business or startup 
which are very important can be; sales day book, purchase 
day book, cash book, final accounts etc. 
 
LACK OF GOOD WEBSITE 
It is on record globally that “Just less of half of small 
businesses have websites”. You read that right. Nearly half 
of all small businesses in the globally world don’t have a 
website. 
Some business owners think they don’t need a website 
because they are a local business.  However, 97% of 
consumers search online for products and services, and more 
than half of searches are local. People will (or won’t) find 
your business online before they ever go (or don’t go) to 
your business. Bottom line, you need a website. 
Maybe you think creating a website will be too hard, or too 
expensive. It doesn’t have to be hard or expensive though. 
Dozens of companies have stepped forward to make website 
creation easier and more affordable. You can have a decent, 
effective and reliable website for less than $250. If you can 
set up an answering machine, you can learn how to edit your 
website yourself, too. Companies like eesysite, Wix, 
GoDaddy, Weebly, Squarespace and many, many more can 
help. 
Hiring Marketing Staff without Studying the Marketing 
Environment Yourself 
Some of the smartest owners fall for this one. They know 
they need to do marketing, but they have no time to do it. So 
they hire someone to do it for them. 
Sounds like a good start, and it could be a good start. 
Except, you haven’t studied marketing, or the type of 
marketing you have just hired for. There are risks of this 
happening at any time, but business owners who haven’t 
read up on marketing seem to fall for it again and again and 
again. 
You need marketing literacy. That doesn’t mean you have to 
be an expert. You just need to know enough to be able to tell 
when you’re talking to an expert, and when you’re talking to 
a moron. 
Small business magazines can help. Podcasts are a great 
way to find out what’s working. There are dozens of small 
business marketing experts who can help, pick the one 
whose personality you like the most. But you really do need 
to spend 2-3 hours every week just learning about 
marketing.  
No marketing at all 
This one is dangerously tempting. There are so many good 
justifications for it. “A business owner may assume that, if 
the company creates a world-class product/service/store, the 
world will find the company”. Nope. The world won’t. Even 
the most awesome businesses in the world, which are often 

thought of as not doing any marketing, actually do 

marketing. They just do it so they don’t recognize it as 
marketing. 
“If a company doesn’t spend any money on marketing, they 
can put all that money back into improving the business”. 
Without marketing, the engine of your business has no gas. 
The trouble is, of course, that even without marketing, you are 
already overworked. You are already short on budget. You 
have got a dozen other reasons why you did like to just skip 
marketing, which many of business organization do.  The 
good news is you don’t have to hire someone full time to do 
your marketing. You don’t have to get a degree in it. You 
don’t have to blow ten thousand dollars of budget on it. Just 
start small, track smart, and expand what works. 
 
Not developing a written marketing plan and marketing 
budget 
 
It an old adage that still holds true today: Failing to plan 
means you are planning to fail. Small businesses that don’t 
have a rock solid marketing plan have a high rate of failure 
and usually lack the proper marketing budget. In fact, 
according to  recent research, B2B (business-to-business) 
marketers said their effectiveness increased significantly when 
they had a documented content marketing strategy and 40 
percent of marketers deemed least effective (according to how 
effective they rated their content marketing) had no written 
marketing strategy. 
My advice to business owners is “Just Do It”. Take the time to 
develop a strategic marketing  
plan.  As you create a marketing plan, be sure to address the 
financial costs of implementing each strategy.  For most small 
businesses, the general rule of thumb is that 9-12% of revenue 
should be earmarked for marketing efforts. If you are in 
startup mode or early stages you may need to invest more as 
you build your brand awareness. 
Your plan should outline the specific allocation of cash, for 
things like website design and maintenance, inbound 
marketing, marketing collateral, social media marketing ads, 
logo design and, if necessary, finding and paying a 
freelancer to assist with the areas of your plan you don’t have 
the expertise to execute on.  Part of your budget planning 
should include money for technology and software tools that 
will deliver a return-on-investment (ROI) of your overall 
marketing efforts. 
Planning your Budget Focusing on Just One Thing 
It’s even worse if business owners spent their budget on 
something they have never tried before. This mistake happens 
an awful lot, especially when owners have their launch 
budget. They have got this nice lump of money, and they 
think if they invest it in this one big thing, it will help to get 
them to break even faster. 
Except it doesn’t, they see almost no results. Add this to 
perhaps the most fatal small business mistake or startup 
mistake, being underfunded, and you have got a recipe for 
failure. 
Lack of Product or Service Differentiation   
It’s rare that a business creates its own category or a product 
or service that’s never been seen before. In most markets, 
small businesses face competition, which is why they need to 
communicate their unique value proposition why they are 
different. Owners need a solid reason that’s easy to explain 
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and gives people an obvious reason to do business with 
them instead of their competitors. 
Use your marketing to educate potential customers, not just 
sell to them. Educating consumers in a way that defines 
what differentiates you from your competition makes it 
easier for them to make a buying decision. If you can’t 
define why your product or service is unique, you can’t 
expect a potential customer will be able to deal with you. 
 
Wrong Selection Methods for Key or Management Staff 
Selections of management staff or key staff most come from 
a credible selection method. Selection process must be 
inclusive of technical and otherwise exposing all relevant 
skills needed for the job role to get a credible candidate. 
There is no alternative to this as this will be a great mistake 
of time for any business organization to make. 
Treating Marketing as an Expense vs. an Investment 
An expense is something you buy and depreciate. An 
investment is something you purchase that will deliver value 
in the future. The sole purpose of marketing is to drive more 
leads into customers and keep them as raving fans. So if you 
run your small business looking at marketing as an expense-
ready to cut marketing campaigns and programs when 
things get tight, you may want to reshape your perspective 
on small business marketing.. Often when turbulent times 
hit and sales fall in the tank the first inclination is to reduce 
your marketing spend. This is the absolute wrong decision. 
Marketing is the very catalyst you need to spur growth and 
drive new opportunities. 
Failing to recognize the value of your existing customers 
While attracting new visitors and buyers is key for your 
small business, don’t forget about your existing customers. 
Studies show that acquiring a new customer can be nearly 6 
times more costly than cross-selling or upselling an existing 
one. 
If owners only focus their marketing efforts on acquiring 
new customers, you are also likely to neglect your existing 
customers and provide them with less than stellar customer 
service. According to Forrester Research nearly 70% of 
consumers check out customer reviews prior to purchasing a 
product or service. That means that if you make a mistake 
and forget about your current customer base your sales 
growth is in jeopardy. So allocate a portion of your 
marketing budget to customer advocacy and retention, you 
will find it will propel your brand and deliver more referrals 
in the long run. 
 
CASH WITHDRAWALS WITHOUT FINANCIAL 
PLANNING 
Withdrawal of cash in a business by the owners results to 
cash depletion. This create short and long term financial 
deficit. When a business is facing cash flow problem, a well 
develop financial plan is needed to make provision for the 
future. Without good financial planning, cash withdrawal 
will be a great mistake by business owners.  
 
LACK OF MAINTAINING BALANCE BETWEEN 
EQUITY AND BORROWED FUNDS 
A balance between equity and borrowed fund is relevant to 
protect the business especially from bankruptcy proceedings 
by debts owners. The best balance can be between 60-40% 

equity/debts ratios. Business owners should make 

sure this is maintained to protect the business in the future. 
We all make mistakes. The key is being aware of them and 
consistently working to make smart, well-informed decisions 
in your business. Above all, we, startup owners, small 
business owners, companies, and organizations need to 
develop SMART Goals, the only lead way and direction to 
potential success. If business owners can do that, and remain 
resilient when mistakes are notice and properly address, 
success will be within every business reach. 
Prepared by: 
Orshi Terhemba Ephraim AAT, ACILRM, ACA 
 
ENDEAVOR NEWS  
Each news start on a new page and the news headlines or title 
full capitalized and bolded 
 
ACCOUNTANTS AND ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE 
(AI): ADAPTING TO THE DIGITAL FUTURE 
By LACHLAN COLQUHOUN 
(Accountants should remember that they will remain the 
“anxiety transfer experts” for clients, allaying fears and 
concerns and delivering insights into their business. Digital 
technologies such as artificial intelligence (AI) and blockchain 
would “cut out the middleman” in financial services, leaving 
the accountants of the future to focus less on compliance and 
more on strengthening relationships and delivering insights to 
clients, the World Congress of Accountants (WCOA) heard 
on 05 November, 2018). 
 
What will accountants do when compliance work is taken 
away?  
CPA Australia policy adviser, reporting, Ram Subramanian 
asked a WCOA 2018 panel discussion  
 
“How is the changing digital landscape impacting your 
business?” 
Subramanian asked the panel speakers how the future would 
look for accountants in a world where much of their 
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compliance work would be performed through AI, robotic 
process automation (RPA), blockchain and other 
technologies. “As accountants we have a challenge to 
enhance our profession”, he says. 
 “So much of what we do is compliance work, so what 
will we do when that is taken away?” 
Blockchain Cuts Compliance Work 
Panel speaker James Evangelidis, author of the “What do 
Clients Really Want” series of books and podcasts, agreed 
that while blockchain technology would eliminate a 
significant amount of compliance work, it would help 
accountants but not replace them. 
“I imagine that accountants want to do less compliance, not 
more”, he said. “All blockchain will do, will be to eliminate 
some roles and create others. The message is keep calm and 
don’t freak out, because it will make your job easier”. 
Evangelidis said that blockchain based on distributed 
ledgers was on the cusp of changing business to the same 
extent as the internet in the late 1990s. 
“Smarter Contracts” in transactions such as real estate 
purchases had the potential to eliminate banks, lawyers and 
real estate agents from the process, cutting time down to less 
than a week and costs from an estimated $30,000 per 
transaction to under $900. 
He quoted the example of the World Bank, which in August 
2018 used blockchain technology developed by the 
Commonwealth Bank to issue and price a A$100 million 
bond at only 5 per cent of the cost of a traditional manual 
bookbuild process. 
 
Reducing Fraud 
For accountants, Evangelidis said blockchain would have a 
major impact on the taxation system and help boost 
compliance and eliminate fraud. 
“If the Australian Government announced that they were 
moving the tax system onto blockchain, every transaction 
through an account would be tracked, compliance would be 
a whole lot easier and tax would be more straightforward 
and hard to avoid”, he said. 
Fellow panelist Alan FitzGerald, a technology consultant to 
accountants through his firm PracticeConnections, disagreed 
with Evangelidis on the maturity of blockchain technology, 
which he believed was several years away from having a 
significant impact. 
Rather, FitzGerald focused on RPA and AI as technologies 
that would impact accountants and the finance functions of 
organizations much sooner. 
This would be increasingly enabled by 5G mobile networks 
which would transmit larger volumes of data at much 
greater speeds than current 4G and 3G networks. 
“RPA is automating what can be automated, so it is a dumb 
technology, but when you put AI on top of that it can read 
the information and perform tasks such as cross referencing 
papers in a tax return within thirty seconds,” said 
FitzGerald. 
“RPA is the brawn, and AI is the brains.” 
 
ACCOUNTANTS AS ANXIETY TRANSFER EXPERTS 
In this digitized environment, accountants should always 
remember that they would remain the “anxiety transfer 
experts” for clients, allaying fears and concerns and 

delivering insights into their business. 

To promote this, accountants needed to harness the power of 
social media to “capture attention, develop relationships, 
make clients want to work with you and convert them to 
clients”. 
Through social media, the goal was to “identify a problem 
only you can fix”, give people some information about the 
expertise of the accountancy practice and attract a fresh 
audience. 
The message to accountants who feared the world of 
digitization is that RPA and AI were not taking their jobs, but 
rather doing parts of the job which “no one likes anyway” 
such as data entry. 
“The AI is clever but it won’t replace human oversight or 
verification”, says FitzGerald. 
“Machines are tools, but do people trust them implicitly? The 
answer is no”. 
 
 
2019 ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE (AI) PREDICTIONS  
 
Artificial Intelligence – specifically machine learning and 
deep learning – was everywhere in 2018 and don’t expect the 
hype to die down over the next 12 months. The hype will die 
eventually of course, and AI will become another consistent 
thread in the tapestry of our lives, just like the internet, 
electricity, and combustion did in days of yore. But for at least 
the next year, and probably longer, expect astonishing 
breakthroughs as well as continued excitement and hyperbole 
from commentators. This is because expectations of the 
changes to business and society which AI promises (or in 
some cases threatens) to bring about go beyond anything 
dreamed up during previous technological revolutions. AI 
points towards a future where machines not only do all of the 
physical work, as they have done since the industrial 
revolution but also the “thinking” work – planning, 
strategizing and making decisions.The jury’s still out on 
whether this will lead to a glorious utopia, with humans free 
to spend their lives following more meaningful pursuits, rather 
than on those which economic necessity dictates they dedicate 
their time, or to widespread unemployment and social unrest. 
We probably won’t arrive at either of those outcomes in 2019, 
but it’s a topic which will continue to be hotly debated. In the 
meantime, here are five things that we can expect to happen: 
AI increasingly becomes a matter of international politics 
2018 has seen major world powers increasingly putting up 
fences to protect their national interests when it comes to trade 
and defense. Nowhere has this been more apparent than in the 
relationship between the world’s two AI superpowers, the US 
and China. In the face of tariffs and export restrictions on 
goods and services used to create AI imposed by the US 
Government, China has stepped up its efforts to become self-
reliant when it comes to research and development. 
 
Chinese tech manufacturer Huawei announced plans to 
develop its own AI processing chips, reducing the need for the 
country’s booming AI industry to rely on US manufacturers 
like Intel and Nvidia. At the same time, Google has faced 
public criticism for its apparent willingness to do business 
with Chinese tech companies (many with links to the Chinese 
government) while withdrawing (after pressure from its 
employees) from arrangements to work with US government 
agencies due to concerns its tech may be militarized. With 
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nationalist politics enjoying a resurgence, there are two 
apparent dangers here. 
Firstly, that artificial intelligence technology could be 
increasingly adopted by authoritarian regimes to restrict 
freedoms, such as the rights to privacy or free speech. 
Secondly, that these tensions could compromise the spirit of 
cooperation between academic and industrial organizations 
across the world. This framework of open collaboration has 
been instrumental to the rapid development and deployment 
of AI technology we see taking place today and putting up 
borders around a nation’s AI development is likely to slow 
that progress. In particular, it is expected to slow the 
development of common standards around AI and data, 
which could greatly increase the usefulness of AI. 
 
A MOVE TOWARDS “TRANSPARENT AI” 
The adoption of AI across wider society – particularly when 
it involves dealing with human data – is hindered by the 
“black box problem”. Mostly, its workings seem arcane and 
unfathomable without a thorough understanding of what it’s 
actually doing. 
To achieve its full potential AI needs to be trusted – we need 
to know what it is doing with our data, why, and how it 
makes its decisions when it comes to issues that affect our 
lives. This is often difficult to convey – particularly as what 
makes AI particularly useful is its ability to draw 
connections and make inferences which may not be obvious 
or may even seem counter-intuitive to us. 
But building trust in AI systems isn’t just about reassuring 
the public. Research and business will also benefit from 
openness which exposes bias in data or algorithms. Reports 
have even found that companies are sometimes holding back 
from deploying AI due to fears they may face liabilities in 
the future if current technology is later judged to be unfair or 
unethical. 
In 2019 we’re likely to see an increased emphasis on 
measures designed to increase the transparency of AI. This 
year IBM unveiled technology developed to improve the 
traceability of decisions into its AI OpenScale technology. 
This concept gives real-time insights into not only what 
decisions are being made, but how they are being made, 
drawing connections between data that is used, decision 
weighting and potential for bias in information. 
The General Data Protection Regulation, put into action 
across Europe this year, gives citizens some protection 
against decisions which have “legal or other significant” 
impact on their lives made solely by machines. While it isn’t 
yet a blisteringly hot political potato, its prominence in 
public discourse is likely to grow during 2019, further 
encouraging businesses to work towards transparency. 
 
AI AND AUTOMATION DRILLING DEEPER INTO 
EVERY BUSINESS 
In 2018, companies began to get a firmer grip on the 
realities of what AI can and can’t do. After spending the 
previous few years getting their data in order and identifying 
areas where AI could bring quick rewards, or fail fast, big 
business is as a whole ready to move ahead with proven 
initiatives, moving from piloting and soft-launching to 
global deployment. 
 

In financial services, vast real-time logs of thousands of 
transactions per second are routinely parsed by machine 
learning algorithms. Retailers are proficient at grabbing data 
through till receipts and loyalty programmes and feeding it 
into AI engines to work out how to get better at selling us 
things. Manufacturers use predictive technology to know 
precisely what stresses machinery can be put under and when 
it is likely to break down or fail. 
 
In 2019 we’ll see growing confidence that this smart, 
predictive technology, bolstered by learnings it has picked up 
in its initial deployments, can be rolled out wholesale across 
all of a business’s operations. 
 
AI will branch out into support functions such as HR or 
optimizing supply chains, where decisions around logistics, as 
well as hiring and firing, will become increasingly informed 
by automation. AI solutions for managing compliance and 
legal issues are also likely to be increasingly adopted. As 
these tools will often be fit-for-purpose across a number of 
organizations, they will increasingly be offered as-a-service, 
offering smaller businesses a bite of the AI cherry, too. 
 
We’re also likely to see an increase in businesses using their 
data to generate new revenue streams. Building up big 
databases of transactions and customer activity within its 
industry essentially lets any sufficiently data-savvy business 
begin to “Googlify” itself. Becoming a source of data-as-a-
service has been transformational for businesses such as John 
Deere, which offers analytics based on agricultural data to 
help farmers grow crops more efficiently. In 2019 more 
companies will adopt this strategy as they come to understand 
the value of the information they own. 
 
MORE JOBS WILL BE CREATED BY AI THAN WILL BE 
LOST TO IT. 
As I mentioned in my introduction to this post, in the long-
term its uncertain if the rise of the machines will lead to 
human unemployment and social strife, a utopian workless 
future, or (probably more realistically) something in between. 
For the next year, at least, though, it seems it isn’t going to be 
immediately problematic in this regard. Gartner predicts that 
by the end of 2019, AI will be creating more jobs than it is 
taking. While 1.8 million jobs will be lost to automation – 
with manufacturing in particular singled out as likely to take a 
hit – 2.3 million will be created. In particular, Gartner’s report 
finds, these could be focused on education, healthcare, and the 
public sector. A likely driver for this disparity is the emphasis 
placed on rolling out AI in an “augmenting” capacity when it 
comes to deploying it in non-manual jobs. Warehouse workers 
and retail cashiers have often been replaced wholesale by 
automated technology. But when it comes to doctors and 
lawyers, AI service providers have made concerted effort to 
present their technology as something which can work 
alongside human professionals, assisting them with repetitive 
tasks while leaving the “final say” to them. This means those 
industries benefit from the growth in human jobs on the 
technical side – those needed to deploy the technology and 
train the workforce on using it – while retaining the 
professionals who carry out the actual work. 
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For the financial services, the outlook is perhaps slightly 
grimmer. Some estimates, such as those made by former 
Citigroup CEO Vikram Pandit in 2017, predict that the 
sector’s human workforce could be 30% smaller within five 
years. With back-office functions increasingly being 
managed by machines, we could be well on our way to 
seeing that come true by the end of next year. 
 
AI ASSISTANTS WILL BECOME TRULY USEFUL 
AI is genuinely interwoven into our lives now, to the point 
that most people don’t give a second thought to the fact that 
when they search Google, shop at Amazon or watch Netflix, 
highly precise, AI-driven predictions are at work to make 
the experience flow. 
 
A slightly more apparent sense of engagement with robotic 
intelligence comes about when we interact with AI 
assistants – Siri, Alexa, or Google Assistant, for example – 
to help us make sense of the myriad of data sources 
available to us in the modern world. 
 
In 2019, more of us than ever will use an AI assistant to 
arrange our calendars, plan our journeys and order a pizza. 
These services will become increasingly useful as they learn 
to anticipate our behaviors better and understand our habits. 
 
Data gathered from users allows application designers to 
understand exactly which features are providing value, and 
which are underused, perhaps consuming valuable resources 
(through bandwidth or reporting) which could be better used 
elsewhere. 
 
As a result, functions which we do want to use AI for – such 
as ordering taxis and food deliveries, and choosing 
restaurants to visit – are becoming increasingly streamlined 
and accessible. 
On top of this, AI assistants are designed to become 
increasingly efficient at understanding their human users, as 
the natural language algorithms used to encode speech into 
computer-readable data, and vice versa is exposed to more 
and more information about how we communicate. 
It’s evident that conversations between Alexa or Google 
Assistant and us can seem very stilted today. However, the 
rapid acceleration of understanding in this field means that, 
by the end of 2019, we will be getting used to far more 
natural and flowing discourse with the machines we share 
our lives with. 
 
Written by :Bernard Marr of Forbes (UK) 
Bernard Marr is a bestselling author, keynote speaker, and 
advisor to companies and governments. He has worked with 
and advised many of the world's best-known organizations. 
LinkedIn has recently ranked Bernard as one of the top 10 
Business Influencers in the world (in fact, No 5 - just behind 
Bill Gates and Richard Branson). He writes on the topics of 
intelligent business performance for various publications 
including Forbes, HuffPost, and LinkedIn Pulse. His blogs 
and SlideShare presentation have millions of readers. 
 
 
 

HOW VALUE CREATION CAN BE DIRECTLY 
MEASURED FROM EXISTING ACCOUNTING 
RECORDS 
Ben Walters, FCT, ACA 
 
A firm’s performance is measured in a myriad of ways. 
However, the ultimate measurement objective, that of value 
creation, is the one measure that is extremely difficult achieve. 
Financial reporting centers around the income statement 
which fails to reflect risk, cash, historic cost accounting and 
inflation. Even cash flow data is usually reported in terms of 
conversion of profit to cash, but again this not a measure of 
value unless there is an understanding of what the conversion 
rate should be. Conversion rates are influenced by many 
things, not least the rate at which the firm is growing. In 
defence of financial statements, they must address many 
different stakeholder requirements. 
However, as a guide to measuring value creation financial 
statements have limitations reflecting as they do the past just 
as much as the present and doing little to guide toward the 
future. In summary they do not really address whether the 
firm and its management are creating value. 
There are of course complex techniques such as “Economic 
Value Added” aimed at arriving at a version of value 
measurement. Although these may be effective, they come at 
a price usually involving a shadow reporting framework and a 
large consultancy bill. 
 
A SIMPLE PROCESS 
What we will discuss is a simple and transparent process of 
measuring value creation from existing data with no 
complicated accounting adjustments. The first step in this 
process is to isolate the incremental (year-on-year change) 
operating result. There are several reasons for this but 
primarily it is because the change year-on-year reflects current 
management’s influence on the business. Incremental results 
also handily exclude the effects of inflation and historic 
accounting adjustments and of course they are very easy to 
arrive at. Once the incremental operating result is known the 
next step is to convert this into a present value using MWACC 
(Modified Weighted Average Cost of Capital) as the 
appropriate discount rate. This is achieved through a little bit 
of magic involving an annuity calculation the tenor of which 
should be to the average useful economic life of the capital the 
firm has invested over the same period. Value has been 
created if the present value of the incremental result exceeds 
the capital the firm has consumed in achieving it. It really is as 
simple as that. As well as being extremely simple and straight 
forward to apply, this technique is incredibly powerful. It can 
be used to set budgets when looking at the incremental result 
forecast for next year and it can appraise performance by 
looking at the result for the year just finished. 
 
It can be broken down into its component parts so that all 
functions within the organization can be set value enhancing 
targets relevant to them. For instance, the sales team can be 
set a revenue growth target, operations with a margin target, 
and management with a capital allocation budget. Every part 
of the firm is now working in alignment toward creating 
value. 
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However, the advantages do not stop there: the target is 
dynamic. Management are free to invest more capital if the 
appropriate business opportunities arise. Management are 
not constrained by the capital spend budgeted as long as the 
return from this investment beats MWACC.  
 
This gives management flexibility and discretion within a 
dynamic value-based framework. All their decisions count 
over the course of the period being assessed from the terms 
granted to new customers to big-ticket M&A. Management 
cannot afford to let any asset sit idle; CAPEX budgets must 
be focused, appropriate and suddenly choices around 
working capital count. They all influence the capital 
consumed and return generated. 
 
THE POWER OF MWACC 
MWACC (Modified Weighted Average Cost of Capital) is a 
dynamic technique that encourages and rewards an 
entrepreneurial spirit and holistic management of the firm’s 
capital usage and profitability.It may be a cliché but you do 
get what you reward, and you can only reward what you can 
measure. By aligning easily understandable and accepted 
existing KPI’s to levels at which value is created, the firm is 
now directly driving management across all functional areas 
toward the common goal of value creation. 
Of course, external economic conditions fluctuate and the 
value of the firm is at the mercy of these. This technique 
though is immune to these external influences and reflects 
the returns management have generated from the capital 
they have consumed. 
Financial management is the strategic partner to the business 
and it should be used to drive value and strategy. Finance is 
not about keeping a score, it is about shaping the future.  
Modified Weighted Average Cost of Capital is copyright. 
 
ANALYSING STRENGTHS AND WEAKNESSES AMID 
ORGANIZATIONAL RESOURCES, COMPETENCIES 
AND CAPABILITIES 
 
Businesses in today’s world are often faced with complex 
situations that require an assessment of their position and 
identification of innovative ways to stay ahead. With the 
correct strategy in place, the potential of a business can be 
improved. SWOT (Strengths, Weakness, Opportunities and 
Threats) Analysis is one technique that can be used to 
identify that strategy. It can be applied to solving both 
personal and business problems. Used in a business context, 
SWOT helps management to carve a sustainable niche for 
the organizations market and create value addition to 
customers and clients. 
 
By adding value more successfully, a firm will improve its 
profitability, by reducing costs or improving sales. Some of 
the extra benefit might be passed on to the customers, in the 
form of a better-quality product or services or a lower 
selling price. If so, the business entity shares the benefits of 
added value with the customers, and gains additional 
competitive advantage. 
Added value does not have to be given immediately to 
customers (in the form of lower prices) or shareholders (in 
the form of higher dividends). The benefits can be re-

invested to create more competitive advantage in 

the future. Therefore, assessment and evaluation of the 
organizations resources, competencies and capabilities is 
paramount for a successful implementation of appropriate 
strategy (e.g. corporate strategy, financial strategy and 
investment strategy) for effective business performance. 
 
Resources 
These are the activities and processes of an organization 
utilizing certain assets. These assets are called resources. 
These resources can be created within the organization. They 
form the internal resources. Such generated resources are 
organization-specific. Otherwise they could be obtained 
externally from the suppliers available in the resource 
markets, therefore forming the external resources. The 
externally obtained resources are organization-addressable. In 
addition, resources can be categorized as specific or non-
specific. Those resources which can only be used for 
externally specialized intentions and are significant to the 
organization in adding value to goods and services are called 
specific resources. 
 
Non-specific resources are less specific and are less 
significant in adding value. Also resources can be broadly 
classified as tangible and intangible. The physical assets that 
an organization possesses are called tangible resources and 
final resources come under this category. 
The intellectual resources, technological resources and the 
organizational reputation together form the intangible 
resources. The patents and copyrights of the organization are 
typical examples of intellectual resources. Reputation is 
basically goodwill that the organization has acquired among 
the customers. It is a critical resources of an organization. 
Competencies 
An organization should possess some characteristics in order 
to have the ability to compete with other organizations in the 
market place. These characteristics form the competencies of 
the organization. For any organization to survive in an 
industry, competencies are must. At the same time 
competencies cannot be useful to an organization when they 
stand alone. It is when they combine together in the right 
combination (synergy) that they help the organization to attain 
competitive advantage. For instance, consider an information 
technology organization - for this to compete in the software 
industry, it should possess the competencies to write programs 
and design tools which have to be combined together to 
provide the organization with the competitive advantage in the 
industry. 
 
Capabilities 
Capabilities are the ability to do something. An entity should 
have capabilities for gaining competitive advantage. These 
come from using and coordinating the resources and 
competences of the entity to create competitive advantage. 
Capabilities arise from a complex combination of resources 
and core competences, and they are unique to each business 
entity. Each business entity should have capabilities that rivals 
cannot copy exactly, because the capabilities are embedded in 
the entity and its processes and systems. 
 
A resource-based view of the firm is based on the idea that 
strategic capability comes from the distinctive capability of 
the entity to use its resources and competences to provide a 
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platform for achieving long-term strategic success. 
Therefore, when a distinctive capability is able to continue 
functioning over a period of time it is said to be sustainable. 
When the organization which holds a distinctive capability 
is able to benefit mainly from it, the distinctive capability 
becomes appropriable. An organization can derive 
distinctive capabilities mainly from the organizational 
architecture, organization reputation and innovation. The 
relationships between the organization and the stakeholders 
are critical in developing these three aspects of the 
organization.  
 
Assessing resources and competences 
 
In addition to assessing the external environment or 
ecosystem, including markets and competitors, strategic 
managers should also assess the internal resources of the 
entity, its  competences and its capabilities.  
 
The following assessment is required: 
 

a. What are the resources of the entity? 
b. Which of these resources are unique or special? 

What value do they provide? (What competitive 
advantage do they provide?) 

c. Will requirements for resources change, as a result 
of changes in the business environment? 

d. How are the resources used? Are they used 
effectively and efficiently? 

e. What core competences does the entity have? 
 
Techniques for assessing resources and competences 
 
As it can be see, there are several techniques that might be 
used to assess the resources and competences of an entity. 
 

a. Management need to understand how value is 
created, and how value might be lost. An 
assessment of the value that is created or lost by the 
entity can be made using value chain analysis. 

b. Management can prepare a capability profile of the 
entity. This is an assessment of the key strategic 
processes that are needed to provide consistently 
superior value to customers. This is an assessment 
of capabilities and competitive advantage. 

 
c. A capability profile might be prepared together 

with a SWOT (Strength, Weakness, 
Opportunities and Treats) analysis 

. 
In order to prepare a capability profile or a SWOT analysis, 
management need a thorough understanding of the resources 
that the entity has, the value of those resources, and the 
competences that the entity has acquired in using those 
resources. This can be provided by a resource audit. 
 
Resource audit 
A resource audit is an initial assessment of the resources of 
an entity. It is carried out to establish what resources there 
are, which are unique and how efficiently and effectively 
they are being used. 

 

A resource audit should identify all the significant resources 
that are used by an entity. These will vary according to the 
nature of the entity. In general, however, a resource audit 
should provide data about the following resources: 
 
Human resources 
(Part-time and fulltime employees, consultants, subcontractors 
etc.) 
 

a. Size and composition of the workforce  
b. Efficiency of the workforce 
c. Flexibility of the workforce 
d. Rate of labor wastage/turnover 
e. Labor relations between management and workers 
f. Skills, experience, qualifications 
g. Any particular expertise? 
h. Labor costs: salaries and wages 

Management  
a. Size of the management team 
b. Historical performance 
c. Skills of the managers 
d. Nature of management structure, the division of 

authority and responsibility 
Raw materials  

a. Costs as a percentage of total costs 
b. Sources, suppliers 
c. Availability 
d. Future provision. Scarcity? 
e. Wastage rates 
f. Alternative materials and alternative sources of 

supply 
Non-current assets  

a. What are they? 
b. How old are they? What is their expected useful life? 
c. What is their current value? 
d. What is the amount of sales and profit per ₦1 

invested in non-current assets? 
e. Are they technologically advanced or out-of-date? 
f. What condition are they in? How well are they 

repaired and maintained? 
g. What is the utilization rate for each group of 

noncurrent assets? 
Intangible resources  

a. Are there any intellectual rights, such as patent rights 
and copyrights? 

b. Are there valuable brand names? 
c. Does the organization have any identifiable 

goodwill? 
d. What is the reputation of the entity with its 

customers? 
e. How well does it know them? 
f. Is the work force well-motivated? 

Financial resources  
a. What is the capital of the entity? 
b. What are its sources of new capital? 
c. What are the cash flows of the entity? 
d. What are its sources of liquidity? 
e. How well does it control trade receivables? 
f. How well does it control other elements of working 

capital? 
Internal controls and organization 
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a. How well does the entity control the use of its 

resources? 
b. How effective are its controls over the efficient and 

effective use of assets? 
c. How effective are its controls over accounting and 

financial reporting? 
d. How effective are its controls over compliance with 

regulations? 
e. How effective are its risk management systems? 
f. Is the entity organized in an efficient way? 

Evaluating resources 
Having identified the key resources of an organization or 
company, management can evaluate them and the entity’s 
ability to use them efficiently and effectively to create value 
(competences). 
 
A simple framework for evaluating resources is the 
VIRO framework: 
V: Value - Does the resource provide competitive 
advantage? 
R: Rarity - Do competitors own similar resources, or are the 
resources unique? 
I: Imitability - Would it be costly for competitors to imitate 
the resource or acquire it? 
O: Organization - Is the entity organized to exploit its 
resources to best advantage? 
 
SWOT ANALYSIS AND STRENGTHS AND 
WEAKNESSES 
SWOT analysis is a technique for analyzing strategic 
position and identifying key factors that might affect 
business strategy. These factors are both internal and 
external to the entity. 
SWOT analysis can also be explained in the context of 
identifying opportunities and threats in the environment. It is 
also used to identify strengths and weaknesses in the 
resources, competences and capabilities of the entity. 
Strengths: Strengths are resources and competences that an 
organization has, and the capabilities it has developed. 
Strengths in resources, competences and capabilities can be 
exploited and developed to create sustainable competitive 
advantage. 
Weaknesses: Weaknesses are resources, competences and 
capabilities that are deficient or lacking. These weaknesses 
are preventing the entity from developing or sustaining 
competitive advantage. 
Identifying strengths and weaknesses 
To identify strengths and weaknesses in an organization or 
company’s operations or activities, management should 
consider the following: 
 
RESOURCES 

 Consider all the resources of the entity, and identify 
those that are significant and unique. Include the 
skills of management and other employees in the 
organizations assessment. Management should also 
consider the knowledge that the entity has 
acquired, and its intellectual capital. 

 Consider whether there are key resources that the 
entity lacks, but a competitor might have. 

Competences 

 Consider all the activities and processes of the entity 
and how it uses its resources. Identify the 
competences of the entity and consider whether any 
of these are core competences that provide 
competitive advantage. 

 Consider the competences that the entity lacks. 
Capabilities 

 Consider the capabilities of the entity, and its relative 
success or failure in delivering value to the customer 
or in creating cost efficiency. 

Preparing a SWOT analysis 
If there is need for use of SWOT analysis in an organization, 
management may be required to analyze opportunities and 
threats as well as strengths and weaknesses in the strategic 
position. 
Strengths and weaknesses are concerned with the internal 
capabilities and core competencies of an entity. Threats and 
opportunities are concerned with factors and developments in 
the environment (i.e. the entity’s external environment). 
A SWOT analysis might be presented as four lists, in a 
cruciform chart, items are to be provided for each of the four 
sections of strengths, weakness, opportunities and threats 
(SWOT).  Illustrative items have been provided, for a small 
company producing pharmaceuticals products as an example 
below. 
Note that strengths and weaknesses should include 
competences and capabilities as well as resources. In this 
example, the strengths relate to resources and the weaknesses 
relate to competences and capabilities, suggesting that the 
entity might not be making the best use of its resources. 
Strengths 

a. Extensive research knowledge 
b. Highly-skilled scientists in the workforce 
c. High investment in advanced equipment 
d. Patents on six products 
e. High profit margins 

Weaknesses 
a. Slow progress with research projects 
b. Poor record of converting research projects into new 

product development 
c. Recent increase in labor turnover 

Opportunities 
a. Strong growth in total market demand 
b. New scientific discoveries have not yet been fully 

exploited 
Threats 

a. Recent merger of two major competitors 
b. Risk of stricter regulation of new products 

In order to prepare a SWOT analysis, it is necessary to: 
a. Analyze the internal resources of the entity, and try 

to identify strong points and weak points 
b. Analyze the external environment, and try to identify 

opportunities and threats. 
An analysis might be prepared by a team of strategic 
managers, a think tank, a risk management committee or 
another group of individuals within the entity. 
Using the technique 
A typical 2-by-2 SWOT Matrix places internal factors along 
the top and external factors along the bottom. Analysis 
produces factors to fill in the four boxes. What gaps do you 
recognize between stated goals and actual outcomes? Which 
SWOT factors are responsible for your company’s 
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shortcomings and successes? Management will need to think 
‘strategically’, by using basic SWOT analysis to identify the 
issues necessary for further discussion and brainstorming 
that will generate strategies and action from: 

 Strengths - Analysis of the organic business, 
 Weakness - Analysis of competitors, 
 Opportunities - Analysis of market and trends, 
 Threats - Analysis of the business environment or 

ecosystem. 
Organizations offering products and services can identify 
the strengths and weaknesses of their campaigns or products 
to see how they can be improved. With SWOT Analysis, 
new opportunities can be discovered and exploited, 
strengths can be identified and exploited to reduce 
weakness, and threats can be dealt with proactively.  
Interpretation of a SWOT analysis 
An initial SWOT analysis is simply a list of strengths, 
weaknesses, opportunities and threats. The significance or 
potential value/cost of each item is not considered in the 
initial analysis, and the items are not ranked in any order of 
importance. 
A problem with SWOT analysis is that it can encourage 
very long lists of strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and 
threats, without any differentiation between those that are 
significant and those that are fairly immaterial. 
Having prepared an initial SWOT analysis, the next step is 
to interpret it. 
Interpretation involves identifying those strengths, 
weaknesses, opportunities and threats (SWOTs) that might 
be significant, and what their implications might be for the 
future. The process of interpretation therefore involves 
ranking the SWOTs in some order of priority or importance. 
Another problem with SWOT analysis is that it can be used 
to identify significant issues, but it cannot be used for 
evaluation. It cannot be a substitute for a more rigorous 
strategic analysis. 
While resources and competences are necessary to compete 
in a market and deliver value to the customer, unique 
resources and core competences are needed to create 
competitive advantage. Therefore, having identified the 
most significant issues facing the organization, strategic 
management should then consider: 

a. How major strengths (for example, core 
competencies) and opportunities might be 
exploited, to obtain competitive advantage 

b. How major weaknesses and threats should be dealt 
with, in order to reduce the strategic risks for the 
entity. 
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HOW DATA ANALYTICS IS TRANSFORMING AUDIT 
By DEREK PARKER 
 (The auditor of the future will use data analytics to check 
data of much larger sets of information from a wide variety 
of agencies. Data analytics is allowing auditors to check 
much larger amounts of information and focus on areas of 
risk).  

The auditor of the future will use data analytics to check data 
of much larger sets of information from a wide variety of 
agencies, according to Ben Jiang, director – data analytics in 
the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office (VAGO). 
“It once would have been impossible to analyze all of the 
transactions of a large agency”, Jiang told CPA Congress in 
October 2018. 
“The traditional approach of sampling was necessary in its 
time but now the volume of transactions is so high that 
analytics technology has to be the way to go”. 
A major advantage of analytics is that the contributing 
agencies can provide data in almost any format. Clients lodge 
their data, usually monthly, through a secure portal. 
Algorithms for Data Analysis 
Jiang’s team has written a series of algorithms to transform 
the material into a common format for analysis, as well as run 
checks for completeness. The aim of the algorithms is to 
streamline processes that were formerly done manually. 
The result is a dashboard of aggregated, summarized data 
relating to each contributing agency. This allows auditors to 
easily access information and drill down as they need to. The 
common format allows for easier extraction of data, and also 
the checking of anomalies and outliers. The analytics program 
can create “red flags” to draw a matter to an auditor’s 
attention. 
In the VAGO, the system is still in its development phase. The 
dashboard system will be used in conjunction with traditional 
auditing methods for a complete audit cycle. The two methods 
will then be compared and assessed, and any problems with 
the analytics methods will be identified and addressed. 
The first wave of clients involves 35 agencies across the range 
of government entities, which includes departments, 
universities, councils and others. Second and third waves are 
planned, with improvements to the system being made as 
more experience is gained. 
Auditors’ Focus on Risk 
“The aim is to free auditors from mechanical tasks so they can 
concentrate on what they really need – and want – to do, 
which is auditing,” Jiang says. 
“They can focus in on areas of risk that the analytics have 
flagged, such as classes of transactions. Ultimately, it will 
allow for better performance benchmarking and resource use 
as well as auditing oversight.” 
To get the most from the analytics system and the dashboards, 
additional staff training will be needed. While auditors are 
generally very pleased with the prospect of not having to 
perform routine data collection, processing and checking, the 
new system requires some new skills and a different mindset. 
Data analytics requires a large amount of computer processing 
power, so this led to a rethinking of the IT system at VAGO. 
Safeguards also had to be built into the IT changes to ensure 
data security. 
Jiang notes that the software packages used to design and 
operate the new system are Microsoft SQL Server, Qlik Sense 
and Python. 
“We are aware that we are writing the rulebook rather than 
working through an existing one,” he says. 
“Especially in relation to performance auditing, I think we are 
just scratching the surface. And we take the view that 
analytics is meant to supplement and improve auditing. 
Analytics is the first post of auditing, and then human 
experience, insight and judgment take over”.  
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It is however believe that, technology is impacting on the 
global financial sector, and these changes can be applied to 
any jurisdiction worldwide. Therefore, companies, 
organizations, government and other corporation and the 
business community should be awake to subscribe in and 
perform optimally without restriction.   
 
HOW FINANCE TEAMS CAN ARGUE FOR A 
TECHNOLOGY UPGRADE 
By JAN MCCALLUM 
06/11/2018 
INTHEBACK 
Copyright 2018 CPA Australia Ltd 
 
(Start by documenting the challenges your team faces on a 
day-to-day basis. Too expensive, when will you find time to 
do it and how do our clients benefit anyway? These are 
typical rejections to requests from finance teams wanting to 
upgrade their technology, delegates to the World Congress 
of Accountants (WCOA) heard on November 5, 2018). 
How do finance teams make an argument for an automation 
project? How do they gain consensus from within their 
organization? 
First, create awareness of the challenges, says Thomson 
Reuters Director of Sales and Customer Success, David 
Allen. 
“Document the challenges your team faces on a day-to-day 
basis”, he told delegates in Sydney at the World Congress of 
Accountants (WCOA). 
A compelling business case needs to drive the point that 
new technology will be “a must have” rather than a “nice to 
have”, says Allen. 
Arguments can be made around minimizing time spent on 
compliance, leaving time to focus on strategy or that the 
technology can be scaled to keep up with an increasing pace 
of change. 
It will deliver more accurate data and therefore improve 
analytic capability and enable peer group benchmarking. 
Bad systems have an impact on morale, output of data and 
how the business presents in the market, Allen adds. 
“If you have bad systems you need good people to be able to 
work around those systems and those good people will not 
last if those systems continue to be bad”, he says. 
Allen says in marshaling their arguments, the finance team 
should: 

a. Outline the need and opportunities from the project 
b. Define the cost 
c. Define the solution and how to measure success 
d. Describe the implementation plan and risks 
e. Outline what is required and how it could be 

funded 
f. Describe the support needed to ensure success. 

The planning process needs to identify all the stakeholders 
and their drivers. The IT department wants to be involved 
from the start because it needs to plan for projects. Legal 
teams need to be informed because they will be dealing with 
the deliverables in contracts. 
Allen says procurement departments are increasingly 
involved in all deals, ensuring due diligence has been done. 
Missing steps such as working with one only vendor “can 
really set you back” when procurement wants three quotes. 

He suggests writing an RFI, or request for information, to 
send out to potential vendors, detailing your requirements, 
particularly what is essential. Using an RFI means the vendors 
must give a fairly standardized response to the questions and 
enables you to refine what is important to you early. 
Identify advocates within your organization, who will 
typically be outside your team but ready to work with you 
closely and argue your case at management meetings. "Bring 
in your legal team early. They will make sure vendor promises 
are captured in your contract", Allen says. 
When you are eventually pitching to the CFO or Managing 
Director and the discussion is going well, he says someone 
will ask, “What’s in it for our customer?” 
“It is really important at that point that your answer is backed 
by an advocate within the business”. 
 
HOW IMPORTANT IS VIRTUE IN MODERN 
LEADERSHIP? 
By: Jo Owen, Auvian Press 
If capitalism is to be sustained, good leaders must rise to the 
challenge of striking the right balance between effectiveness 
and virtue 
I have spent more time than is wise with tribes around the 
world. In tribal societies, the leader leads for the benefit of the 
community. In the struggle to survive, tribes cannot afford to 
have leaders who are in it for themselves. Capitalism has 
changed all that. The main role of a business leader today is 
not to serve the community.  
From the earliest days of capital- ism, there has been a 
struggle over the purpose of leadership: who does the 
capitalist leader serve? Do leaders serve themselves or the 
community? The fundamental battle is whether good leaders 
are simply effective or whether good leaders are virtuous. 
Ideally, good leaders are both effective and virtuous. Ideally, 
there would not be war, famine, disease and poverty. As 
leaders we may strive for the ideal but meanwhile we have to 
deal with reality.  
The brilliant success of capitalism in creating wealth has dark 
foundations. President Roosevelt raged against the 
“malefactors of great wealth”. These are the leaders who built 
the dark satanic mills of the Industrial Revolution, and made 
great fortunes in the process.  
In 1835 Balzac wrote: “behind every great fortune lies a great 
crime”, a phrase repeated in The Godfather. The rage against 
the rich is not a new phenomenon.  
The “greed is good” form of leadership continues. It is given 
ample justification by the shareholder value revolution started 
in the 1980s by Professor Alfred Rappaport of Kellogg GSM. 
Originally, this was intended to align leaders’ and 
shareholders’ incentives. It supported the legal fiction that 
leaders serve shareholders.  
In many firms, leaders serve themselves. They may not build 
dark satanic mills any more, but they will do what it takes to 
maximize their own wealth. They will happily make taxable 
profits disappear into tax havens and grind zero hour 
employees down with algorithms that make old fashioned 
time and motion managers look benign.  
But capitalism has also always had ‘enlightened’ leaders who 
looked beyond money to moral purpose. The great Quaker 
families of the 19th century are prime examples. The Fry, 
Rowntree and Cadbury dynasties all set up chocolate 
businesses as part of the temperance drive: being a chocoholic 
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was deemed to be better than being an alcoholic. Their 
moral purpose extended to the way they treated their 
workers by creating model towns such as Bourneville.  
In the 21st century the battle between effectiveness and 
virtue has intensified for three reasons. Each reason has 
consequences for the future of leadership and business.  
Externalities Society is becoming less tolerant of the 
problem of ‘private profit, public loss’. This ranges from 
bailing out bankers from the public purse to remediating the 
problems of pollution. The result is, inevitably, ever more 
regulation to control these excesses.  
You can regulate compliance, not virtue. Inequality Fifty 
years ago CEOs of S&P 500 firms earned 20 times as much 
as the average worker; now they earn 270 times as much. If 
real average earnings were rising fast this might not have 
mattered: there was more cake for all. Now it looks like the 
few are eating the cake of the many.  
This greed contributes to grievance politics and populism, 
which can have very dangerous consequences. Trust The 
IPSOS MORI veracity index shows that business leaders are 
trusted as much as estate agents, but considerably less than 
hair- dressers. A workplace in which there is low trust is 
rarely a happy or effective workplace.  
Capitalism remains the most effective wealth creation 
machine ever devised. It also remains prone to wild 
excesses. To be sustainable, it has to find ways of mitigating 
its own excesses. Capitalism must be saved from itself. That 
is a real leadership challenge. As a leader you cannot change 
capitalism by yourself. But you can lead in such away as to 
be a role model for others.  
Run your business to avoid imposing externalities on 
society; avoid excessive greed; and build real trust within 
and beyond your organization. If you can do all this, you 
may achieve the unique feat of being both effective and 
virtuous. You will be a good leader for the 21st century.  
About the Author: 
Jo Owen is an author, a keynote speaker and the founder of 
eight NGOs. His latest book is The Tribal Code (Auvian 
Press)  
 
HOW TO AUDIT THE CLOUD 
By:ICAEW (Institute of Chartered Accountants of England 
and Wales) 
 
Cloud computing is transforming business IT services, 
increasing its operational efficiencies and reducing its costs. 
But the use of cloud computing services also poses 
significant risks that need to be planned for by audit 
committees, boards and management if they are to be 
handled effectively. 
 
It is important to note that the audit approach carried out is 
likely to vary, depending on the scale and complexity of the 
service being used. Questions that internal audit will need to 
consider before they begin their work include: 
 
Is the existing audit risk assessment process flexible enough 
to differentiate between the range of cloud services that 
might be used? 
 
Is there a clear understanding of the difference between the 

organization and the cloud, and where the technology 
boundary starts and stops? 
 
Has sufficient explanation been provided to key internal 
parties, including directors and the audit committee, to 
highlight the business reasoning or impact of cloud provision? 
 
How does the audit work complement the wider supplier 
assessments that are considering both third and fourth party 
risks? 
 
How will samples be selected and are there opportunities to 
employ data analytics, either via the service provider or in-
house, to enable complex analysis that caters for peaks and 
troughs in provision? 
 
Are the audit teams knowledgeable about the differences in 
cloud computing services and do they apply the right 
approach to deliver effective audit coverage? 
Does the organization’s strategy for the cloud link to the 
overall business strategy? 
 
KEY RISKS AND CHALLENGES Cloud security: 
Security is one of the main areas of this report’s focus and 
requires detailed knowledge. There are a broad range of 
security controls that need to be considered, from access 
control and encryption through to cyber defences and 
monitoring. How the cloud service provider implements 
recognized security standards will also be critical to consider. 
 
Operational resilience is key to maintaining service: 
Effective operational resilience is necessary for maintaining 
service for customers in addition to meeting regulatory and 
legal requirements. Internal audit will need to consider the 
level of resilience required and how the cloud provider meets 
these requirements. 
Supplier management and its role in maintaining service: 
Internal auditors will need to understand how the operating 
model works and may use service metrics, defined KPIs (Key 
Performance Indicators) and meetings with the service 
provider (or supplier management team) to gain a greater 
understanding of the cloud. 
 
Governance policies and processes: are they fit for 
purpose? 
There needs to be a clear transition where the business as 
usual approach effectively embeds into the organization. An 
organization-wide cloud policy needs to be established. Cloud 
services can be procured easily and there is a risk that without 
the right governance organizations could lose central control 
of the IT being used. 
 
Regulatory and legal: the importance of compliance: 
 
Cloud provision will need to comply with both regulatory and 
legal requirements. This complex area is evolving. Financial 
regulators will be increasingly focused on the potential risk of 
concentration where a number of large organizations are using 
a small number of providers, such as Amazon, Google, IBM 
and Microsoft. A service failure at a large cloud service 
provider could result in mass disruption. 
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As the use of cloud technology matures, organizations will 
be adopting new operational models with increased 
automation that moves away from traditional IT 
management and service design. Internal audit will need to 
consider how it moves towards providing real time 
assurance. 
 
 6 AI RISKS EVERYONE SHOULD KNOW ABOUT 
 
SHOULD WE BE SCARED OF ARTIFICIAL 
INTELLIGENCE (AI)? 
Some notable individuals such as legendary physicist 
Stephen Hawking and Tesla and SpaceX leader and 
innovator Elon Musk suggest AI could potentially be very 
dangerous; Musk at one point was comparing AI to the 
dangers of the dictator of North Korea. Microsoft co-
founder Bill Gates also believes there’s reason to be 
cautious, but that the good can outweigh the bad if managed 
properly. Since recent developments have made super-
intelligent machines possible much sooner than initially 
thought, the time is now to determine what dangers artificial 
intelligence poses. 
WHAT IS APPLIED AND GENERALIZED 
ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE? 
 
At the core, artificial intelligence is about building machines 
that can think and act intelligently and includes tools such as 
Google's search algorithms or the machines that make self-
driving cars possible. While most current applications are 
used to impact humankind positively, any powerful tool can 
be wielded for harmful purposes when it falls into the wrong 
hands. Today, we have achieved applied AI, AI that 
performs a narrow task such as facial recognition, natural 
language processing or internet searches. Ultimately, experts 
in the field are working to get to more generalized AI, where 
systems can handle any task that intelligent humans could 
perform, and most likely beat us at each of them. 
 
In a comment, Elon Musk wrote: "The pace of progress in 
artificial intelligence (I'm not referring to narrow AI) is 
incredibly fast. Unless you have direct exposure to groups 
like Deepmind, you have no idea how fast, it is growing at a 
pace close to exponential. The risk of something seriously 
dangerous happening is in the five-year timeframe. 10 years 
at most”. 
 
There are indeed plenty of AI applications that make our 
everyday lives more convenient and efficient. It's the AI 
applications that play a critical role in ensuring safety that 
Musk, Hawking, and others were concerned about when 
they proclaimed their hesitation about the technology. For 
example, if AI is responsible for ensuring the operation of 
our power grid and our worst fears are realized, and the 
system goes rogue or gets hacked by an enemy, it could 
result in massive harm. 
 
HOW CAN ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE BE 
DANGEROUS? 
 
While we haven’t achieved super-intelligent machines yet, 
the legal, political, societal, financial and regulatory issues 

are so complex and wide-reaching that it’s 

necessary to take a look at them now so we are prepared to 
safely operate among them when the time comes. Outside of 
preparing for a future with super-intelligent machines now, 
artificial intelligence can already pose dangers in its current 
form. Let’s take a look at some key AI related risks: 
 
AUTONOMOUS WEAPONS 
 
AI programmed to do something dangerous, as is the case 
with autonomous weapons programmed to kill, is one way AI 
can pose risks. It might even be plausible to expect that the 
nuclear arms race will be replaced with a global autonomous 
weapons race. Russia’s president Vladimir Putin said: 
“Artificial intelligence is the future, not only for Russia, but 
for all humankind. It comes with enormous opportunities, but 
also threats that are difficult to predict. Whoever becomes the 
leader in this sphere will become the ruler of the world 
”.Aside from being concerned that autonomous weapons 
might gain a “mind of their own,” a more imminent concern is 
the dangers autonomous weapons might have with an 
individual or government that doesn’t value human life. Once 
deployed, they will likely be difficult to dismantle or combat. 
SOCIAL MANIPULATION 
Social media through its autonomous-powered algorithms is 
very effective at target marketing. They know who we are, 
what we like and are incredibly good at surmising what we 
think. Investigations are still underway to determine the fault 
of Cambridge Analytical and others associated with the firm 
who used the data from 50 million Facebook users to try to 
sway the outcome of the 2016 U.S. presidential election and 
the U.K.'s Brexit referendum, but if the accusations are 
correct, it illustrates AI's power for social manipulation. By 
spreading propaganda to individuals identified through 
algorithms and personal data, AI can target them and spread 
whatever information they like, in whatever format they will 
find most convincing, fact or fiction. 
 
INVASION OF PRIVACY AND SOCIAL GRADING 
It is now possible to track and analyze an individual's every 
move online as well as when they are going about their daily 
business. Cameras are nearly everywhere, and facial 
recognition algorithms know who you are. In fact, this is the 
type of information that is going to power China's social credit 
system that is expected to give every one of its 1.4 billion 
citizens a personal score based on how they behave, things 
such as do they jaywalk, do they smoke in non-smoking areas 
and how much time they spend playing video games. When 
Big Brother is watching you and then making decisions based 
on that intel, it’s not only an invasion of privacy it can quickly 
turn to social oppression. 
 
MISALIGNMENT BETWEEN OUR GOALS AND THE 
MACHINE’S 
Part of what humans value in AI-powered machines is their 
efficiency and effectiveness. But, if we aren’t clear with the 
goals we set for AI machines, it could be dangerous if a 
machine isn’t armed with the same goals we have. For 
example, a command to “Get me to the airport as quickly as 
possible” might have dire consequences. Without specifying 
that the rules of the road must be respected because we value 
human life, a machine could quite effectively accomplish its 
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goal of getting you to the airport as quickly as possible and 
do literally what you asked, but leave behind a trail of 
accidents. 
 
DISCRIMINATION 
Since machines can collect, track and analyze so much 
about you, it’s very possible for those machines to use that 
information against you. It’s not hard to imagine an 
insurance company telling you you’re not insurable based 
on the number of times you were caught on camera talking 
on your phone. An employer might withhold a job offer 
based on your “social credit score.” 
Any powerful technology can be misused. Today, artificial 
intelligence is used for many good causes including helping 
the financial industry and firms solve business problems 
relating to risk assessment, fraud detection and management, 
financial advisory services, trading and management of 
finances. AI also help us to make better medical diagnoses, 
find new ways to cure cancer and make our cars safer. 
Unfortunately, as our AI capabilities expand we will also 
see it being used for dangerous or malicious purposes. Since 
AI technology is advancing so rapidly, it is vital for us to 
start to debate the best ways for AI to develop positively 
while minimizing its destructive potential. 
Written by: 
Bernard Marr  
Contributor of Forbes (UK) 
Nov 19, 2018, 12:20am 
 
Bernard Marr is a bestselling author, keynote speaker, and 
advisor to companies and governments. He has worked with 
and advised many of the world's best-known organizations. 
LinkedIn has recently ranked Bernard as one of the top 10 
Business Influencers in the world (in fact, No 5 - just behind 
Bill Gates and Richard Branson). He writes on the topics of 
intelligent business performance for various publications 
including Forbes, HuffPost, and LinkedIn Pulse. His blogs 
and SlideShare presentation have millions of readers. 
 
SIGNS ON THE ROAD TO CHANGE FOR 
ACCOUNTANTS IN BUSINESS IN A DIGITAL AGE 
By Larry White 
IFAC (International Federation of Accountants) 
December 11, 2018  
Professional accountants working in business and the public 
sector constitute the overwhelming majority of the 
profession working within and beyond finance teams. The 
future attractiveness of the profession is very much 
dependent on the value these accountants create to secure 
interesting and expanding job opportunities and career 
pathways inside organizations. 
 
A golden opportunity to create new value is presented by the 
automation and digitalization of finance and accounting.  
The rapid reduction of manual processes particularly at the 
transaction and reporting levels is allowing a more 
significant focus on contributing directly to business 
decisions. Grasping this opportunity is essential if 
accountancy is going to remain an exciting and value-added 
profession in the business world and in the public sector. 
 

Consequently, the IFAC PAIB Committee is aggressively 
pursuing an agenda to redefine and elevate the role of 
accountants in business.  The most recent meeting of the 
PAIB Committee clearly shows many “Signs” on the road to 
changing their image.   The report of the September 2018 
meeting, Perspectives on the Finance Function Journey, is 
now available providing a summary of the key areas being 
discussed by the committee, including: 
 
A Vision and Roadmap for the Finance Function – This is a 
major project looking at the accountant and finance’s role in a 
digital age. The prerequisites for delivering such a vision 
include: Being customer-led and responsive to customer needs 
throughout the organization. 
Commercial, business, or organizational awareness and 
understanding well beyond just the financials.Technology and 
digitally enabled. 
Values and culture to explore strategic and future oriented 
ways to create and present value for decision making and 
reporting. 
Structure to be a business partner throughout the organization.   
Talent and skills to support new roles, innovation in decision 
support, and improved communication. 
Professionalism – ethics and integrity – and the high standard 
of professional values must evolve for a changing future. 
A clear vision and roadmap for the development of finance 
functions will also provide a guide to those areas that a Board 
of Directors and Management can use in assessing, 
evaluating, and enhancing the value creating role of their 
finance function. 
Data Analytics – The committee explored the state of 
implementation of data analytics to deliver insights from 
financial and non-financial data to improve decision making 
critical to an organization’s success. Use of improved data 
analytics allows accountants to help organizations uncover 
valuable insights to improve strategic and operational 
decisions for revenue growth and cost reduction, as well as, in 
financial reporting processes to better manage risk. 
Data Modeling Beyond Financial Accounting and Reporting – 
The committee is concerned that finance functions over rely 
on data and processes designed to support financial reporting 
systems.  The consequence is outdated financial-centric 
performance and costing models that do not deliver the 
actionable information that their operational colleagues 
require.  Improving data analytics, the analysis of non-
financial capitals, and how they contribute to value creation 
call for accountants to develop new, more relevant models of 
organizational value and performance both inside the 
organization and for external reporting. 
 
Effective Audit Committees and their Relationship with CFOs 
and the Finance Function – Effective audit committees are a 
critical part of delivering trust and confidence in reporting and 
risk management.  The committee has been considering audit 
committee practices across countries, and it is clear that their 
remits and practices vary considerably.  Differing views 
existed on the role of the audit committee in supporting the 
finance function.  Many felt the finance function needed to 
push for it be reviewed and clearly understood by the entire 
board because the finance function needs to become much 
more broadly focused than external financial reporting to be 
successful in a digital economy.  However, the committee had 
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some good reports of situations where the audit committee 
had taken a lead advocacy role for developing the finance 
function.  A close relationship between an audit committee 
and finance function will continue to be important. The 
committee will continue to explore and share experiences on 
audit committee and board best practices for supporting the 
finance function.  
Trust and Professionalism – Exploring the issue of trust and 
professionalism, the committee considered the root causes 
of declining trust in the profession with a view to address 
the question: “How might we maintain and enhance trust in 
professional accountants in business and the public sector?”. 
Trust is based on accountants displaying ethical and 
professional behavior, as well as, contributing greater value 
to the organization and society.  Each of these areas - 
behavior, the perceived ability to deliver value to the 
organization, and the contribution to society - will be 
examined further.  The recognition that the latter two are 
historically less well addressed is significant in changing the 
perception of PAIBs. 
Effective Communication and Storytelling – Accountants 
need to up their game in communications which will require 
a new broader, strategic view of their roles and new skills.  
They need to be focused on addressing long term value 
creation for multiple stakeholder groups, providing 
information on multiple capitals for decision making, and 
reporting to support the creation and development of 
responsible organizations.  This will involve communication 
beyond numbers.  It will require a focus on storytelling and 
authenticity to engage and influence important stakeholders. 
In other news, – The International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants (IESBA) provided an update of its activities 
including resources to support the implementation of 
NOCLAR (Non-Compliance with Laws and Regulations), 
and its new project on Promoting the Role and Mindset 
Expected of Professional Accountants. The latter project has 
arisen in the light that the IESBA will not be seeking to 
expand the concept of “professional skepticism” to 
accountants working outside audit where the term is applied 
with a specific meaning and definition.  The committee felt 
this position was appropriate given the focus on accountants 
working as a business partners and active members of a 
value creating team.  However, accountants in business will 
continue to be expected to exercise professional judgment in 
all they do which, of course, includes professional challenge 
when appropriate. 
All these areas are the “Signs on the Road” that will lead to 
the new, expanded, and more robust image and skill set of 
professional accountants in business. The PAIB Committee 
is focused on helping IFAC members around the world 
recognize and prepare for these changes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SMART REGULATION, HEIGHTENED 
TRANSPARENCY, INCLUSIVE GROWTH NEEDED 
FOR GLOBAL ECONOMIC PROGRESS 
By: 
IFAC (the International Federation of Accountants) 
(New York, November 19, 2018) 
As a recommendation to the G20, Focus on Rebuilding Public 
Trust, IFAC (the International Federation of Accountants) 
calls upon G20 countries to pursue smart regulation, 
heightened transparency, and inclusive growth to rebuild trust 
in institutions and advance global economic progress. 
“Low levels of public trust threaten both economic and 
political stability”, said Fayezul Choudhury, IFAC CEO. 
“Leaders in government and business must work together to 
bolster good governance and collaborate for effective public 
policies that inspire confidence in the institutions supporting 
the global economy”. 
G20 countries play a crucial role in fostering institutions and 
governance models that can anticipate, respond to, and 
mitigate future crises. In advance of the 2018 G20 Summit in 
Buenos Aires, Argentina, IFAC issues 10 actionable 
recommendations for G20 countries to support the global 
economy. 
Develop Smarter Regulation 
Regulation must effectively support the public interest 
through well-targeted conception, effective design and 
committed implementation. To achieve smarter regulation, 
G20 countries must: 

a. Develop and adopt consistent, comprehensive, and 
high-quality regulation, 

b. Create a coherent, transparent global regulatory 
environment that limits divergence, and 

c. Implement internationally-accepted standards to 
enhance confidence and stability in the global 
financial system. 

Increase Transparency 
Robust transparency in the public and private sectors is key to 
earn public trust, fight corruption, encourage good governance 
and promote ethical business practices. To increase 
transparency in the global economy, G20 countries must: 

a. Strengthen governance in the public and private 
sectors, 

b. Embrace integrated reporting, 
c. Enhance public sector financial management, and 
d. Collaborate to tackle corruption. 

Enable Inclusive Growth 
The fruits of a growing global economy must be shared 
inclusively to inspire confidence in the future. To enable 
inclusive growth, G20 countries must: 

a. Foster an environment that supports small and 
medium sized (SMEs) entity growth, 

b. Create a secure and digital-ready investment 
environment, and 

c. Collaborate for a coherent international tax system. 
Why this was directly addressed to the G20 countries during a 
summit, it is important to note that, these principles can be 
applied in any country and economy. They form the bases by 
which credible financial information are reported, and will 
create enabling environment for the operation of business 
activities, especially for SMEs. Adoption is universal as 
economic growth depends on environmental favorability. 
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About IFAC 
IFAC is the global organization for the accountancy 
profession dedicated to serving the public interest by 
strengthening the profession and contributing to the 
development of strong international economies. IFAC is 
comprised of more than 175 members and associates in 
more than 130 countries and jurisdictions, representing 
almost 3 million accountants in public practice, education, 
government service, industry, and commerce. 
 
SUMMARY OF DIFFERENT SOURCES, FEATURES, 
AND COSTS OF BUSINESS FINANCE 
 
INTRODUCTION 
Sources of finance for business are equity, debt, debentures, 
retained earnings, loams, letter of credit, euro issue, venture 
funding etc. These sources of funds are used in different 
situations. They are classified based on time period, 
ownership and control, and their source of generation. Long-
term finance is needed to invest in long-term assets and 
working capital. Short-term finance might be needed to help 
with cash flow problems, and to ensure that the entity has 
enough funds to pay its suppliers and liabilities on time. 
Finance has a cost, because providers of finance expect a 
return on their investment. 
 
An important aspect of financial management is the choice 
of methods of financing for an organization or company’s 
assets or operations. Furthermore, financial management 
involves deciding how to raise additional finance, and for 
how long, and ensuring that the providers of finance receive 
the returns to which they are either entitled (in the case of 
lenders) or which they expect (in the case of shareholders). 
Financial managers therefore need to have an understanding 
of the financial markets. Companies use a variety of sources 
of finance and the aim should be achieving an efficient 
capital structure that provides: 

a. A suitable balance between short-term and long-
term funding 

b. Adequate working capital 
c. A suitable balance between equity and debt capital 

in the long-term capital structure. 
 
Factors that must be considered before choosing a financial 
source are: 

a. Amount of finance, funds or money needed 
b. Cost of obtaining the finance or the funds 
c. Duration (time limit for repayment of interest and 

principal) 
d. Flexibility of the finance options 
e. Repayment (conditions for interest and principal 

repayment) 
f. Impact of the finance or funds on financial 

statements 
 
Some of the sources of new finance for companies include: 
EQUITY FINANCING 
Equity financing is the method of raising capital by selling 
company stock to investors (the ordinary shareholders, also 
called equity shareholders). In return for the investment, the 
shareholders receive ownership interests (in form of 

dividend) in the company. For most companies, 

however, the main source of new equity finance is internal, 
from retained profits.  
New equity finance can be raised by issuing new shares for 
cash, or issuing new shares to acquire a subsidiary in a 
takeover. Equity financing is a common way for businesses to 
raise capital by selling shares in the business. This differs 
from debt financing, where the business secures a loan from a 
financial institution. 
Features of Equity Financing 

a. This is finance raised through sale of shares to 
existing or new investors (existing investors often 
have a right to invest first – pre-emption rights). 

b. Providers of equity are the ultimate owner of the 
company. 

c. Issue costs can be high. 
d. Cost of equity is higher than other forms of finance. 
e. New issues to new investors will dilute control of 

existing owners. 
When Equity Financing is Appropriate 

a. Used to provide long term finance.  
b. May be used in preference to debt finance if 

company is already highly geared. 
c. Private companies may not be allowed to offer shares 

for sale to the public at large (e.g. in the UK, 
Nigeria). 

 
DEBT FINANCING 
Debt financing means borrowing money and not giving up 
ownership. In other words, ‘debt finance’ is used to describe 
finance where: 

a. The borrower receives capital, either for a specific 
period of time (redeemable debt) or possibly in 
perpetuity (irredeemable debt); 

b. The borrower acknowledges an obligation to pay 
interest on the debt for as long as the debt remains 
outstanding; and 

c. The borrower agrees to repay the amount borrowed 
when the debt matures (reaches the end of the 
borrowing period). 

For companies, the most common forms of debt finance are: 
a. Borrowing from banks; and 
b. Issuing debt securities. 

Debt finance might be secured against assets of the borrower. 
When a debt is secured, the lender has the right to seek 
repayment of the outstanding debt out of the secured asset or 
assets, in the event that the borrower fails to make payments 
of interest and repayments of capital on schedule. The secured 
assets provide a second source of repayment if the first source 
fails. 
When a debt is unsecured, the lender does not have this 
second or alternative source of repayment in an event of 
default by the borrower. 
For both secured and unsecured debt, the borrower is usually 
required to give certain undertakings or ‘covenants’ (i.e. debt 
financing often comes with strict conditions or covenants in 
addition to having to pay interest and principal at specified 
dates.) to the lender, including an undertaking to make interest 
payments in full and on time. The borrower will be in default 
for any breach of covenant, and the lenders will then have the 
right to take legal action against the borrower to recover the 
debt. In return for lending the money, the individuals or 
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institutions become creditors and receive a promise that the 
principal and interest on the debt will be repaid.  
Debt financing: 

a. Can be short term or long term. 
b. Short term includes: 

i. Bank overdrafts, 
ii. Bank loans, 

iii. Bank overdrafts, 
A bank overdraft is a temporary loan banks give to 
individual and corporate account holders that enable them 
withdraw funds above the balance available in the account. 
Thus, an overdraft allows the individual to continue 
withdrawing money even if the account has no funds in it or 
not enough to cover the withdrawal. An overdraft is loan 
facility very popular with small and medium-sized 
businesses. Obtaining a bank overdraft is usually the easiest 
way for a small business to obtain finance.  
Consequently: 

a. The advantage of a bank overdraft is that the 
borrower pays interest only on the amount of the 
overdraft balance. 

b. However, overdrafts are expensive (the interest rate 
is comparatively high compared with other sources 
of finance). Overdrafts are also repayable to the 
bank on demand. The bank can ask for immediate 
repayment at any time that it wishes. Overdrafts 
can therefore be a high-risk source of finance, 
especially for businesses with cash flow difficulties 
– in other words, the businesses that are usually in 
greatest need of an overdraft! 

c. Bank overdrafts should only be used to finance 
fluctuating levels of cash shortfalls. If the cash 
shortfall looks more permanent, other sources of 
finance should be used. 

Features of Bank Overdrafts 
a. Flexible with regard to amount and available 

immediately within pre-arranged limits. 
b. Interest and fees are tax deductible. 
c. Interest is only paid when the account is 

overdrawn. 
d. Penalties for breaching overdraft limits can be 

severe. 
e. Overdrafts are repayable on demand. 

When Bank Overdraft is Appropriate 
a. Used to finance day to day operations. 
b. An important component of working capital 

management policies 
Bank Loans  
In finance, a loan is the lending of money by one or more 
individuals, organizations, or other entities to other 
individuals, organizations etc. the recipient incurs a debt, 
and is usually liable to pay interest on that debt until it is 
repaid, and also to repay the principal amount borrowed. 
The main difference between a loan and a bank overdraft is 
that a loan is arranged for a specific period and the capital 
borrowed, together with the interest, is repaid according to 
an agreed schedule and over an agreed time period. They are 
not repayable on demand before maturity, provided the 
borrower keeps up the payments. Interest is payable on the 
full amount of the outstanding loan. However, the bank may 
demand security for a loan, for example in the form of a 

fixed and floating charge over the assets of the business. 
Short-term bank loans might be arranged for a specific 
purpose, for example to finance the purchase of specific items. 
Unlike an overdraft facility, a bank loan is for a specific 
period of time, and there is a repayment schedule. 
Features of Bank Loans 

a. Available for specified periods and must be repaid 
according to a pre agreed schedule. This means that 
the company knows where it stands in terms of 
needing to meet cash payments. 

b. Interest and fees are tax deductible. 
c. Once the loan is taken interest is paid for the duration 

of the loan. 
d. A loan might be repayable if loan covenants are 

breached but failing that the cash is available for the 
term of the loan. 

e. Can be taken out in a foreign currency as a hedge of 
a foreign investment. 

f. A company can offer security in order to secure a 
loan. 

When Bank Loan is appropriate 
a. Short term loans are suitable for funding smaller 

investments.   
b. Long term loans are suitable for funding major 

investments. 
Hybrids Financing 
Hybrid financing is the financial instrument that partakes 
some characteristics of debt and some characteristics of 
equity. The important forms of Hybrid Financing are 
Preference Capital, Convertible Debentures, Warrants, 
Options, Innovative hybrids and so on. 
Features of Hybrids Financing 

a. A hybrid is a financial instrument that combines 
features of equity and debt for example, convertible 
debt. 

b. Interest is paid at an agreed rate for a specified 
period. At the end of the period the holder can 
choose to be repaid in cash or to change the debt into 
equity shares. Whether or not conversion occurs 
depends on the share price at the conversion date. 

c. The issuing company will to raise cash in order to 
pay back the amount if conversion is not chosen. 

d. Lower interest rates than straightforward (vanilla) 
debt as the lender is, in effect, lending money and 
buying a call option on the company’s shares. 

e. Interest and fees are tax deductible. 
When Hybrids Financing is appropriate 

a. For long term investments.  
b. Useful if the share price is low at the time of issue 

thus making equity issue too dilutive. 
Leases Financing 
Lease financing is one of the important sources of medium-
and-long-term financing where the owner of an asset gives 
another person, the right to use that asset against periodical 
payments. The owner of the asset is known as lessor and the 
user is called lessee. 
Finance leases are a form of debt finance. Companies can 
acquire assets with leasing finance instead of buying assets 
with equity or debt capital. Operating leases are a means of 
acquiring assets for the fairly short term. Finance leases are 
similar to operating leases, except that the lease agreement 
covers most or all of the asset’s expected economic life. 
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For financial reporting purposes, the principle of ‘substance 
over form’ applies. The leased asset is reported in the 
statement of financial position (balance sheet) of the lessee 
as a non-current asset. This is matched (initially) by a long-
term debt obligation to the lessor, which is gradually paid 
off over the term of the lease. 
This means that for financial reporting purposes, lease 
finance is actually reported in the statement of financial 
position (balance sheet) as a debt obligation, and the regular 
lease payments are reported as a mixture of finance costs 
(interest) and repayment of the obligation to the lessor. 
Features of Lease Financing 

a. Two types: 
i. Operating leases – off balance sheet 

ii. Finance leases – on balance sheet 
b. Legal ownership of the asset remains with the 

lessor. 
c. Lessee has the right of use of the asset in return for 

a series of rental payments. 
d. Tax deductibility of rental payments depends on 

the tax regime but typically they are tax deductible 
in one way or another. 

e. Finance leases are capitalized and affect key ratios 
(ROCE, gearing) 

When Lease Financing is appropriate? 
a. Operating leases 

i. For the acquisition of smaller assets but 
also for very expensive assets. 

ii. Common in the airline industry 
b. Finance leases  

i. Can be used for very big assets (e.g. oil 
field servicing vessels) 

 
Venture capital Financing 
The term ‘venture capital’ is normally used to mean capital 
provided to a private company by specialist investment 
institutions, sometimes with support from banks. Thus, 
venture capital is a type of private equity, a form of 
financing that is provided by firms or funds to small, early-
stage, emerging firms that are deemed to have high growth 
potential, or which have demonstrated high growth (in terms 
of number of employees, annual revenue or both). 
 In other words, venture capital is financing that investors 
provide to startup companies and small businesses that are 
believed to have long-term growth potential. Venture capital 
generally comes from well-off investors, investment banks 
and any other financial institutions. 
Venture capitalists might be willing to provide finance to 
new businesses in return for an equity stake in the business. 
In addition to equity capital they might also agree to provide 
extra finance in the form of preference shares. With some 
venture capital arrangements, a bank might also be willing 
to provide loan capital as part of an overall financing 
package for the company. 
The company will have to demonstrate to the venture 
capitalist organization that it has a clear strategy and a 
convincing business plan. It must demonstrate that its 
management are experienced, have sufficient skills to make 
a success of the business and are committed to achieving 
success. Sometimes the venture capital organization will 
require a representative to be on the board or will appoint an 

independent director. 

SMEs will usually try to raise finance they need from retained 
earnings and bank finance, and by leasing assets. Working 
capital requirements can be reduced by negotiating credit 
terms with suppliers, and possibly by factoring trade 
receivables and obtaining some factor finance. 
For SMEs with an ambitious strategy for growth, these 
sources of finance are unlikely to be sufficient. In some cases 
it might be possible to raise new finance in the form of 
venture capital. 
Venture capital is capital provided especially, to a SME by 
one or more external investors, in the form of equity capital, 
preference shares or debt finance – perhaps a mixture of all 
three. Some investment institutions specialize in providing 
venture capital finance to private companies to support their 
growing businesses. Venture capital investors require large 
returns on their investment, because of the high risks 
involved. They want the profits on their successful 
investments to cover the losses they inevitably suffer on 
business ventures that fail. 
Features of Venture Capital Financing 

a. The term ‘venture capital’ is normally used to mean 
capital provided to a private company by specialist 
investment institutions, sometimes with support from 
banks in the form of loans. 

b. The company must demonstrate to the venture 
capitalist organization that it has a clear strategy and 
a convincing business plan. 

c. A venture capital organization will only invest if 
there is a clear ‘exit route’ (e.g. a listing on an 
exchange). 

d. Investment is typically for 3-7 years 
When Venture Capital is appropriate? 

a. An important source of finance for management buy-
outs. 

b. Can provide finance to take young private companies 
to the next level. 

c. May provide cash for start-ups but this is less likely. 
Financing by Business Angels 
A business angel is an independent individual who provides 
capital for the development of a business. Business angels are 
wealthy individuals who invest directly in small businesses, 
usually by purchasing new equity shares. Moreover, business 
angels are wealthy, entrepreneurial individuals who provide 
capital in return for a proportion of the company equity. They 
take a high personal risk in the expectation of owning part of a 
growing and successful business. The business angel does not 
get involved personally in the management of the company, 
but hopes to make a large return on his investment from 
dividends and eventually from the sale of the shares when the 
company has grown. 
The main problems with business angel finance are as 
follows. 

a. There are not many business angels, and it is usually 
very difficult for a small company to identify an 
individual who might be willing to consider making 
an equity investment in the company. 

b. Since there are not many business angels, there is far 
too little business angel finance available to meet the 
potential demand for equity capital from small 
companies. 

Features of Business Angels Financing 
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a. Business angels are wealthy individuals who invest 

directly in small businesses, usually by purchasing 
new equity shares but do not get involved in the 
management of the company. 

b. Business angels are not that common. 
c. There is too little business angel finance available 

to meet the potential demand for equity capital 
from small companies. 

When Business Angels Financing is appropriate 
a. A way for small companies to raise equity finance. 

Private equity funding  
A private equity fund is a collective investment scheme used 
for making investment in various equity (and to a lesser 
extend debt) securities according to one of the investment 
strategies associated with private equity. 
Acquisition targets might possibly be selected because they 
provide an opportunity to increase total profits through 
improvements in efficiency. One reason for the success of 
private equity funds in acquiring target companies has been 
their ability to achieve additional efficiencies and economies 
that the previous company management had been unable to 
do. A strategy of private equity funds might be to look for 
target companies that they consider under-valued, with the 
intention of improving their operations and creating extra 
value. 
Private equity is an alternative investment class and consists 
of capital that is not listed on a public exchange. Private 
equity is composed of funds and investors that directly 
invest in private companies, or that engage in buyouts of 
public companies, resulting in the delisting of public equity. 
Institutional and retail investors provide the capital for 
private equity, and the capital can be utilized to fund new 
technology, make acquisitions, expand working capital, and 
to bolster and solidify a balance sheet. 
Private equity investment comes primarily from institutional 
investors and accredited investors, who can dedicate 
substantial sums of money for extended time periods. In 
most cases, considerably long holding periods are often 
required for private equity investments in order to ensure a 
turnaround for distressed companies or to enable liquidity 
events such as an initial public offering (IPO) or a sale to a 
public company. 
Private equity offers several advantages to companies and 
startups. It is favored by companies because it allows them 
access to liquidity as an alternative to conventional financial 
mechanisms, such as high interest bank loans or listing on 
public markets. Certain forms of private equity, such as 
venture capital, also finance ideas and early stage 
companies. In case of companies that are de-listed, private 
equity financing can help such companies attempt 
unorthodox growth strategies away from the glare of public 
markets. Otherwise, the pressure of quarterly earnings 
dramatically reduces the timeframe available to senior 
management with new ways to cut losses or make money. 
Features of Private Equity Funding 

b. Private equity is equity in operating companies that 
are not publicly traded on a stock exchange. 

c. Private equity as a source of finance includes 
venture capital and private equity funds. 

d. A private equity fund looks to take a reasonably 
large stake in mature businesses. 

e. In a typical leveraged buyout transaction, the private 
equity firm buys majority control of an existing or 
mature firm and tries to enhance value by eliminating 
inefficiencies or driving growth. 

f. Their view is to realize the investment possibly by 
breaking the business into smaller parts. 

When Private Equity Funding is Appropriate 
a. If used as a source of funding a private equity fund 

will take a large stake (30% is typical) and appoint 
directors. 

b. It is a method for a private company to raise equity 
finance where it is not allowed to do so from the 
market. 

Financing by Asset securitization and sale 
Securitization is the process by which a company packages its 
illiquid assets as a security. For example, when a company 
makes an initial public offering, it effectively packages the 
company’s ownership into a certain number of stock 
certificates. Securities are backed by an asset, such as equity, 
or debt, such as a portion of a mortgage. Securitization allows 
a company access to greater funding to expand its operations 
or investments, or some other reason. 
In other words, securitization is the procedure whereby an 
issuer designs a financial instrument by merging various 
financial assets and then markets tiers of the repackaged 
instruments to investors. This process can encompass any type 
of financial asset and promotes liquidity in the marketplace. 
The process of securitization creates liquidity by enabling 
smaller investors to purchase shares in a large asset pool. It 
can involve the pooling of contractual debts such as auto loans 
and credit card debt obligations, or any assets that generate 
receivables. 
Banks hold many assets which give them access to future cash 
flows (e.g. mortgages, credit cards, loans etc.). This involves 
the transfer of the interest bearing assets to a ‘special purpose 
vehicles’ (SPVs). The SPV effectively purchases a bank’s 
mortgage book for cash which is raised through the issue of 
bonds backed by the income stream flowing from the 
borrowers. This results in the conversion of future cash 
receipts into cash today. 
Mortgage Backed Securities (MBS) are a perfect example of 
securitization, which are securities backed by mortgage 
receivables. The principal and interest on the debt underlying 
the security are paid back to the various investors regularly. 
By combining mortgages into one large pool, the issuer can 
divide the pool into smaller pieces based on each mortgage’s 
inherent risk of default and then sell those smaller pieces to 
investors. With a mortgage-backed security, individual retail 
investors can purchase portions of a mortgages as a type of 
bond. Without the securitization of mortgages, retail investors 
may not be able to afford to buy into a large pool of 
mortgages. 
In Nigeria, Mortgage Backed Securities are being promoted 
by the Securities and Exchange Commission in view of their 
potential to address the huge housing deficit. 
Features of Asset securitization and sale 

a. Securitization is the process of conversion of existing 
assets or future cash flows into marketable securities.  

b. Typically the following occur simultaneously: 
i. Company A sets up Company B (described 

as a special purpose vehicle or SPV) and 
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transfers an asset to it (or rights to future 
cash flows). 

ii. Company B issues securities to investors 
for cash. These investors are then entitled 
to the benefits that will accrue from the 
asset. 

iii. The cash raised by Company B is then 
paid to Company A 

c. In substance this is like Company A raising cash 
and using the asset as security. 

d. Accounting rules might require Company A to 
consolidate Company B even though it might have 
no ownership interest in it. 

e. Conversion of existing assets into marketable 
securities is known as asset backed securitization 
and the conversion of future cash flows into 
marketable securities is known as future-flows 
securitization. 

f. Used extensively in the financial services industry. 
When Asset securitization and sale is Appropriate 

i. Allows the conversion of assets which are not 
marketable into marketable ones. 

ii. Securitization allows the company to borrow at 
rates that are commensurate with the rating of the 
asset. A company with a credit rating of BB might 
hold an asset rated at AA. If it securitizes the asset 
it gains access to AA borrowing rates. 

 
Prepared by 
Orshi Terhemba Ephraim AAT, ACILRM, ACA 
 
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (KPIs) 
If you were to eavesdrop on just about any executive 
meeting, strategy session or performance review in any 
business, chances are you would hear the term ‘KPI’ 
mentioned many times. Most people in those discussions 
would know that the acronym stands for Key Performance 
Indicators, but if you pressed each person to explain what a 
KPI actually is, it’s likely that you would hear many 
different definitions. 
 
Therein lies the issue: KPIs are ubiquitous in modern 
business and yet the term is often overused and 
misunderstood. This means that, although KPIs are very 
common, businesses that are actually using KPIs effectively 
are not quite so common. And that’s a real shame because, 
used properly, KPIs can make a huge difference to the 
success of a business. To remedy the situation, I want to 
clarify what KPIs are and set out the main ways businesses 
should be using them. 
 
What exactly are KPIs? 
 
In simple terms, KPIs provide a way to measure how well 
companies, business units, projects or individuals are 
performing in relation to their strategic goals and objectives. 
In their broadest sense, KPIs provide the most important 
performance information that enables organizations (or their 
stakeholders) to understand whether or not the organization 
is on track toward its stated objectives. In this way, well-
designed KPIs are vital navigational instruments, giving a 

clear picture of current levels of performance and 

whether the business is where it needs to be. KPIs are also 
useful decision-making tools. Because they help reduce the 
complex nature of organizational performance to a small, 
manageable number of key indicators, KPIs can, in turn, assist 
decision making and, ultimately, help improve performance. 
 
Using KPIs as navigational tools 
On an ocean-liner, the captain and crew use navigation data to 
understand where they are relative to their planned sailing 
route. Indicators like GPS location data, speed, fuel levels, or 
weather information allow those in charge to understand 
where exactly they currently are to make decisions about 
where to steer next. 
 
This is exactly the same for companies. Here, KPIs are the 
navigation tools that managers use to understand whether the 
business is on a successful voyage or whether it is veering off 
the prosperous path. The right set of KPIs will shine a light on 
the key aspects of performance and highlight areas that may 
need attention. 
 
Now more than ever, businesses need a way to assess where 
they are and whether they are on or off course against their 
strategy. They need to be able to correct quickly and adapt to 
the changing conditions of the market. If you want to succeed 
in a fiercely competitive market you need a way to measure 
progress (or otherwise) in real time, not just after the fact, and 
adapt your actions according to what the KPIs are telling you. 
 
KPIs as key decision-making tools 
Effective decision makers understand that they need 
information on the key dimensions of performance, and that 
this can be achieved by distilling them into the vital KPIs, 
similar to the way a doctor would go about trying to 
understand someone’s health. Instead of measuring random 
things, a doctor would focus on key health measures first, for 
example, taking your blood pressure, and measuring your 
cholesterol levels, heart rate and body mass index as key 
indicators of your health. 
 
In our organizations, the most effective KPIs are closely tied 
to strategic objectives and help to  
answer the most critical business questions. A good starting 
point is therefore to identify the questions that the decision 
makers, managers or external stakeholders need to have 
answers to. One or two so-called Key Performance Questions 
(KPQs) should be identified for each strategic objective.  
 
Once the most important business questions have been 
identified, you can select or develop the right KPIs that best 
help answer those questions. That way, all KPIs will be 
strategic, relevant and meaningful. 
 
The importance of selecting the right KPIs 
There are thousands of KPIs to choose from and most 
companies find it hard to select the right ones for their 
business and instead end up measuring and reporting a vast 
amount of information on everything that is easy to measure. 
This is just one of several KPI pitfalls that organizations fall 
victim to. Or, sometimes they simply pick the KPIs everyone 
else seems to be using, regardless of whether or not those are 
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useful for their business. This is why it is so important to 
develop the right KPIs for your organization. 
In today’s challenging and competitive business landscape it 
is more important than ever that business leaders and senior 
executives are able to make better informed decisions, 
improve performance, and seek out new and novel ways to 
gain the edge over their competition. KPIs, when properly 
understood and used effectively, provide a powerful tool in 
achieving just that. Without them, organizations are simply 
sailing blind. 
 
THE 25 KPIS EVERY MANAGER MUST KNOW 
 
Your Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) should be the 
essential metrics that allow you to track performance and 
navigate your way to success and growth. Unfortunately, 
many companies get their KPIs completely wrong, 
measuring either everything that walks and moves but 
nothing that matters, or simply copying the metrics others 
are using. It is important that companies put in the 
groundwork before measuring anything. It is so important to 
start with your strategy and figure out the strategic 
performance questions you need to answer, this establishes 
what you need to know. Once you know your high-level 
information needs you can then look for the best KPIs that 
will help you answer your strategic questions. 
However, it doesn't mean that every company needs to start 
from scratch when it comes to KPIs. I spend my work life 
helping companies around the world with their KPIs and 
have developed a list of metrics I consider global best 
practice examples. The Financial Times has recently asked 
me to put my 25 top ones into a new book. This book is now 
complete and about to be published. It describes in detail the 
25 metrics I consider the most important and informative. 
The 25 KPIs will make a good starting point for the 
development of a performance management system, but 
before we look at the list I would like to express an 
important warning: Don't just pick all 25 - You probably 
don't need or indeed should have all 25 KPIs. Instead, by 
understanding these KPIs you will be able to pick the vital 
few meaningful indicators that are relevant for your 
business. Finally, the KPIs should then be used (and owned) 
by everyone in the business to inform decision-making (and 
not as mindless reporting references or as 'carrot & stick 
tools'). 
What's more, there will be other, more specialized measures 
that are required for your company or industry context. Take 
for example the network performance KPIs for a telecom 
operator or the quality indicators for healthcare providers. 
These will have to be included in your list of KPIs but will 
never be found in any generic list, at least not in their 
industry-specific format. 
So here's a brief rundown of the 25 Need-to-Know KPIs, 
organized across four business perspectives: customer, 
finance, internal processes and employees. 
Measuring and understanding your customers 
1. Net promoter score (NPS) - How likely is it that a 
customer will recommend your business to a friend? 
2. Customer profitability score - How much profit do 
individual customers bring your business, after deducting 
the costs of attracting and keeping them happy with 

advertising, customer services etc.? 

3. Customer retention rate - How many of your customers are 
going to come back for more? And how loyal are they to your 
brand, organization or service? 
4. Conversion rate - How well do you translate enquiries, 
sales calls and web page views into paying customers? 
5. Relative market share - How big your slice of the pie is, 
compared to your competitors in the same market. Measuring 
and understanding your financial performance 
6. Revenue growth rate - The rate at which you are increasing 
your company's income. 
7. Net profit - Income minus expenses - the bottom line, but 
certainly not the only metric you need to worry about! 
8. Net profit margin - The percentage of your revenue which 
is net profit. 
9. Gross profit margin - The percentage of your revenue 
which is gross profit. 
10. Operating profit margin - Operating income divided by 
revenue - another measure of a company's profitability. 
11. Return on investment (ROI) - The revenue generated by 
investing money into an aspect of a company's operations, in 
relation the cost of that investment. 
12. Cash conversion cycle (CCC) - How long does it take for 
money invested in the business (for stock etc.) to come back 
to the company in the form of increased revenue. 
Measuring and understanding your internal processes 
13. Capacity utilization rate (CUR) - Are you meeting your 
potential in terms of amount of work you can carry out, with 
the resources you have available? 
14. Project schedule variance (PSV) - Are your projects 
reaching completion on time? 
15. Project cost variance (PCV) - Are your projects coming in 
without going over budget? 
16. Earned value (EV) metric - Value generated by your 
company's ongoing projects. 
17. Order fulfillment cycle time (OFCT) - The time that it 
takes from a customer placing an order, to the product or 
service being delivered. 
18. Delivery in full, on time (DIFOT) rate - Customer orders 
filled in full, and on time, compared to total number of 
customer orders. 
19. Quality index - Is the quality of your goods or services as 
high as your customers are expecting? 
20. Process downtime level - How much time is wasted due to 
downtime, technical breakdown or staff sickness. 
Measuring and understanding your employees 
21. Staff advocacy score - How likely are your staff to 
recommend you as a company to work for? 
22. Employee engagement level - How does your employee's 
behavior contribute to the business's overall goals? 
23. Absenteeism Bradford factor - How much is unauthorized 
staff absence costing your business? 
24. Human capital value added (HCVA) - The financial value 
added to the business by individual members of staff. 
25. 360-degree feedback score - How staff rate each other - as 
well as themselves. 
 
Written by 
Bernard Marr of Forbes (UK) 
Bernard Marr is a bestselling author, keynote speaker, and 
advisor to companies and governments. He has worked with 
and advised many of the world's best-known organizations. 
LinkedIn has recently ranked Bernard as one of the top 10 
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Business Influencers in the world (in fact, No 5 - just behind 
Bill Gates and Richard Branson). He writes on the topics of 
intelligent business performance for various publications 
including Forbes, HuffPost, and LinkedIn Pulse. His blogs 
and SlideShare presentation have millions of readers. 
 
OPINION: THE SOLUTION TO POVERTY, IS 
ENTREPRENEURSHIP. 
Whether in America, China, South Africa or Nigeria. 
If you are still waiting on the government, banks or oil 
companies to provide job, then you will wait a long time. 
Becoming an entrepreneur is the best way to secure your 
future. Whether unemployed, under-employed or employed, 
start a small business today, just in case... 
Millionaires Academy is the No 1 Entrepreneurship 
development centre in Nigeria.  
We will help you with critical business training, skill 
acquisition in over 80 different businesses, raising startup 
capital and mentorship. 
Not yet a member? Signup Today 
Why do people suffer lack in the midst of plenty? "My 
people perish for lack of knowledge". Wealth is not solely 
as a result of natural resources, else Africa would have been 
the wealthiest continent on earth, and Japan would have 
been the poorest, because they have almost no mineral 
resource. But Japan is the third richest nation on earth.  
Human resources is true wealth, no wonder entrepreneurs 
like Mark Zuckerberg, have a fortune that is larger than the 
wealth of several African countries combined. Millionaires 
Academy has a simple job. Unlocking the infinite potential 
in the African child through training, mentorship and 
support. When we develop ourselves just like our western 
counterparts, and then back it up with our immense natural 
resources, then you will begin to see a future where Africa 
will become once again the pride of the world. After all, 
civilization started from us. 
The train just started. Don't be left behind. 
 
About Millionaire Academy Nigeria Our Vision: 
Building a prosperous and progressive Africa, by the 
economic empowerment and advancement of the African 
child.  
Our Aim: Create 100 Millionaires every year through 
economic empowerment. 
Our Objectives: 
1. Provide quality and affordable business training to all 
economic stake holders. 
2. Empower the youths with skill acquisition programmes, 
mentorship and a robust support group. 
3. Give entrepreneurs access to startup financing. 
4. Create and direct the Millionaire movement to cover 
every inch of the continent. 
 
THE ACT OF KINTSUGI in JAPAN  
 
Broken and Better 
There is this art in Japan known as Kintsugi. It is a 
technique of repairing broken ceramic or china vessel with 
gold, and thus turning the broken item into something even 
more beautiful than the original. 
Kintsugi is similar to the Japanese philosophy of Wabi-sabi, 

an embracing of the flawed or imperfect. 

The Japanese believes that the cracks, wears and repairs, are 
events in the life of an object, which should not bring it to an 
end, but rather is a mark of service and honor. 
They believe that one should not make an attempt to hide such 
damage, but rather embrace it, and use the repair to emphasize 
its beauty and illuminate it. 
Paige Bradley used this technique to create a stunning art that 
became an internet sensation. 
Realizing that her perfect sculptor of a woman in a lotus 
position will attract fierce criticism, as there are already many 
sculptures like that, she simply took her fine sculptor, and 
broke it to pieces. 
Then she went ahead to patch it together and the result was 
the stunning art, known as Expansion. 
Understanding the philosophy behind Kintsugi is very critical 
to maturity. As we journey through life, we are going to face 
many bruises and cracks. Many of us will be broken in many 
areas of our life. 
  
Our heart may be broken, our business, our family, our self-
esteem or our health. 
As long as we journey through life, something will eventually 
get broken. 
But what do we do when something breaks ? Do we let it stop 
us? Do we become ashamed of our self? Do we become bitter 
or let fear take hold of us? 
I want you to realize today, that it is normal to be broken. It 
shows that we are living life. Patch yourself and wear your 
scars as a mark of honor. Be proud of your scars. Whether it is 
your life, your heart, your belief or your faith, whatever has 
broken in your life, pick up the pieces, patch it together, and 
wear it as a batch of honor. 
Study history, and you will realize that most people who 
achieve greatness, did so after something was broken in their 
life, and they allowed it to heal. 
 
Abraham Lincoln was one of the greatest President of the 
United States of America. 
Before he became president, he sustained many wounds in his 
life. But the wounds made him one of the best presidents 
America ever had, and also helped him fight the civil war, that 
kept America together as one nation. 
Take a look at some of his history: 
• 1816: His family was forced out of their home. He had to 
work to support them. 
• 1818: His mother died. 
• 1831: Failed in business. 
• 1832: Ran for state legislature – lost. 
• 1832: Also lost his job – wanted to go to law school but 
couldn’t get in. 
• 1833: Borrowed some money from a friend to begin a 
business and by the end of the year he was bankrupt. He spent 
the next 17 years of his life paying off this debt. 
• 1835: Was engaged to be married, sweetheart died and his 
heart was broken. 
• 1836: Had a total nervous breakdown and was in bed for six 
months. 
• 1838: Sought to become speaker of the state legislature – 
defeated. 
• 1840: Sought to become elector – defeated. 
• 1843: Ran for Congress – lost. 
• 1846: Ran for Congress again – this time he won – went to 
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Washington and did a good job. 
• 1848: Ran for re-election to Congress – lost. 
• 1849 Sought the job of land officer in his home state – 
rejected. 
• 1854: Ran for Senate of the United States – lost. 
• 1856: Sought the Vice-Presidential nomination at his 
party’s national convention – got less than 100 votes. 
• 1858: Ran for U.S. Senate again – again he lost. 
• 1860: Elected president of the United States. 
Another great president of the United States was Franklin 
Roosevelt. He led America to victory during the Second 
World War. He was the man that said,” The only thing to 
fear, is fear itself”. 
He was a cripple. His physical health was broken but it 
made him a better man. 
 
Joyce Meyer the popular South African televangelist, was 
sexually abused by her own father from a tender age, till her 
teenage age. 
Subsequently she married and later divorced a used car 
salesman, who persuaded her into stealing. She was so 
broken, that she became an alcoholic. 
But today, Joyce Meyer openly shares her tragedies as a 
badge of honor, and uses it to inspire and encourage many 
other women going through abuses. 
She also flies around in her own Private Jet. Whether you 
like her or not, the point is that she did not allow her broken 
nature to overcome her, but instead she allowed a light of 
Hope and Love to shine through her cracks, and illuminate 
other lives. 
So maybe you are down right now, or you feel you have 
been broken into many pieces. Maybe you have lost hope 
and carry a silent pain inside you. Maybe you feel it’s all 
hopeless, and you cry yourself to sleep, or maybe you are 
ashamed of your cracks and your imperfections. Maybe you 
have failed in business, in love or in marriage. 
My friend, you are not alone. Stop hiding your cracks. 
Repair yourself, and let your cracks be a testament to the 
hardship you have passed through. Let it be a badge of 
honor. Wear it proudly like an army General bruised in 
battle. 
The more we deny, complain and don’t accept what happens 
to us, it doesn’t become useful. But once we accept and 
embrace our cracks, our struggles and pains, it turns that we 
should have been ugly, into something beautiful and 
inspiring. 
Like the art “Expansion”, let your light shine through your 
cracks and never be ashamed of it. 
Remember that if you have no scars, then you are probably 
not living. Your scars make you more beautiful, so embrace 
it today and restore your Joy. 
Thomas Christopher  
Ambassador 
Millionaires Academy 
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AFRICA SMEs OUTLOOK 2019: INDUSTRY 4.0, 
BUSINESS ECOSYSTEM AND EXPANSION PRESENT 
OPPORTUNITIES FOR SMEs 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
Much has been written in recent years about how SMEs 
(Small and Medium Enterprises) are experiencing a growing 
number of business and commercial challenges that disrupt 
the client services they have traditionally relied upon for 
revenue generation. Equally, many argue that more SMEs 
need to consider whether diversification and embracing the 
new digital revolution could be the key towards the sector’s 
future success. However, such change can be difficult when 
talent flows in the sector are uncertain and competition is 
fierce. 
 
Godphraim Integrated Services (GIS) was therefore interested 
to explore whether Industry 4.0 digital revolution is one area 
where SMEs’ unique experience and expertise might lead to 
the development of a new, specialist service provision. 
 
Our findings suggest that, the journey towards Industry 4.0 
will require Africa to put a huge amount of effort into research 
and development. In order to implement the dual strategy, 
research is required into the horizontal and vertical integration 
of manufacturing systems and end-to-end integration of 
engineering. In addition, attention should be paid to the new 
social infrastructures in the workplace that is coming up as a 
result of Industry 4.0 system, as well as continued 
development of cyber physical system (CPS) technologies.  
 
Our report, Africa SMEs Outlook 2019: Industry 4.0, 
Business Ecosystem and Expansion Present Opportunities for 
SMEs revealed, if Industry 4.0 is to be successfully 
implemented, research and development activities will need to 
be accompanied by the appropriate industrial policy and 
decision, and finding a position in the fourth industrial 
revolution and understanding what relevant technology and 
support present opportunities for SMEs is critical to their 
success. 
 
Introduction: 
 
Africa has tremendous opportunities of becoming one of the 
most attractive investment destinations in the globe. Foreign 
and domestic investment will be critical in closing the 
developmental gaps, lifting incomes and creating jobs. For 
investment to contribute to sustainable growth and 
development, there is a need to demystify the investment 
landscape on the continent centering the discussion on the role 
of information communication technology (ICT) and 
economic digitalization. Nevertheless, the current digital 
penetration is creeping up in Africa, bringing the prospect of 
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digital dividends to a continent long marked by digital 
divides. Thus, this is rapidly changing the way firms do 
business. The far-reaching nature of the transformation has 
led many to identify the change as the Fourth Industrial 
Revolution, or Industry 4.0. Therefore, a strong business 
environment and support for SMEs is necessary to manage 
this change. Godphraim Integrated Services (GIS) report on 
Africa SMEs Outlook 2019: Industry 4.0, Business 
Ecosystem and Expansion Present Opportunities for SMEs, 
recommend ways how to accommodate it.  
 
DIGITAL AFRICA  
The need for “Digital Africa” is now on the rise, with more 
mobile phones in circulation on the continent than people; 
Africa is now making the second biggest mobile market in 
the world. The potential of Africa’s telecoms and tech scene 
to transform the socio-economic landscape is clear to see, 
yet our focus and effort for the maximum impact and 
economic empowerment is still somewhat. There is 
undoubtedly a lot of innovation happening in the African 
context, and these call for an outline of diagnosis and 
challenge, policies and impact, prognosis and recovery, 
downside risks and economic down syndrome, latent and 
specific opportunities. Thus, the report concentrates heavily 
on technological changes as a result of the digital revolution 
and the rise of the platform economy. The digital platform 
revolution has greatly altered the way firms connect to 
others, whether they are manufacturers, wholesalers, 
retailers, final consumers, peers entities or supporting 
institutions at home and or abroad. It could be argued that it 
is entirely reshaping the business environment or ecosystem 
of small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) in their 
various business endeavors.  
Gaining from these developments and identifying potential 
pitfalls for immediate adjustment by SMEs are a crucial way 
for their survival. However, the role of traditional actors in 
the business environment, helping SMEs to adopt new 
technologies and managing risks is also acknowledged. 
Such players, like Standard Organization of Nigeria (SON), 
are involved in promoting trade and investment, providing 
skills and education, and ensuring that products and services 
meet quality standards. They will have to embrace new 
technologies, forge fresh partnerships, build trust, and take 
calculated risks to help SMEs manage the transition.  
Most of the potential benefits of these changes will be 
inaccessible if SMEs are not connected to the physical and 
digital infrastructure. This is because, emerging 
technologies are charging the global business ecosystem in 
three (3) key ways; information, finance and logistics, 
enhancing business performance and competitiveness. 
Industry 4.0 is focusing on creating smart products, 
procedures and processes. Smart factories constitute a key 
feature of Industry 4.0. Smart factories are capable of 
managing complexity, are less prone to disruption and are 
able to manufacture goods more efficiently. In the smart 
factory, human beings, machines and resources 
communicate with each other as naturally as in a social 
network. Therefore, the digital ecosystem is vibrant and 
growing in space that will offer a multitude of benefits to 
Africa’s SMEs. SMEs without internet connections cannot 
take advantage of services provided through the platform 

economy. SMEs without access to adequate and 

affordable logistics and transport infrastructure will find it 
impossible or unaffordable to trade.  
Ensuring universal access to high-quality FinTech (Finance 
Technologies), telecommunications and transport 
infrastructure is a challenge even in some of the wealthiest 
industrialized economies. It is therefore valid to ask how to 
create local infrastructures or solutions for African SMEs. 
This report will address under listed sections critically to 
answer if technological change is to be beneficial to African 
SMEs, which will provide employment to the large 
unemployed youths and maintain sustainable peace and 
development of the continent.  
 
BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT AND MARKETING 
 
The flexibility and niche expertise of African SMEs 
predestine them for the world of the fourth industrial 
revolution. With the digital platforms shaking up the 
ecosystem surrounding SMEs in the connect and networking 
pillar and in the areas of finance and logistics, the quality of 
other aspects of the continent’s ecosystem will largely 
determine whether or not SMEs will manage to cope with 
ongoing changes. Inspired by the concept of environmental 
ecosystems, the term ‘business ecosystem’ has gained 
prominence in management science and business literature. 
As is the case with environmental ecosystems, there is no 
single definition for the term.  
 
The business ecosystem is particularly important for SMEs 
because, smaller firms tend to have less control over their 
business environment. In contrast, large enterprises are often 
in a position to shape their business ecosystems, either 
directly or by expressing their concerns to those in positions 
of influence. For example, large firms can set up their own 
operational and logistics systems to meet time requirements 
and generate investments by local or national authorities in 
local infrastructure. SMEs, on the other hand, tend to depend 
on access to external logistics providers and on the quality of 
existing infrastructure. A situation that cut short on the service 
delivery of SMEs in Africa.  
 
The Africa adaptive business ecosystem plays a significant 
role in the continent ability to attract investors, especially 
given that value chains are increasingly footloose. The impact 
of the Industry 4.0 on business environment creating new 
features for information, finance and logistic, are the key areas 
of change in the business ecosystem. The influence on SMEs 
cannot be overstated, as the industrial revolution has ushered 
in a new era of doing business, promising achieving the 
United Nations goal of connecting all the world’s inhabitants 
with affordable, high-speed internet by 2020. Likewise, the 
African Union launched a 10-year mission in 2014 to 
encourage countries ensuring transition to innovation-led, 
knowledge-based economies. This mission is part of its 
ambitious Agenda 2063, aimed at transforming the continent’s 
socioeconomic and political fortunes.  
 
The digital ecosystem of the continent is vibrant, growing and 
offering a multitude of benefits. However, several countries 
remain weak when it comes to dealing with the related 
challenges. Nevertheless, the need for high digital penetration 
is key for Africa, but shortcomings like lack of good 
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governance, unhealthy business climate, poor education and 
health system due to lack of investment in education and 
health system etc., also known as “analogue complements”, 
are hindering a solid foundation for adopting digital 
technologies and effectively addressing inequalities. To 
benefit from new digital offerings, SMEs must have access 
to the internet, transport and logistics networks, which is not 
always the case. While new technologies may facilitate such 
access, it is not yet clear how the combination of new 
delivery technologies and increased concentration within 
ICT and logistics systems will play out for SMEs in remote 
areas. Significant regulatory issues, including questions of 
liability, such as insurance against damage, remain 
unresolved 
 
Indeed, very few governments have implemented strategies 
for cyber security. This situation makes Africa’s digital 
platforms one of the most vulnerable in the world. We must 
have right regulation and adaptive ecosystem as Industry 4.0 
will impact the future of children, how and what they study, 
where they work and live. Finding a balance between 
regulation and disruptive innovation is not easy, but there 
must be a sweet pot somewhere between, allowing for both 
the agility of innovation and sufficient governance to avoid 
chaos in critical applications. 
 
As a strong economic force, it is imperative that SMEs in 
Africa invest in digitization as the new technological 
developments will offer immense opportunities for ease and 
better penetration for operational performance and economic 
growth. Access to market-relevant information and 
customers abroad will becoming cheaper and new ways of 
obtaining finance will also opening up, making the continent 
ecosystem favorable for economic activities. Moreover, 
reputation networks building via the web can also be more 
rapidly than through traditional methods, and access to 
transport, logistics and ICT infrastructure will become more 
affordable in remote African regions.  
It is also crucial that SMEs learn how to take advantage of 
newly available solutions while managing potential risks, 
and that they are able to distinguish between the 
technological changes that bring real gains and those that are 
mere fads or fashions. Hence, they must be able to 
implement the technological changes that can be to their 
advantage.  
 
DIGITAL REVOLUTION AND BUSINESS 
EXPANSION 
 
Africa’s participation in the global digital economy is now a 
reality. By 2020, the digital economy will account for over 
26% of global GDP, and even by the most conservative 
estimates, Africa is expected to benefit from that. However, 
many countries need to do more to realize their digital 
potential. Africa’s digital revolution is not just a matter of 
connectivity and access, it is about implementing 
meaningful policies that allow public and private sectors to 
participate in the new economy. The opportunity created by 
this newest industrial revolution is forcing the global 
business community to take a new approach to every facet 
of business activities. 

 

Therefore, this report identifies three fashionable trends 
exhibited by diution; 
 
Growing markets: Digital platforms enable market share 
grows at a much higher rate than traditional brick and mortar 
markets. The technologies are capable of recasting the 
relationships between customers, workers, and employers as 
the silicon chip’s reach permeates of almost everything we do, 
from buying, selling, connecting, and networking online. 
Therefore, the general purpose technology that result from 
digital transformation has the power to continually transform 
itself, progressively branching out and boosting productivity 
across all sectors and industries. These changes will bring 
enormous long-term benefits. 
 
Growing scope: Fundamental features of the digital 
revolution, entangled with what we term “intelligent tools”. 
An abundance of computing power enabling generation and 
analysis of data on a scale never before imagined permits the 
reorganization/transformation of services and manufacturing. 
The productivity possibilities of the digital era are just coming 
into view in African context. The consequences now will be a 
matter of policy and corporate strategy. Much will depend on 
how intelligent tools, including big data analytics, artificial 
intelligence, robotics, and sensors will coalesce into system 
that appear to be nearly autonomous. The goal of firms could 
now be to simply displace work and remove human 
intelligence from work tasks. However, it is possible for 
intelligent tools to help augment intelligence and capabilities, 
supporting rather than displacing workforce abilities. Hence 
platforms will be able to offer aggregated services either by 
providing them themselves, or ensuring integration with third-
party service providers. 
 
Growing communities: Growing tech communities across 
Africa will continue to push the continent’s digital revolution 
forward, while powering societal and cultural changes and a 
key part of moving this digital revolution forward is increased 
internet and mobile access across the continent. In last decade, 
mobile access, favorable tech policies, and improved 
infrastructure and education earned Kenya and South Africa 
reputations as startup heavens. Now, we can add Nigeria (the 
continent’s largest economy), to the list as its young, growing 
population and entrepreneurial spirit attract tech investments. 
The growing attention and investment in Nigerian and African 
startups will continue to support local tech communities, but 
government policies are needed to continue their growth. 
While no one country can represent an entire continent, 
Nigeria indicates that growing tech communities will be 
supported by continued investment, partnership, and policies 
built specifically for tech ecosystems across Africa. Therefore, 
the platforms economy will continue to reinforce 
collaboration among people with common interests and play 
an increasingly important role in community building.  
 
While these changes are still taking place, it is already clear 
that digital revolution have significantly transformed three 
especially crucial areas for SME operation: conduct of 
financial transactions, access to and use of information 
including for matchmaking and quality signaling, and logistics 
services operations. 
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Digital technologies have contributed to significantly 
reducing search costs and other costs related to matching 
buyers, sellers and service providers. Digital platforms work 
as online intermediaries that connect people for business 
activities; exchanging information, goods and services; and 
making use of network effects with every additional user. 
They are also increasingly important players in the matching 
of supply and demand.  
 
The expansion has shape the economic activities in the 
continent introducing different types of technologies 
depending on the end-customers, inventory business model, 
the value unit they provide, and the extent of their open 
access. In this context, about nine technology trends form 
the building blocks of African Industry 4.0; big data and 
analytics, autonomous robots, simulation, horizontal and 
vertical system integration, the industrial internet of things, 
cyber-security, the cloud, additive manufacturing and 
augmented reality. It is striking, countries like Nigeria, 
Kenya, South Africa, Ghana, Egypt etc. are now leading 
technology in many areas, such as Mobile or Electronic 
banking, Fintech (Financial Technologies), Machine 
Learning, Medtech, Edutech, Agritech, Digital Land 
Registration, e-Commerce, Artificial Intelligence (AI), IoT 
etc., making the African business community to grow in 
market reach, scope and in the communities they serve. 
Moreover, the digital revolution has expanded from mere 
matchmaking to providing many more services for their 
customers including logistics, software and even hardware 
sales. Sufficient enough for every increase in community 
reach, more information and knowledge is generated 
through them, increasing the value they provide for the 
continent SMEs.  
In another development, online platforms are progressively 
increasing SMEs visibility and access to markets, lowering 
costs of entry and exit, simplifying buying and selling, and 
encouraging innovation and entrepreneurial spirit. Currently, 
the impact of online platforms is increasing in Africa. 
Countries like Nigeria, South Africa, Ghana, Egypt etc. are 
taking advantage of this tool trading and transacting 
business activities online with advanced economies like 
China, UK, India, USA, UAE (Dubai), etc. However, the 
new business model is increasingly raising concerns about 
the market power and potential monopolistic/oligopolistic 
behavior of platforms; they enable intense competition by 
SMEs but face relatively few competitors themselves. These 
platforms have also highlighted a digital divide not only 
between countries but also within them. Yet importantly, 
there is increasing awareness that automated analyses of big 
data do not necessarily lead to unbiased outcomes, given 
that the algorithms used for the analysis may have in-built 
biases.  
For these and other reasons, the role of not-for-profit and 
supporting institutions remains important if business 
environment and Industry 4.0 is to function smoothly in 
Africa. These institutions will have to embrace new 
technologies and may have to offer services that address 
distortions brought by these new technologies.  
Infrastructural Transition and SMEs Opportunities: 
Industry 4.0 is the evolution to cyber-physical system, 
representing the fourth industrial revolution on the road to 

an end-to-end value chain with industrial IoT 

(Internet of Things) and decentralized intelligence in 
manufacturing, production, logistics and certainly extending 
to the service industry. Originally, Industry 4.0 was conceived 
in the context of manufacturing, yet this has changed, 
enabling more personalized production, servicing, as well as 
customer/consumer interaction and cutting the inefficiencies, 
irrelevance and costs of intermediaries in a digital supply 
chain model, where possible, are some goals, of Industry 4.0 
in this customer-centric sense of increasing demanding 
customers who value speed, efficiencies and value-added 
innovative services. 
The fourth industrial revolution has been heralded as having 
the potential to connect billions more people and to improve 
dramatically the efficiency of organizations. The underlying 
assumption is that people and enterprises are actually 
connected to one another and to new technologies via the 
internet or transport infrastructure. The reality is mobile, IoT, 
big date, analytics, media streaming and artificial intelligence 
(AI) are all driving strategic change, in where apps and data 
are stored and processed and how and where services are 
consumed. In the end it remains business, and the changes are 
driving a rapid evolution in business models, with the 
innovative twist of innovation and transformation of business 
models and processes: increase profit, decrease costs, enhance 
customer experience, optimize customer lifetime value and 
were possible customer loyalty, sell more and innovate in 
order to grow and remain relevant. 
The good news is that industry 4.0 is ushering SMEs in Africa 
new technology infrastructures such as 5G, IoT (Internet of 
Things), and Edge Computing, which are critical enablers of 
the Mutable Enterprise, that can make it easier to close 
existing infrastructure gaps, including last mile gaps, to 
connect remote households, societies and the Africa’s 
business community to infrastructure nodes or hubs. Many of 
these technologies, however, are still in the experimental 
stage. It is not yet entirely clear, how economically viable 
these technologies are, and major issues of financial and 
regulatory responsibilities need solutions. However, The 
Internet of Things (IoT) and Services harbors huge potential 
for innovation in manufacturing, if the African tech industries 
also succeed in integrating web-based services into Industry 
4.0, the continent will increase the scope of this potential 
immeasurably. 
 
INDUSTRY 4.0 EASES OF DOING BUSINESS AND 
SMES SUCCESS: 
 
The global business community inclusive of Africa is in the 
midst of a significant transformation regarding the way 
products are produce and services offered. Thanks to the 
digitization of manufacturing. This transition is so compelling 
that it is being called Industry 4.0 to represent the fourth 
revolution that has occurred mostly in manufacturing. From 
the first industrial revolution (mechanization through water 
and steam power) to the mass production and assembly lines 
using electricity in the second, the fourth industrial revolution 
will take what was started in the third with the adoption of 
computers and automation and enhance it with smart and 
autonomous systems fueled by data and machine learning. 
Even though some dismiss Industry 4.0 as merely a marketing 
buzzword, shifts are happening in manufacturing that deserves 
our attention. 
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When computers were introduced in Industry 3.0, it was 
disruptive, thanks to the addition of an entirely new 
technology. Now, and into the future as Industry 4.0 
unfolds, computers are connected and communicate with 
one another to ultimately make decisions without human 
involvement. A combination of cyber-physical systems, the 
Internet of Things and the Internet of Systems make 
Industry 4.0 possible and the smart factory a reality. As a 
result of the support of smart machines that keep getting 
smarter as they get access to more data, SMEs and 
manufacturing companies will become more efficient and 
productive and less wasteful. Ultimately, it's the network of 
these machines that are digitally connected with one another 
and create and share information that results in the true 
power of Industry 4.0. Industry 4.0 will deliver greater 
flexibility and robustness together with the highest quality 
standards in engineering, planning, manufacturing, 
operations and logistics processes. It will lead to the 
emergence of dynamic, real-time optimization, self-
organizing value chains that can be optimized based on a 
variety of criteria such as cost, availability and resource 
consumption. However, this calls for an appropriate 
regulatory framework as well as standardized interfaces and 
harmonized business processes. While many organizations 
might still be in denial about how Industry 4.0 could impact 
their business or struggling to find the talent or knowledge 
to know how to best adopt it for their unique use cases, 
several others are implementing changes today and 
preparing for a future where smart machines improve their 
business. Here are just a few of the possible ways the 
industrial revolution is making business operation ease: 
a. Identify opportunities:  
Since connected machines collect a tremendous volume of 
data that can inform maintenance, performance and other 
issues, as well as analyze that data to identify patterns and 
insights that would be impossible for a human to do in a 
reasonable timeframe, Industry 4.0 offers the opportunity for 
manufacturers to optimize their operations quickly and 
efficiently by knowing what needs attention. By using the 
data from sensors in its equipment, it is possible for an 
African gold mine to identify a problem with the oxygen 
levels during leaching. Once fixed, there will be an increase 
yield which will saved millions of dollars annually. 

b. Optimize logistics and supply chains: 
A connected supply chain can adjust and accommodate when 
new information is presented. If a weather delay ties up a 
shipment (for example Apapa Seaport Lagos, Nigeria), a 
connected system can proactively adjust to that reality and 
modify manufacturing priorities. 
c. Autonomous equipment and vehicles: 
There are shipping yards that are leveraging autonomous 
cranes and trucks to streamline operations as they accept 
shipping containers from the ships. African Seaport like; 
Apapa Seaport Lagos Nigeria is adopting this strategy for its 
operations to ensure effective performance. 
d. Robots: 
Once only possible for large enterprises with equally large 
budgets, robotics are now more affordable and available to 
organizations of every size. From picking products at a 
warehouse to getting them ready for shipment, autonomous 
robots can quickly and safely support African tech industries 
and manufacturers. For example, robots move goods around 
Amazon warehouses and also reduce costs and allow better 
use of floor space for the online retailer. 
e. Additive manufacturing (3D printing): 
This technology has improved tremendously in the last decade 
and has progressed from primarily being used for prototyping 
to actual production. Advances in the use of metal additive 
manufacturing have opened up a lot of possibilities for Africa 
tech industries, manufacturing and production sector. 
f. Internet of Things and the cloud: 
A key component of Industry 4.0 is the Internet of Things that 
is characterized by connected devices. Not only does this help 
internal operations, but through the use of the cloud 
environment where data is stored, equipment and operations 
can be optimized by leveraging the insights of others using the 
same equipment or to allow smaller enterprises access to 
technology they wouldn’t be able to on their own. 
While Industry 4.0 is still evolving and we might not have the 
complete picture until we look back 30 years from now, 
companies who are adopting the technologies are realizing 
Industry 4.0's potential. These same companies are also 
grappling with how to up-skill their current workforce to take 
on new work responsibilities made possible by Industry 4.0 
and to recruit new employees with the right skills. 
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EMBRACING CHANGE AND TECHNICAL 
ANALYSIS 
Agreeing with the report of the International Trade Center 
2018, the digital revolution has already transformed our 
economies and society. It has changed the way in which 
information is generated and accessed to such an extent that 
some have argued that data is ‘the new oil’. New 
technologies and tools have entered our daily lives at home 
and in the workplace. Companies have new ways of doing 
business, and digital platforms now provide services that 
used to be the bread and butter of retailers, travel agents, 
banks and trade and investment promotion organizations. 
These changes are creating immense opportunities for many. 
At the same time, however, they pose risks to economic 
growth and inclusiveness when the business ecosystem is 
not set up to harness the power of new technological 
possibilities. Institutions in charge of furnishing market 
information, providing skills and monitoring quality have an 
important role to play, as they are key to determining the 
quality of the business ecosystem. In many places these 
institutions are either entirely public or are public-private 
non-profit service providers. In the past, they were not often 
known for being very dynamic or innovative. Godphraim 
Integrated Services (GIS) argue that such institutions need 
to fully embrace change and become ‘cautious 
revolutionaries’ to remain relevant. 
In this period of disruption, those sticking to old methods 
may well be displaced by new actors, often from the private 
sector. Such a development would not necessarily benefit 
SMEs and inclusiveness, as weaker economic players are 
most likely to suffer from market failures and malfunctions 
that non-profit service providers can address but private 
sector players are free to ignore. For the benefit of SMEs 
around the globe and especially Africa, the business world 
needs cautious revolutionaries in the areas of trade and 
investment promotion, training and education, and quality 
control and certification. 
a. Trade and investment promotion organizations: 
Make big data accessible to small firms 
Given the importance of data and the difficulties that SMEs 
have in accessing and using them, Trade and Investment 
Promotion Organizations (TIPOs) should consider using 
new technologies and data analysis to collect their own data 
and learn more about clients and partners in their networks. 
For this purpose, they can create their own online platforms 
to facilitate contacts between local businesses and potential 
buyers in foreign markets, modernizing their traditional 
matchmaking services. A promising initiative, already 
exploited by a number of TIPOs in advanced economies, is 
to build partnerships with other digital platforms. 
In this rapidly changing environment, TIPOs must manage 
risks associated with the choice of technology, tools and 
partners. They also have a role in helping SMEs to assess 
and manage similar risks. 
b. Education and training providers: Anticipate, act 
and adjust 
Training institutions must teach today the skills that trainees 
and students will use in the labor market years from now. 
This is very difficult given that skills predictions change 
every few months. Nonetheless, these institutions need to 
react even if information is lacking. Failure to adjust may 

put entire cohorts of young people at risk. This 

means that decisions about curriculums and investments in 
technology have to be made in an environment of uncertainty. 
Recent studies on skills demand indicate that a combination of 
complex problem-solving skills, technical skills, and social 
and emotional skills will be required in the near future. As to 
technical skills, there is a distinction between digital skills and 
technical skills associated with the machinery, technology and 
robots that are specific to a particular job. Regarding digital 
skills, many experts advise that basic digital skills should be 
included in the compulsory school curriculum. Science, 
technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM) education 
in the compulsory school curriculum prepares students for the 
advanced digital skills they will acquire in tertiary education. 
For SMEs, advanced skills in digital entrepreneurship and 
cyber-security are of particular importance. They also need a 
thorough understanding of the platform economy, including 
the role of financial information in this digital ecosystem. 
It is harder to generalize about the technological skills needed 
for specific jobs. The role of design tools is different for a 
carpenter than for a baker. The role of robotic operation may 
vary from hotels to health spas. In such cases, technical and 
vocational education and training institutions may have to 
take difficult decisions within a context of uncertainty, and it 
would be inadvisable to postpone such decisions. 
Partnerships between company coalitions, government and 
local education institutions are likely to be key for sector-
specific up-skilling and reskilling, combining theoretical and 
applied training. On-the-job training and learning by 
experience can be useful in a changing environment where 
skills quickly become obsolete. On-the-job adult learning or 
informal learning outside the workplace is especially relevant 
for SMEs, which are less likely to participate in formal 
training courses. 
Yet, building sustainable public-private partnerships for 
vocational training and education is not straightforward. It has 
not proven easy to replicate successful apprenticeship 
systems, such as those in German-speaking countries, and in 
countries that lack the relevant historical and institutional 
arrangements like African countries. Current technological 
change entails the additional difficulty of identifying the 
appropriate companies to work with. In fast-changing 
markets, some of today’s successful gazelles may no longer 
be around tomorrow. 
There is no time to design perfect solutions. Vocational 
education and training providers could identify the most 
successful national players in new technologies and find ways 
to involve them in their training and education offering. 
c. Quality infrastructure bodies: Build trust in new 
technologies 
Despite the growing share of digital goods in international 
trade, many national quality infrastructure systems are not 
fully engaged in designing and certifying standards for digital 
products. Moreover, roles and responsibilities for quality 
assurance in the digital era are less well defined than for 
physical goods. Standards today tend to be developed and 
maintained by private sector companies, trade associations, 
consortia or alliances, sidestepping traditional quality 
infrastructure. 
However, traditional quality infrastructure still plays a role, 
particularly in finding the right equilibrium between 
governance and innovation. Striking this balance is crucial to 
building and maintaining trust in new technologies. It is also 
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key to ensuring interoperability and facilitating adoption of 
new technologies, especially by SMEs. 
Regulation is often associated with burdens on business or 
innovation. Indeed, it can remove some of the freedom that 
is inherent to entrepreneurship. At the same time, however, 
it can foster innovation by creating a more secure 
environment. Regulation, appropriate polices and standard 
are paramount providing protection to ensure new 
technologies from disappearing because consumers lose 
trust in them. 
In times of technological disruption, it is difficult to assess 
which regulation or standard strikes the right balance. To 
avoid a situation where the lack of regulations and standards 
leaves people and companies unprotected and exposed, 
regulators often have to intervene, taking a calculated risk 
that they may be overregulating. 
Given that SMEs are economically vulnerable, it is in their 
interest for quality infrastructure bodies to be stronger and 
more proactive in setting standards and assessing conformity 
for digital goods, especially regarding cyber-security and 
data privacy. National quality organizations can adopt 
international standards and recognize competent testing 
authorities outside of the country, while also participating in 
regional and international standard-setting bodies. 
Technology can close the last mile in transport, logistics and 
communications, but challenge of funding and 
responsibilities is necessary to close existing transport and 
ICT infrastructure gaps, particularly in remote regions and 
communities. The extent of the required funding is such that 
private sector finance will be a prerequisite, as recognized in 
numerous international policy documents. 
New technologies hold the promise of reducing the amounts 
of funding needed to close last mile infrastructure gaps. Yet, 
two old challenges remain on how to create incentives for 
the private sector to invest in the last mile and how to define 
the roles and responsibilities of the public and the private 
sectors. Transport, logistics and ICT infrastructure are 
collective goods, and leaving investment solely to the 
private sector can lead to the abuse of market power 
resulting in high user fees or lack of incentives to invest in 
maintaining infrastructure. 
For the private sector, disincentives to investments in 
transport, logistics and ICT infrastructure remain, given the 
greater risks, lower profitability and longer timeframes for 
building transport and ICT infrastructure in rural areas. 
Public-private partnerships can offer a path for completing 
the infrastructural connectivity. To boost private 
participation in projects, governments must enhance 
incentives and create a conducive environment for private 
actors. The success of these partnerships hinges on the 
quality of governance and the proper drafting and 
structuring of contracts and trust, while sharing costs and 
responsibilities. 
d. Learn from the past: Build strong ecosystems to 
manage change 
Amid discussions of a new industrial revolution and 
technological disruptions, it is important to underline that 
this is neither the first industrial revolution nor the first 
technological disruption. The challenges that various 
stakeholders face are also not entirely new. Steam power 
and the electric telegraph arguably led to challenges and 

questioning similar to those seen today. 

People who play a role in shaping business ecosystems can 
therefore learn from the past when deciding how to think 
about partnerships, how to assess risks and how to instill trust 
in times of change and potential market failures. This can help 
to avoid mistakes and build new ecosystems more rapidly. 
One lesson from the past is that technological disruption and 
expanded globalization, particularly when combined, can 
trigger social unrest and popular resentment if not managed 
well. Therefore, a strong business ecosystem will be key for 
managing change, and this report aims to recommend 
practical steps towards building such an ecosystem. 
 
Recommendations 
The journey towards Industry 4.0 will required Africa to put a 
huge amount of effort into research and development. In order 
to implement the dual strategy, research is required into the 
horizontal and vertical integration of manufacturing systems 
and end-to-end integration of engineering. In addition, 
attention should be paid to the new social infrastructures in 
the workplace that is coming up as a result of Industry 4.0 
system, as well as continued development of cyber physical 
system (CPS) technologies. 
 
If Industry 4.0 is to be successfully implemented, research and 
development activities will need to be accompanied by the 
appropriate industrial policy and decision. After a series of 
interviews with Multi-National Companies and SMEs, 
Godphraim Integrated Services (GIS) believe that action is 
seriously needed and the subsequent insights were used to 
develop recommendations and action plan for the digital age. 
Therefore, building on the International Trade Center 2018 
report, the recommendation and action plan is based on the 
following four (4) key areas:  
 
1. Value data and technology 
In an era considered by some to be undergoing a new 
industrial revolution in which ‘data is the new oil’, data and 
technology are indispensable. Harnessing technology can no 
longer be a sideline, and resources have to be channeled into 
taking advantage of the digital transformation. 
Communications and IT (Information Technology) are now 
front office, not back office. And in financially constrained 
environments, these changes have to be introduced after 
thorough cost-benefit analysis.  
The action plan should focus on the following: 
Allocation of resources for IT and communications 
Adoption of technologies and training of personnel 
Providing tailored solutions to SMEs 
Facilitating adoption of technology, especially among women, 
youth and SMEs in remote locations, and anticipating needs 
for skills 
 
2. Forge innovative partnership 
Given that the private sector appears to be several steps ahead 
of many trade and investment support institutions (TISIs) or 
owns technologies and data of relevance to the entire 
economy, public and non-profit institutions are compelled to 
seek new partnerships.  
Regulators have always had to work with the private sector to 
design smart regulation. Skills, training and education 
providers have also sometimes cooperated with the private 
sector to deliver skills needed in the labor market. The 
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difference now is that regulators and skills providers may 
have to collaborate with new entities (the SMEs), some of 
which may be taking dominant market positions while at the 
same time being at risk from fresh competitors.  
In markets characterized by strong network externalities, in 
which the value of a product increases the more it is used, 
the tendency is for the winners to take all the spoils. The 
period when the winner has yet to emerge can be one of 
disruption and drastic change. In such circumstances, it can 
be difficult for regulators and skills providers to choose their 
partners.  
For trade and investment promotion organizations (TIPOs), 
a subset of TISIs, the challenge is of a different nature. In 
the past they were the central points in business networks 
and the owners of information needed to promote trade or 
investment. In the new digital economy, online platforms 
are entering this space. One coping strategy for TIPOs is 
thus to partner with online platforms. Therefore, the key 
areas of considerations are: 
The action plan should be based on these key areas: 
Forming partnerships with platforms offering digital 
commerce, logistics and e-payment services 
Identifying ‘gazelles’ (firms with high growth potential) and 
involving them in training 
Involving new players early 
Favoring international approaches to standards 
3. Take calculated risk  
TISIs need to embrace change even if information is 
incomplete. Data is more abundant than ever, but the digital 
transformation is too recent for large-scale causal studies to 
exist that assess the impact on TISIs, SMEs and the business 
ecosystem. In the absence of ‘hard’ evidence but under 
pressure of time, TISIs must take decisions within this 
context of uncertainty. This is also the context in which 
most of their clients are currently operating. 
The action plan for SMEs should be: 
Selection of technologies and partners 
Deciding which new skills to teach and train the workforce 
Striking the balance between governance and innovation in 
a fast-changing environment 
4. Build and maintain trust 
Although big data may produce more evidence, it does not 
automatically lead to better information. Where data sources 
are unknown and the algorithms that crunch them 
inaccessible, generated evidence is basically a black box. 
Users of the evidence have to trust those who generate it.  
Mistrust due to insufficient communication can also arise 
after the adoption of new technologies. In the digital and 
platform economy, questions related to trust are abundant. Is 
news fake, or real? Is a signature trustworthy? Is privacy 
protected? Given information asymmetries, a major role of 
non-profit institutions is to foster trust in new technologies 
and ongoing change. Parents and young people want to be 
sure that investments in new skills are worthwhile, while 
SMEs want to be sure that business partners abroad are 
trustworthy. They want to understand how to ensure the 
safety of their business information in cyberspace. 
Generating trust will be one of the key roles of business 
ecosystem players in years to come if new technologies are 
to be embraced by businesses, and societies are to accept 
change. 

The change will therefore: 
a. Signal trustworthy partners 
b. Signal trustworthy technologies 
c. Signal which standards are important 
d. Represent SME interests in negotiating with 

platforms and communicating with regulators 
e. Anticipate and provide relevant skills that make 

people confident about the future 
f. Ensure privacy, safety and interoperability 
g. Build and maintain trust in technology through 

quality assurance and certification 
Conclusion: 
Conclusively, above recommendation need to ensure the 
acquisition of appropriate specialization, adoption of a 
strategic mindset, expansion of international networks and 
investment in professional development. As the business 
ecosystem continue to change ushering new ways of engaging 
in international trade, partly brought about by developments in 
technology, SMEs are being presented with opportunities to 
develop and widen their international connect, networking and 
business partnership. However, the three (3) greatest 
challenges connected with implementing the vision of 
Industry 4.0 identified as standardization, work organization 
and product availability are to be reviewed critically. 
 
Nevertheless, through increased investments and partnerships, 
African tech communities can transform the continent’s 
economy and impact others far beyond its borders. One thing 
is certain: there is no turning back now. Digital technology 
will spread further, and efforts to ignore it or legislate against 
it will likely fail, therefore, the digital revolution should be 
accepted and improved rather than ignored and repressed. The 
history of earlier general-purpose technologies demonstrates 
that even with short-term dislocation, recognizing the 
economy around revolutionary technologies generates huge 
long-term benefits. This does not negate a role for public 
policies. On the contrary, it is precisely at times of great 
technological change that sensible policies are needed. The 
factories created by the age of steam also ushered in 
regulations on hours of work, juvenile labor, and factory 
conditions.  
Similarly, the gig economy is causing a reconsideration of 
rules, standards and policies. To minimize disruptions and 
maximize benefits, we should adapt policies on digital data 
and international taxation, labor policies and inequality, and 
education and competition to emerging realities. With good 
policies and willingness to corporate across borders, we can 
and should harness these exciting technologies to improve 
well-being without diminishing the energy and enthusiasm of 
the digital age, therefore attaining the United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals (Global Goals) 2030. 
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INVITATION!    INVITATION!!          
INVITATION!!! 

The International Festival of Technology and 
Communication (IFTC) - Brazil is a great 
business fair, idealized by the Union 
Communication System, with today’s agenda 
holding in Brazil on 24 & 25 May 2019. The 
event promise to gather investors and expose the 
most innovative in both segments. 

For technology and communication 
aficionados, businessmen and even the 
general public who have an interest in the 
area, it will be a great option to see together in 
one place, cutting-edge technology and modern 
communication. The festival will attract a crowd 
of onlookers who wants to be inside the most 
modern and innovative in these two worlds that 
go hand in hand. 

For more details, contact: 

ALMIR MACENA 
Executive Director 
International Festival of Technology and 
Communication, Brazil. 
Email: 
sistemauniaocomunicacao@gmail.com 
Phone: (+55) 8198620-0383 

ORSHI TERHEMBA EPHRAIM AAT, ACILRN, 
ACA 
International Festival of Technology and 
Communication, Brazil 
E-mail: godphraim12@yahoo.com 
Phone: +2348063569341 
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